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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

Commission File Number 0-25346

ACI WORLDWIDE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 47-0772104
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

3520 Kraft Rd, Suite 300C

Naples, FL 34105 (239) 403-4600
(Address of principal executive offices, includingip code) (Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) ¢fie Act: Common Stock, $.005 par value, NASDAQ Glddl Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢fie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405cdb#turities Act.  Yed No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Seati® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&ebsite, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRite 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedigrbnths (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post §ilet). Yes No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgeléfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 1l of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reportirmpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Act. (Check
one):

Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file [ Smaller reporting compar [



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of the Company’s vatorgmon stock held by non-affiliates on June 30,32(@lie last business day of the
registrant’s most recently completed second figoalrter), based upon the last sale price of thensmmstock on that date of $46.48 was
$1,814,567,952. For purposes of this calculatiaecetive officers, directors and holders of 10%mare of the outstanding shares of the
registrant’s common stock are deemed to be a#8iaff the registrant and are excluded from theugation.

As of February 24, 2014, there were 38,451,657eshaf the registrant's common stock outstanding.
Documents Incorporated by Reference- Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy t8taent for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be

held on June 18, 2014, are incorporated by referanPart Ill of this report. This registrant’'s RyaStatement will be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statementsellasn current expectations that involve a numbeisks and uncertainties. Generally,
forward-looking statements do not relate striotiyhtstorical or current facts and may include wavdphrases such as “believes,” “will,”
“expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” and words gplsrases of similar impact. The forward-looking etaents are made pursuant to safe harbor
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Bef Act of 1995, as amended.

Forward-looking statements in this report incluolat, are not limited to, statements regarding fuaperations, business strategy, business
environment, key trends, and, in each case, statsmelated to expected financial and other bendflany of these factors will be importan:
determining our actual future results. Any or dlttee forward-looking statements in this report niayn out to be incorrect. They may be base
on inaccurate assumptions or may not account fowknor unknown risks and uncertainties. Consequend forward-looking statement can
be guaranteed. Actual future results may vary nehgfrom those expressed or implied in any fordrdmoking statements, and our business,
financial condition and results of operations cdegdmaterially and adversely affected. In additiva,disclaim any obligation to update any
forward-looking statements after the date of thjzort, except as required by law.

All of the forward-looking statements in this repare expressly qualified by the risk factors d&sad in our filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such factors incluzlé,are not limited to, risks related to:

e increased competitiol

» the performance of our strategic product, BAS-eps;

* demand for our product

» restrictions and other financial covenants in aedi facility;

e consolidations and failures in the financial seegicndustry

» customer reluctance to switch to a new ven

* our strategy to migrate customers to our next geiter products

» the accuracy of managem’s backlog estimate

» failure to obtain renewals of customer contract®arbtain such renewals on favorable ter
» delay or cancellation of customer projects or inaate project completion estimat

» global economic conditions impact on demand forgroducts and service

» volatility and disruption of the capital and creufiarkets and adverse changes in the global ecor
» difficulty meeting our debt service requiremet

e impairment of our goodwill or intangible asse

» risks from potential future litigatior

» future acquisitions, strategic partnerships anéstwents and litigatiol

» risk of difficulties integrating Online Resoasc Corporation (“ORCC") and Official Payments Halg, Inc. (‘“OPAY”) which may
cause us to fail to realize anticipated benefithefacquisitions

» the complexity of our products and services anditiiethat they may contain hidden defe:

» risks of failing to comply with money transmitterdes and regulation:

« compliance of our products with applicable legislat governmental regulations and industry stansj:
e our compliance with privacy regulatior

» risks of being subject to security breaches orsés;

» the protection of our intellectual property in iifeetual property litigation

« certain payment funding methods expose us to #sitcand/or operating risk of our clien

» the cyclical nature of our revenue and earnangs the accuracy of forecasts due to the condantraf revenue generating activity
during the final weeks of each quart

e business interruptions or failure of our informattechnology and communication syste
» our offshore software development activiti

» risks from operating internationall



» exposure to unknown tax liabilities; a
» volatility in our stock price
The cautionary statements in this report expressalify all of our forward-looking statements. Farstthat could cause actual results to differ

from those expressed or implied in the forward-ingkstatements include, but are not limited tosthdiscussed in Item 1A in the section
entitled “Risk Factors”.
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Trademarks and Service Marks

ACI, the ACI logo, ACI Worldwide, BASE24-eps, BASE20peN/2, among others, are registered tradenaartor registered service marks
of ACI Worldwide, Inc., or one of its subsidiariés,the United States and/or other countries. A@lrRent Systems, ACI Payment Systems
logo, ACI Payment Systems — Trusted Globally, Agileyment Solution, ACI Enterprise Banker, ACI GloBanker, ACI Retail Commerce
Server, AS/X, ACI Issuer, ACI Acquirer, ACI Interghge, ACI Token Manager, ACI Payments Manager, 8&id Management System, ACI
Smart Chip Manager, ACI Dispute Management Sysf&@i,Simulation Services for Enterprise Testing @2ET, ACI Money Transfer
System, NET24, ACI Proactive Risk Manager, PRM, Aake Manager System, ACI Communication Servic€$,Eaterprise Security
Services, ACI Web Access Services, ACI Monitorimgl &anagement and ACI DataWise, ACI Universal Paym®latform, UPP, ACI
Universal Online Banker, ACI Mobile Channel Managerong others, have pending registrations or aremoaniaw trademarks and/or serv
marks of ACI Worldwide, Inc., or one of its subsides, in the United States and/or other count@éker parties’ marks referred to in this
report are the property of their respective owners.

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

ACI Worldwide, Inc. (“ACI", “ACI Worldwide”, the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) is a Delaware corpation incorporated in November
1993 under the name ACI Holding, Inc. AClI is lagggie successor to Applied Communications, Inc. Applied Communications Inc.
Limited, which we acquired from Tandem Computehporated on December 31, 1993. On July 24, 2B@7Company changed our
corporate name from “Transaction Systems Architdnts” to “ACI Worldwide, Inc.”"We have been marketing our products and servicdsr
the ACI Worldwide brand since 1993 and have gasigdificant market recognition under this brand ram

The Company develops, markets, installs and suppdstoad line of software products and servicesaily focused on facilitating electronic
payments. In addition to our own products, we itigte or act as a sales agent for software devalbgehird parties. These products and
services are used principally by financial instaos, retailers, billers and electronic paymentpssors, both in domestic and international
markets. Most of our products are sold and supddheugh distribution networks covering three gephic regions — the Americas,
Europe/Middle East/Africa (‘EMEA") and Asia/PacifiEach distribution network has its own sales fdaha it supplements with independent
reseller and/or distributor networks.

The electronic payments market is comprised ofniife institutions, retailers, billers, third-pamjectronic payment processors, payment
associations, switch interchanges and a wide rahggansaction-generating endpoints, including engted teller machines (*“ATM”), retalil
merchant locations, bank branches, mobile phomeppcations and Internet commerce sites. The atittagion, authorization, switching,
settlement and reconciliation of electronic payreésia complex activity due to the large numbedboations and variety of sources from wt
transactions can be generated, the large numlpart€ipants in the market, high transaction volangeographically dispersed networks,
differing types of authorization, and varied repagtrequirements. These activities are typicallsfgrened online and are often conducted 24
hours a day, seven days a week.

ACI combines a global perspective with local preseto tailor electronic payment solutions for oustomers. The Company believes that it
has one of the most diverse and robust productgtios in the bill payments industry with applicati software spanning the entire payments
value chain. The Company also believes that itmgtfinancial performance has been attributablestability to design and deliver quality
products coupled with its ability to identify andcsessfully consummate and integrate strategicisitigns.

Recent Acquisitions
Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions
Official Payments Holdings, Inc.

On November 5, 2013, we completed the tender &feDfficial Payments Holdings, Inc. (“‘OPAYgnd all its subsidiaries. OPAY is a lead
provider of electronic bill payment solutions ireth.S., serving federal, state and local governsyentinicipal utilities, higher education
institutions and charitable giving organization®AY will further extend ACI’s leadership in the fagrowing Electronic Bill Presentment and
Payment (“EBPP”) space, expanding our portfoliaasrkey sectors.

3
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Online Resources Corporation

On March 11, 2013, we completed the tender offefioline Resources Corporation (“ORCC”) and alkittbsidiaries. ORCC is a leading
provider of online banking and full service billypsolutions. ORCC added EBPP solutions as a steapagt of ACI's Universal Payments
portfolio. ORCC also strengthens our online bankiagabilities with complementary technology, andasnds our leadership in serving
community banking and credit union customers.

Profesionales en Transacciones Electronicas

We acquired 100% of Profesionales en Transaccileztronicas S.A. — Venezuela (“PTESA-V”), 100%Rwbfesionales en Transacciones
Electronicas S.A. — Ecuador (“PTESA-E"), and thel A€lated assets of Profesionales en Transaccigleesronicas S.A. — Colombia
(“PTESA-C"), collectively “PTESA”, on March 1, 201®TESA had been a long-term partner of the Compsatying customers in South
America in sales, service and support functiong ddidition of the PTESA team to ACI reinforces commitment to serve the Latin Americ
market.

Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions
Distra Pty Ltd

On September 18, 2012, we closed the acquisitiddisifa Pty Ltd (“Distra”). The Distra Universal y#aents Platform delivers a fault-tolerant,
Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA)-based paymplagorm that helps to significantly reduce thér@gd cost of payments transformation
without compromising security, performance, scditgband reliability. The integration of ACI and &tra technologies enables financial
institutions, processors and retailers to enhamedléxibility and performance of their existingypaents infrastructure to address market need
such as mobile, social channels and payment sehuios. In addition, this acquisition enables AQl&yment products to integrate more tightly
with customers’ enterprise architectures, redutliregr total cost of ownership.

North Data Uruguay S./

On May 24, 2012, we closed the acquisition of N@t#ta Uruguay S.A. (“North Data”). North Data hagkh a long-term partner of ours,
serving customers in South America in sales, serai@ support functions. The addition of the N&t#ta team to the Company reinforces our
commitment to serve the Latin American market.

S| Corporation

On February 10, 2012, we acquired S1 Corporati8i'{‘and all its subsidiaries. The acquisition &ff8rther increased ACI's international
capacity and further positioned the Company adlaséuvice global leader of financial and paymeuitiions, with the ability to deliver a
broader suite of payment offerings globally tanggtiinancial organizations, processors and reilessupported by a global team of expert,
local employees. S1 brought to the Company a higbigplementary set of products, strong global céiiab and success with a range of
financial institutions and retailers.

Products

ACI’s integrated suite of software products andtbdservices deliver a broad range of solutionp&yments processing, card and merchant
management, EBPP, online banking, mobile, brandhvaite banking, fraud detection and trade finaficasted by nearly 2,600 organizations
globally, ACI serves four primary market audiences:

» Financial institutions, including national, regidaad global banks, community banks and credit s
* Processor
* Retailers

» Billers

Our products cover several different domains withim payments and banking marketplace:

* Online Banking and Cash Managemer— the management of payments and cash flows acrossiais globally through the
online or mobile channt

» Branch —the management and processing of monetary-monetary, sales and account origination financzigaction:

4
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» Trade Finance—the management of all trade related transactipagyboth traditional trade and open account ingnis with the
ability for end users to view and track those teations through the online chan

* Community Financial Services— the online and mobile banking and payment systants security solutions that service
community banks and credit unio

* Retail Banking Payments— we provide the software to support in-house isseaf payment instruments (e.g. card, tokens and
virtual cards) and the management of a consumengayfrom transaction acquiring all through thedifcle within the banking
system to settlement; which we split into Payméhrtscessing and Card and Merchant Managel

* Wholesale Banking Payments- the management of primarily corporate paymentisra@ssages through their lifecycle including
real time gross settlemer*RTGS") payments, ACH payments, and SWIFT transact

* Merchant Retail — the management of a consumer payment within ahmat retailer and supporting services such as the
management of store and gift card and loyalty oty

« Payment Fraud Management- the securing of payments against fraud and monediring
« Payment Infrastructure — the tools and infrastructure to operate and opgrttie payments syste

» Billers — Electronic bill presentment and payment enablepthsentment of bills and the collection of payrsdat these bills fror
consumers for billers, including, for example, taxhorities, higher education providers, utilitiaad health care provide

The sections below provide an overview of our mafftware products within these domains.

In September 2009, we announced our ACI Agile Payym8olution, the vision for our payments produttse vision recognizes the long term
direction to migrate payments processing from timeent discrete structures to a set of service<basterprise payments solutions. The first
stage of the strategy was to deliver tight intdgrabetween the current products allowing for teévetry of capability solutions that cross
domains, for instance Online Banking Fraud Detecti'e continue to evolve our solution offeringsiway that organizations can benefit
from the integrated and enterprise capabilitiethefentire ACI product portfolio as we provide tharket with a comprehensive set of paymer
solutions covering a wide range of needs. As wgnass on this journey we have made significantstiaents to accelerate the delivery for
customers through both internal development andisitipn. Notably in 2012, ACI acquired S1 and Bastboth of which expanded the brea
and scale of ACI’s offerings, as well as accelaetdhe delivery of our technology vision to the n&tfkace. The EBPP related acquisitions in
2013 further added to our payments products pootioid added assets that both allow us to providalar set of payments solutions to new
market segments and complement our existing solsitiour strategy allows ACI to deliver an end-takeayment system that supports any
payment type, device or channel globally. During2¢this comprehensive view of our payments capags|itechnologies and solutions has
been rebranded as Universal Payments which sugersiee use of the ACI Agile Payments Solution taoftgy. Universal Payments, or “UP”
now describes the breadth and depth of ACI's prodtferings. UP defines ACI’s true enterprise onittersal” payments capabilities targeting
any channel, any network, and any payment type. W&kolutions empower customers to regain conttajce and flexibility in today’s
complex payment environment, get to market moreldyiand reduce operational costs.

Online Banking and Cash Management, Branch and Tmadinance
Within the Online Banking and Cash Management, Baga Trade domain, ACI has the following products:

ACI Enterprise Banker is a comprehensive Internet-based business bapkdaayct for financial institutions including bankspkerage
firms and credit unions and can be flexibly packhfye small, medium and large business customéris. droduct provides these customers
with electronic payment initiation capability, imfoation reporting, and numerous other paymentedlaervices that allow the business
customer to manage all its banking needs via ttegriet. In 2010, the functionality was extendethtdude mobile banking services solutions.
With our partner mShift, we support tablets suckhasiPad.

ACI Global Banker provides single-window access to corporate castagement, trade finance, FX services, reportingcatd
exchange. Global Banker supports single-windowgl8i®ign-On access to a bank’s corporate Interaekibg platform. This enterprise-wide,
multi-country, multi-language, multiurrency solution allows banks of all sizes to wieily package products and services for differenntrées
and segments — or even individual customers — fasimgle, flexible platform.
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ACI Universal Online Banker is a comprehensive Internet-based banking produdirfancial institutions including banks, brokeeag
firms and credit unions and can be flexibly packhfye small, medium and large business customevgeiss individual consumers. This
product provides these customers with electronjergant initiation capability, information reportingnd numerous other cash management
services that allow the business customer to maakgs banking needs via the Internet as welihabile channels.

InterACT Universal Banker is a multi-channel product suite which supportsptaessing of monetary, non-monetary, sales and
account origination transactions across multipkenciels including branch, call center and back effas well as delivering extended branch
support for browser based employees such as neshiie managers or calling officers.

ACI Global Trade Manager allows client access that enables corporate cligfttse bank to access, enter and track theireetitide
portfolio of traditional trade and open accountinsient over the Internet. This product is alsézetd in the wholesale domain.

ACI Mobile Channel Manager allows organizations to provide consumers, busiaessscorporate customers with mobile access to
functions across the banking and payments speciimen used with ACI banking products and paymegtress, Mobile Channel Manager
enables mobile functions that might include accanahagement, balance inquiries, transfers, billpyts, person-to-person (P2P) payments
(including PayPal), pre-paid purchases, remote siepapture, ATM/branch locator, and SMS notifioas.

Community Financial Services
Within the Community Financial Services domain, AQtrently offers three main suites of hosted sohst

Online and Mobile Banking solutions for Community Banks and Credit Unionsoffers a full-featured self-service banking solatio
including online banking, voice banking and mottui;king for consumer and small-to-mid-size busiegsall from a single hosted platform.
The Web Federal suite provides credit unions witline banking, business solutions, mobile bank@®gM Marketing, and Creative and Web
Design services.

ACI Defenseis a full-service security solution for communitgirtks and credit unions. The ACI Defense suite bftems helps U.S.
financial institutions address security complianbéigations with firewall and intrusion preventisarvices, security assessments, vulnerabilit
testing, endpoint and mobile protection, email s&cand encryption and identity theft/anti-phishiservices.

Online Bill Payment and Presentmenprovides full-service bill payment solutions fomemunity banks and credit unions, including
pay-anyone functionality, online bill presentmd?2P and A2A payments and express pay services.

Retail Banking Payment— Payments Processing

Our retail payments processing products are degditmacquire electronic payment transactions fr@ndaction generators and route them to
acquiring institutions so that they can be authestifor payment. The software often interfaces watfional or national switches to access the
account-holding financial institution or card issfmr approval or denial of the transactions (atitadion). The software returns messages to
the original transaction generator (e.g. an ATM&reby completing the transactions. Depending anthe software is configured, it can
perform all of the functions necessary to authamgicauthorize, route and settle an electronic payitnansaction, or it can interact with other
systems to ensure that these functions are pertbrAeyments processing software may be requirgderact with dozens of devices, switch
interchanges and communication protocols arounaviiréd. We currently offer the following productsrfthis domain:

BASE?24-epds an integrated electronic payments processinduymtomarketed to customers operating electronicgay networks in the
retail banking and retail industries. The modutgren architecture of the product enables custotoesslect the application and system
components that are required to operate their nkBv@8 ASE24-eps offers a broad range of featurdsfamctions for electronic payment
processing. BASE24-eps is licensed as a standalentronic payments solution for financial insiibuis, retailers and electronic payment
processors. BASE24-eps, which operates on IntematBusiness Machines’ (“IBM”) System z, IBM Sysi@, Hewlett-Packard Company
(“HP™) NonStop, and Oracle Solaris servers, prositlexible integration points to other applicatiaral data within enterprises to support 24-
hour per day access to money, services and infaymat
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The 2013 release of BASE24-eps 2.0 added a nunfilvery significant features, including the abilityroute payments to non-card identifiers
such as account numbers, email addresses or plhantgens. This enables BASE24s customers to more easily support P2P paynmantsije
payments, etc. The inclusion of our second germeratftware development kit (SDK), enhances sugdpoiervices orientation and additional
development and configuration tools and greatlya@eks the flexibility of the product, its ability support new business opportunities and the
ease with which it can be implemented.

On the HP NonStop platform, BASE24-eps uses NETPMKT, an ACI developed message oriented middles@itgion.

Postilion is an integrated electronic payments processingsygprimarily deployed on Microsoft Windows servdt authenticates,
authorizes, routes and switches transactions gexaeaa ATMs and merchant point-of-sale (“POS”) siis well as provides flexible
infrastructure to handle key aspects of the bafikeofunctions. The product is used widely by fingh institutions across the world, with a
particular emphasis on financial institutions inadier emerging markets. This product is also ugetié merchant retail domain.

UP Hub is a payment services hub that enables financititiions to connect a number of disparate paymgolutions into a single
overarching payments environment. It provides thiétyato orchestrate payment services across tierprise, easily integrate disparate
systems and to have a single view of transactioa. ddne UP Hub is also used in the Wholesale BanRizyments domain.

ACI continues to support and maintain a numbertbéoretail payments engines which are no longevelg marketed to new customers.

BASEZ24is an integrated family of software products presly marketed to customers operating electronier@at networks in the ret:
banking and retail industries. A substantial partidd ACI's revenues are derived from licensing BRSE24 family of products and providing
related services and maintenance as it has be@otb®f the ACI business since the Company’s iticep

The BASE24 product line operates exclusively onNtfaStop servers. The HP NonStop parallel-processivironment offers fault-tolerance,
linear expandability and distributed processingatsljies. The combination of features offered b{SE24 and the HP NonStop technology
are important characteristics in high volume, 2dwhmer day electronic payment systems.

BASE24 makes use of NET24-XPNET, an ACI developedsage oriented middleware solution.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, approximately 28%, 32% and 43%, respectialpur total revenues were derived
from licensing the BASE24 product line, which remeramounts do not include revenue associated iwéhding the BASE24-eps product.

Retail Banking Payment— Card and Merchant Management

ACI Card and Merchant Management solutions are isaidng and merchant management products, whicé lb@en successfully used by the
payments industry for many years. These product®rulBM System z, and various Unix and Microsofindbws servers. The products witl
back office services are:

ACI Issuer is a modern card and account management systéias lheen developed to support national, internaltiamd global
financial institutions. The system has full multireency, multi-product, multi-institution and muléinguage capabilities. It manages card
portfolios in different countries and for differ@ssuers on a single platform and has been buililtp comply with EMV standards.

ACI Acquirer supports the full lifecycle of merchant portfolimmagement, including merchant onboarding, trar@acttquisition,
interchange fee qualification, settlement and statg generation. The system is enabled with theébfley acquirers require to manage
complex merchant portfolios.

ACI Interchange is the central monetary transaction manager, psingsll incoming customer transactions and maiirgia central
transactions database. ACI Interchange also manthgedearing and settlement communication withrttagor international payment schemes,
ensuring compliance with Visa, MasterCard, AmeriEapress, China Union Pay and JCB. The module asityebe adapted to manage
clearing and settlement with additional networkshsas domestic payment schemes.
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ACI Token Manager consists of a suite of products from ACI's partBeil Identification B.V. The Smart Card & Applicati
Management System provides for central lifecyclaaggment of smart cards and other tokens as wiieawanagement of the applications
activated within the scheme. The Key ManagementeBy$acilitates the implementation of security cgpis based on the generation, storage
recovery, import and distribution of cryptograpkeys. The keys are used for encryption and deawpif data and for verification and
authorization of trusted parties using digital ifiedtes. Token Manager is also used to support Eddkd issuing. ACI Token Manager for
Mobile enables the delivery of payment tokens, sagkallets, to mobile phones.

ACI Payments Manageris an integrated, modular software solution thab@uates the processing, settlement and reconoiliat
electronic transactions, as well as provides gastid issuance and account management. This grisduaw primarily marketed in North
America.

ACI Automated Dispute Managerenables issuers, acquirers, processors and paymewirks to streamline and automate the dispute
management process through workflow-based softa@rgonents.

Wholesale Banking Payments

Our wholesale banking solutions are focused onal)@uper-regional and regional financial institas that provide treasury management
services to large corporations and corresponderkshadn addition, the market includes non-bankrfiial institutions with the need to conduct
their own internal treasury management activities.

ACI Money Transfer Systemprovides high value payments processing, bulk paysngrocessing and SWIFT financial messaging. The
high value payments processing function, which poed the majority of revenues for the ACI MoneyriBfar System, is used to generate,
authorize, enrich, route and settle high value wimasfer transactions and ACH transactions in dwimeand international environments. The
ACI Money Transfer System product operates on IBMt&m p servers using the AlX operating system.

UP Hub is a payment services hub that enables financititiions to connect a number of disparate payssolutions into a single
overarching payments environment. It provides thiétyato orchestrate payment services across tierprise, easily integrate disparate
systems and to have a single view of transactita. dtais often targeted to be used in conjunctigthn ACI Money Transfer System where the
UP Hub provides the orchestration capability and Money Transfer System a comprehensive set of paysrfulfillment services. The UP
Hub is also used in the Retail Banking Paymentsaiom

Merchant Retalil
Within the Merchant Retail domain, ACI offers tlaléwing products:

ACI Retail Commerce Servera solution for retailers, is an integrated suitelettronic payments products that facilitate aadroange ¢
capabilities. These capabilities include prepaahitand credit card processing, ACH processirgitadnic benefits transfer, card issuance an
management, check authorization, customer loyatignams and returned check collection. The Retaih@erce Server product line operates
on open systems technologies such as Microsoft BisdUNIX and Linux, with most of the current inkisions deployed on the Microsoft
Windows platform. In 2011, ACI acquired ISD and r#tegrated the acquired functionality into Re@idmmerce Server including delivering
capability for solving the PCI compliance needsetéilers.

Postilion a global platform for retailers, is an integrateitesof electronic payments products that fac#itatbroad range of capabilities.
These capabilities include prepaid, debit and teatid processing, ACH processing, electronic beneénsfer, card issuance and
management, check authorization, customer loyatignams and returned check collection. The Postgimduct line operates on multiple
open systems technologies such as Microsoft WindowisAlX.

ACI In-store Solution supports retailers and drives the retailer’'s paytrpertion of the customer’s in-store purchase egpee. The In-
store solution prompts the consumer and gathemsebessary card payment details to process theqrayquest. Importantly, the solution
helps retailers control the costs and risk of legutatory issues such as PCl compliance and detiaaththe point of sale.
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Payment Fraud Managemer

ACI Proactive Risk Managementis a payment fraud detection system designed fdeet issuers, merchants, merchant acquirers an
financial institutions combat fraud schemes. Theteay combines the pattern recognition capabilityenfral-network transaction scoring with
custom risk models of expert rules-based strateggidsadvanced client/server account managememaseft The real time capability enables
fraud assessment to be part of the authorizatioogss preventing fraud from occurring. ProactivekRilanagement operates on IBM System
z, HP NonStop, Oracle Solaris and Microsoft Wind®esrers.

As a part of the Proactive Risk Management suiteptilize ACI Case Manager. This product offerstomeers the flexibility to automate
activities and processes across the complete tife@f a case related to fraud. Cases are credied fwaud officers checking an alert within
Proactive Risk Manager identify fraud or money @dering. The solution is a basic framework thatmegiprocesses for researching and
resolving cases, including investigation resourtieseframes, escalation paths and alerts. The Mas@ager also acts as a central repositon
case histories and resource activities to providarizations with centralized auditing capabilities

Payments Infrastructure

The Payments Infrastructure products provide sppeteithnology extensions to augment the businas#css provided in the business service
domains described above.

ACI Communication Servicesprovides a range of communication services to enatdssage exchange on multiple platforms in
particular, enabling applications to support legpiytocols, such as SNA and X.25, running over TERétworks. It also supports hybrid
networking environments such as IBM's HPR/IP. Td8$ of products runs on HP NonStop, IBM Systemdz @nix platforms.

ACI Enterprise Security Servicesis a suite of security solutions that secure actesgstems and resources. These products rureon th
HP NonStop platform and are designed to take adgendf HP NonStop fundamentals.

ACI Web Access Servicesllows HP NonStop users to securely expose exisipdications to peer systems as well as PC clemds
web browsers. Web Access Services supports newc{Ent development, standard 6530 and 3270E tetramalation or automated data
stream transformation to give users a range obaptfor integrating NonStop services across therprise.

ACI Payment Testing (ASSET)is a simulation and testing tool that allows comeainvolved in electronic payments to simulate
devices and transactions, and perform applicaéetirtg. ASSET is available for use with BASE24, B#&3-eps, Postilion, and ACI Proactive
Risk Manager.

ACI Payment Service Managemenis a partnership with Integrated Research Limitéut€grated Research”) formed in 2010 to resell
their Prognosis product. This provides intelligpayment service management through in-depth mamit@nd analysis of transactions,
applications, supporting IT infrastructure, and paynts devices. Prognosis is available for use BREE24, BASE24-eps, Postilion, ACI
Proactive Risk Manager, and ACI Money Transfer Syst

ACI Mobile Alerting powered by Spectrum MoneyGuard offers fraud oriseralert options in near real-time with SMS messag
their mobile phones of events affecting their bagkiransactions. When used for fraud alerting,austs have the option of responding via
text (two-way communication) and requesting a blotthe card and a confirmation is sent.

Billers

Within the biller domain, ACI provides the followgrproducts:

Electronic Bill Presentment and Payment (“EBPP”)enables the presentment of bills and the colleaifggayments for these bills from
consumers for billers, including, for example, garhorities, higher education providers, utilitierd health care providers.
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Virtual Collection Agent is an online debt collection tool that gives bitlelenders, collection agencies and debt buyerstmsite for
collecting debt that emulates the intelligence imteractions of a human collection agent.

Partnerships and Industry Participation

We have two major types of third-party partnershtelogy partners, where we work closely with intdugeaders who drive key industry
trends and mandates, and business partners, weezghgr embed technology in ACI products or jgimtiarket solutions that include the
products of other companies.

Technology partners help us add value to our smigtistay abreast of current market conditionsiaagstry developments such as standards.
Technology partner organizations include Diebol@€Ry Wincor-Nixdorf, VISA, MasterCard and S.W.l.FIh.addition ACI has membership
in or participates in the relevant committees atienber of industry associations, such as the lat&mal Organization for Standardization
(“1SO"), Interactive Financial eXchange Forum (“IFXInternational Payments Framework AssociatidiPEA”), UK Cards Association and
the PCI Security Standards Council.

Business partner relationships extend our prodoitfqdio, improve our ability to get our solutiots market and enhance our ability to deliver
market-leading solutions. We share revenues wahkelbusiness partners based on a number of faetatsd to overall value contribution in
the delivery of our joint solution. The agreementith business partners include joint marketing taditional original equipment manufactu
(“OEM") relationships. These agreements generai@ngACI the right to create an integrated solutiwet we distribute or represent on a
worldwide basis and have a term of several years.

We have alliances with our business partners HF, [Ricrosoft and Oracle, whose industry leadingdweaire and software are utilized by
ACI's products. These partnerships allow us to ustdad developments in their technology and tazetiheir expertise in topics like
performance testing.
The following is a list of key business partners:

* Access Softec

* Accuity, Inc.

e Actuate Corp

* Andera, Inc

 BelllD

» Experian

* FairCom Corporatiol

+ Fiserv, Inc.

*  FIS/Metavante

* Guardian Analytic:

e HP

« IBM

* Integrated Researc

* Intuit, Inc.

» iPay Technologies, LLC/Jack Henry & Associg

» JasperSof

* Lean Industrie:

* LivePerson Inc

*  Microsoft

*  mShift, Inc.

* Oracle USA, Inc

e ProfitStars/Jack Henry & Associat

* RSA, The Security Division of EMC Corporatis



Spectrum Message Servic
Sterci Grouf

Symantec Corporatic
Truaxis (MasterCarc
Wausau Financial Syster

Yodlee Inc.
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Services

We offer our customers a wide range of professisgatices, including analysis, design, developnienlementation, integration and trainit
We have service professionals within each of otgdlyeographic regions who generally perform thprita of the work associated with
installing and integrating our software productther than relying on third-party systems integsatiVe offer the following types of services
for our customers:

Implementation ServicesWe utilize a standard methodology to deliver cugipnproject implementations across all productssline
Within the process, we provide customers with aefaiof services, including on-site solution scapmeviews, project planning,
training, site preparation, installation, produahfiguration, product customization, testing anelige support, and project
management throughout the project lifecycle. Immatation services are typically priced accordinthtlevel of technical
expertise requirec

Product support services These product-support-funded services are avaitaldestomers after a solution has been instated a
are based on the relevant product support categorgxtensive team of support analysts and an apgibicustomer manager are
available to assist custome

Technical ServicesThe majority of our technical services are provitiedustomers who have licensed one or more ofofiware
products. Services offered include programming @ogramming support, day-to-day systems operatiwgtsyork operations, help
desk staffing, quality assurance testing, problesolution, system design, and performance plaraiagreview. Technical services
are typically priced according to the level of teidal expertise require

Education Services ACI courses include both theory and practicates to allow students to work though real busines
scenarios and put their newly learned skills ta T$és hands-on approach ensures that the knowlsdgg¢ained and the student is
more productive upon their return to the workpla®€l’s education courses provide students with kieolge at all levels, to
enhance and improve their understanding of ACI petsl ACI also provides further, more in-depth teéchl courses that allow
students to use practical labs to enhance whaththey learned in the classroom. The ACI trainepditg to understand customers’
systems means ACI can also provide tailored camagerials for individual customers. Depending uparducts purchased,
training may be conducted at a dedicated educédility at one of AC's offices, online or at the customer s

Testing services ACI's testing services team works within the AsCistomer base to establish testing best practimbuaild a
standard testing environment that meets an orgémivs current needs, and is easily extensiblgdarre requirements. It is
important that any testing environment encompashespects of the testing lifecycle (i.e., funotiy acceptance, regression and
stress testing), as well as allowing ease of usthdwppropriate staff. AQ’testing services can provide this environmermither ¢
stanc-alone deliverable or as a fully managed sen

Expert Services Consultancy. ACI is committed to providing high-quality consng services to its customer base. In order to do
this, we have assembled a strong team of techmsiewth many decades of experience, not only with #dutions, but also in the
payments industry in general. Trusted globallyséheonsultants are available to provide technigsistance to ACI's customers
across the full range of the ACI portfolio. The satliants’ knowledge and understanding of ACI's cogrs allow them to define,
design and build appropriate technical solutiorfgs T turn provides an enhanced business offédraustomers, ultimately
enabling a greater competitive advantage and inerkaatisfactior

Facilities Management.We offer facilities management services wherebyperate a customer’s electronic payments system fo
multi-year periods. Pricing and payment terms &milities management services vary on a case-bgmasis giving consideration
to the complexity of the facility or system to bamaged, the level and quantity of technical sesvieguired, and other factors
relevant to the facilities management agreen

ACI On Demand

We offer a SaaS hosting service whereby we hosstmer’s system for them as opposed to the custieeasing and installing the system
on their own site. We offer several of our solutiam this manner, including our retail and wholesadyment engines, risk management, biller
and online banking products. Each customer getscqua image of the system that can be tailoreddsetrtheir needs. The product is generally
located on facilities and hardware that we provieiécing and payment terms depend on which solstibha customer requires and their
transaction volumes. Generally, customers are requo commit to a minimum contract of three tcefitears.
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Customer Support

We provide our customers with product support thatvailable 24 hours a day, seven days a weegqifested by a customer, the product
support group can remotely access that customgsterss on a real-time basis. This allows the produpport group to help diagnose and
correct problems to enhance the continuous avétiabf a customer’s business-critical systems. dffer our customers both a general
maintenance plan and an extended service option.

» General Maintenance After software installation and project completiare provide maintenance services to customers for a
monthly product support fee. Maintenance servinehkide:

. 24-hour hotline for problem resolutic

. Customer account management sup
. Vendorrequiredmandates and updat

. Product documentatic

. Hardware operating system compatibi
. User group membersh

* Enhanced Support Program.Under the extended service option, referred ttha€nhanced Support Program, each customer is
assigned an experienced technician to work withyistem. The technician typically performs functicuch as

. Install and test software fixt
. Retrofit custom software modification*CSM¢") into new software releas
. Answer questions and resolve problems related td €&le
. Maintain a detailed CSM histo
. Monitor customer problems on HELP24 hotline datel@sa priority basi
. Supply ol-site support, available upon deme
. Perform an annual system revi
We provide new releases of our products on a peerlwasis. New releases of our products, which oftartain product enhancements, are

typically provided at no additional fee for custasyander maintenance agreements. Agreements wittustomers permit us to charge for
substantial product enhancements that are notged\as part of the maintenance agreement.

Competition

The electronic payments market is highly competiwnd subject to rapid change. Competitive facffexcting the market for our products and
services include product features, price, availghilf customer support, ease of implementationdpct and company reputation, and a
commitment to continued investment in researchdealopment.

Our competitors vary by product line, geography araaket segment. Generally, our most significametition comes from in-house
information technology departments of existing aotential customers, as well as third-party elegtrpayments processors (some of whom
are our customers). Many of these companies andisntly larger than us and have significantheater financial, technical and marketing
resources. Key competitors by product domain ireline following:

Online Banking and Cash Management, Branch, Tradénance and Community Financial Services

Principal competitors for the Online Banking andsE&Management and Branch product set are Cleaf@@&A (“Clear2Pay”), Digital
Insight, Bottomline Technologies, ARGO, Fidelity titeal Information Services, Inc. and Fundtech laslwell as payment processing
companies First Data Corporation, Fidelity Natiomdibrmation Services, Inc, and Fiserv, Inc. Priaticompetitors for the Trade product set
include China Systems, CSl, Misys and CGl.
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Retail Banking Payment:

The third-party software competitors for the pragua the retail banking payments are Clear2Paynider Sciences Corporation, Fidelity
National Information Services, Inc., Pegasystenes l@penWay Group, and Total System Services,(“TSYS"), as well as small, regionally-
focused companies such as Alaric Technology IneC Banking Technologies, PayEx Solutions AS, Firar#oftware and Systems, CR2,
Lusis Payments Ltd., and Opus Software Solutionsir Limited. Primary electronic payment procegsitompetitors in this area include
global entities such as Atos Origin S.A., Fidehtgtional Information Services, Inc., First Data gamation, SINSYS, TSYS, VISA and
MasterCard, as well as regional or country-spegifecessors.

Wholesale Banking Payments

In the wholesale banking payments the principal petitors are Bankserv, Clear2Pay, Dovetail SoftwBmmdtech Ltd, IBM, Logica Plc and
Tieto Corporation.

Merchant Retail

Competitors in the retail sector come from bothdlipiarty software and service providers as wefleasice organizations run by major banks.
Third party software and service competitors inelédB Software Design, Inc., Retalix, HeartlandiRagt Systems, Inc., Servebase
Computers Ltd, Tender Retail Inc., and VeriFonet&ys, Inc. Primary competition in this space igéathird-party processors that offer
complete solutions to the retailer.

Payments Fraud Managemet

Principal competitors for the payments fraud dédecproducts are Actimize, Inc., Fair Isaac Corgiora BAE Systems Detica, ReD, Fidelity
National Information Services, Inc., Fiserv, Ifdemento Inc., Norkom Technologies, and SAS Ingditlnic., as well as dozens of sma
companies focused on niches of this segment suahtamoney laundering.

Payments Infrastructure

The principal competitors for the tools and infrasture products are CA Technologies, HP, IBM amda® USA, Inc., as well as dozens of
small, niche-focused competitors.

As markets continue to evolve in the electronicrpagts, risk management and smartcard sectors, wentaunter new competitors for our
products and services. As electronic payment tdimsavolumes increase and banks face price cotigrgtthirdparty processors may beco
stronger competition in our efforts to market oolusions to smaller financial institutions. In tteeger financial institution market, we believe
that third-party processors may be less competsiivee large institutions attempt to differentititeir electronic payment product offerings
from their competition, and are more likely to deyeor continue to support their own internally-dped solutions or use thigghrty softwar
packages such as those we offer.

Bill Payment

The principal competitors for bill payment are Fisdnc., Fidelity National Information Servicesicl, Jack Henry, Western Union, TouchNet,
Kubra, WorldPay, Forte, Point & Pay, NelNet, Higl@ame, Paymentus, Aliaswire and InvoiceCloud as agkbmaller vertical specific
providers.

Research and Development

Our product development efforts focus on new prégland improved versions of existing products. AGdlitate user group meetings to hely
determine our product strategy, development pladsagpects of customer support. The user groupgeserally organized geographically or
by product lines. We believe that the timely depetent of new applications and enhancements is ggsEnmaintain our competitive positit
in the market.
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In developing new products, we work closely withr oustomers and industry leaders to determine reopgints. We work with device
manufacturers, such as Diebold, NCR and Wincor-biikdo ensure compatibility with the latest ATMchology. We work with network
vendors, such as MasterCard, VISA and S.W.I.F.Engure compliance with new regulations or proogssiandates. We work with computer
hardware and software manufacturers, such as HW®, MBcrosoft Corporation, Oracle and Stratus Tedbgies, Inc. to ensure compatibility
with new operating system releases and generatidmardware. Customers often provide additionadrimfation on requirements and serve as
beta-test partners.

Our total research and development expenses dilmngears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20EL$442.6 million, $133.8 million,
and $90.2 million, or 16.5%, 20.1%, and 19.4% tédltoevenues, respectively.

Customers

We provide software products and services to custsim a range of industries worldwide, with fineanstitutions, retailers and

e-payment processors comprising our largest ingsstyments. As of December 31, 2013, we serveyn2@00 customers, including 21 of the
top 25 banks worldwide, as measured by assetaimk250 of the leading retailers globally, as mesbby revenue. As of December 31, 2013
we had 2,596 customers in 92 countries on six nents. Of this total, 2,054 are in the Americaorigble segment, 370 are in the EMEA
reportable segment and 172 are in the Asia/Paeifiortable segment. No single customer accounteaidoe than 10% of our consolidated
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013,&@42011. No customer accounted for more thandf08ar accounts receivable balance
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Selling and Marketing

Our primary method of distribution is direct salgsemployees assigned to specific regions or spgmbducts. In addition, we use distributors
and sales agents to supplement our direct sales fiorcountries where business practices or custoak® it appropriate, or where it is more
economical to do so. We generate a majority ofsalgs leads through existing relationships withdees, direct marketing programs,
customers and prospects, or through referrals.

Current international distributors, resellers aalds agents for us during the year ended Decenih@03.3 included:
» ASI International (Colombia/Venezuela/Caribbe
» Channel Solutions Inc. (Philippine
» Codix S.A. (Greece,Cyprus, Romania, Bulga
« DataOne Asia Co (Thailan
» Diebold (United States
e EFT Corp. (Su-Saharan Africa
» Fiserv (United State:

» Interswitch Ltd. (Su-Saharan Africa
» JDA Software Group (United State

» Korea Computer Inc (Korei

e Ml (Indonesia)

* PCMS Group (U.K.

* P.T. Abhimata Persada (Indones

e Payment Technologies (Russia/C

e Stream IT Consulting Ltd. (Thailan
e Starmount (United State

» Syscom Computer (Shenzhen) (Chi
» Syscom Computer Engineering (Taiwi
e System Builder (Middle Eas

e Tomax Corp. (United State

» Transaction Payment Solutions (-Saharan Africa

We distribute the products of other vendors whiey tomplement our existing product lines. We gpictlly responsible for the sales



marketing of the vendor’s products, and agreemaiitsthese vendors generally provide for revenwsisly based on relative responsibilities.

In addition to our principal sales offices in OmaNarcross, and Waltham, we also have sales offamgted outside the United States in
Athens, Bahrain, Bangkok, Beijing, Bogota, BrussBisenos Aires, Cape Town, Dubai, Gouda, JohanmgsKuala Lumpur, Madrid, Manila,
Melbourne, Mexico City, Milan, Montevideo, Moscoiumbai, Munich, Naples, Paris, Riyadh, Sao Pauvbmu Shanghai, Singapore,
Sulzbach, Sydney, Tokyo, Toronto, and Watford.
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Proprietary Rights and Licenses

We rely on a combination of trade secret and cgbyiliaws, license agreements, contractual provéséomd confidentiality agreements to
protect our proprietary rights. We distribute oaftware products under software license agreenthatdypically grant customers nonexclu
licenses to use our products. Use of our softwesdyzts is usually restricted to designated compuspecified locations and/or specified
capacity, and is subject to terms and conditioodipiting unauthorized reproduction or transfepaf software products. We also seek to
protect the source code of our software as a sadeet and as a copyrighted work. Despite thesmptiens, there can be no assurance that
misappropriation of our software products and tedtgy will not occur.

In addition to our own products, we distributeaet as a sales agent for, software developed hy plirties. However, we typically are not
involved in the development process used by thHase parties. Our rights to those third-party produand the associated intellectual property
rights are limited by the terms of the contractugileement between us and the respective third-party

Although we believe that our owned and licensedliiettual property rights do not infringe upon geprietary rights of third parties, there «
be no assurance that third parties will not aseérhgement claims against us. Further, therelmno assurance that intellectual property
protection will be available for our products ihfakreign countries.

Like many companies in the electronic commerceahdr hightech industries, third parties have in the pastraag in the future assert clail
or initiate litigation related to patent, copyrigtrtademark or other intellectual property rigltdtisiness processes, technologies and related
standards that are relevant to us and our custoifieese assertions have increased over time auith o the general increase in patent claims
assertions, particularly in the United States. d'lparties may also claim that the third-party’®lietctual property rights are being infringed by
our customers’ use of a business process methathwitiiizes products in conjunction with other puats, which could result in
indemnification claims against us by our customars; claim against us, with or without merit, coddd time-consuming, result in costly
litigation, cause product delivery delays, requiseto enter into royalty or licensing agreementpay amounts in settlement, or require us to
develop alternative non-infringing technology. Wailel also be required to defend or indemnify owstaemers against such claims. A
successful claim by a third-party of intellectueberty infringement by us or one of our custonuensld compel us to enter into costly royalty
or license agreements, pay significant damagesenr stop selling certain products and incur add#iaosts to develop alternative non-
infringing technology.

Segment Information and Foreign Operations

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesrirforeign operations. For detail of revenue by gapQgic region see Note 18egment
Information, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had a total of appratéty 4,329 employees of whom 2,484 were in the daas reportable segment, 923 were
in the EMEA reportable segment and 922 were inAtsia/Pacific reportable segment.

None of our employees are subject to a collectargdining agreement. We believe that relations waithemployees are goc

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reportdorm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and ainments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of3beurities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchangé’)}\etre available free of charge on our
website at www.aciworldwide.coas soon as reasonably practicable after we file Bdormation electronically with the SEC. The infaation
found on our website is not part of this or anyeotteport we file with or furnish to the SEC. Thebfic may read and copy any materials that
we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public RefereRc®m at 100 F Street, Room 1580, NW, Washingtor2D&49. The public may obtain
information on the operation of the Public RefeeRoom by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Th€ 8tintains an Internet site that
contains reports, proxy and information statemeantd, other information regarding issuers thatdlkctronically with the SEC at

WWW.SEeC.JoV.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

As of February 28, 2014, our executive officergjitlages and their positions were as follows.

Name Age Position

Philip G. Heasley 64 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Scott W. Behren 42  Senior Executive Vice President, Chief Financidicaf

Craig A. Maki 47  Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief CatgoDevelopment Office

Dennis P. Byrne 50 Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative ©fi, General Counsel and Secre!
David N. Morem 56 Executive Vice President, Chief Risk Offic

Charles H. Linberg 56  Vice President, Chief Technology Officer (retiredd@mber 31, 201:

Mr. Heasley has been a director and our PresidehChief Executive Officer since March 2005. Mr.dskey has a comprehensive backgroun
in payment systems and financial services. Fronol@st2003 to March 2005, Mr. Heasley served asr@tzai and Chief Executive Officer of
PayPower LLC, an acquisition and consulting firre@plizing in financial services and payment saxsidr. Heasley served as Chairman an
Chief Executive Officer of First USA Bank from Obker 2000 to November 2003. Prior to joining Fir8AJBank, from 1987 until 2000,

Mr. Heasley served in various capacities for U.8x&rp, including Executive Vice President, andsilent and Chief Operating Officer.

Mr. Heasley also serves on the National InfrastmecAdvisory Council.

Mr. Behrens serves as Senior Executive Vice Prasaled Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Behrens join&€I in June 2007 as our Corporate
Controller and was appointed as Chief Accountinfijo®f in October 2007. Mr. Behrens was appointeteOrRinancial Officer in December
2009. Mr. Behrens ceased serving as our Corpomatér@ler in December 2010. Mr. Behrens was apjedits Executive Vice President in
March 2011 and promoted to Senior Executive ViasRent in December of 2013. Prior to joining AMIl, Behrens served as Senior Vice
President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accountrfficer at SITEL Corporation from January 2009tme 2007. He also served as Vice
President of Financial Reporting at SITEL Corpamatirom April 2003 to January 2005. From 1993 t620Mr. Behrens was with Deloitte &
Touche, LLP, including two years as a Senior Alstinager. Mr. Behrens holds a Bachelor of Scienanis) from the University of
Nebrask—Lincoln.

Mr. Maki serves as Executive Vice President, Trearsand Chief Development Officer. Mr. Maki joindte Company in June 2006. Mr. Maki
was appointed Treasurer in January 2008. Priasiting the Company, Mr. Maki served as Senior \Reesident for Stephens, Inc. from 1999
through 2006. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Maki was aeblior in the Corporate Finance group at Arthur Asde and from 1991 to 1994, he w
Senior Consultant at Andersen Consulting. Mr. Mgkiduated from the University of Wyoming and reeélinis Master of Business
Administration from the University of Denver.

Mr. Byrnes serves as Executive Vice President, {Gkdeninistrative Officer, General Counsel and Séamg Mr. Byrnes joined the Company
in June 2003. Prior to that Mr. Byrnes served aatwrney in Bank One Corporatientechnology group from 2002 to 2003. From 199800~
Mr. Byrnes was an executive officer at Sterling @oence, Inc., an electronic commerce software andcg&s company, serving as that
company’s general counsel from 2000. From 1991986IMr. Byrnes was an attorney with Baker Hostetamnational law firm with over 600
attorneys. Mr. Byrnes holds a JD (cum laude) frame Dhio State University College of Law, a MasteBosiness Administration from Xavi
University and a Bachelor of Science in engineefinggna cum laude) from Case Western Reserve Uitiyer

Mr. Morem joined the Company in June 2005 and seageExecutive Vice President and Chief Risk OffiEriring his tenure with the
Company, Mr. Morem has held several Executive Hoesident roles including Chief Administrative ©@&r. Prior to joining ACI, Mr. Morem
held executive positions at GE Home Loans, Bank Oaa Services and U.S. Bank. Mr. Morem brings ntlbam 25 years of experience in
process management, finance, credit operationdit @elicy and change management. Mr. Morem holBsiehelor of Arts degree from the
University of Minnesota and a Master of Businessnxdstration from the University of St. Thomas.

Mr. Linberg served as Vice President and Chief Tiettgy Officer. In this capacity he was responsiblethe architectural direction of ACI
products including the formation of platform, middiare and integration strategies. Mr. Linberg jdittee Company in 1988 and has served ir
various technical management roles including Vigesilent of Payment Systems, Vice President of itecture and Technology, Vice
President of BASE24 Development and Vice PresidéMetwork Systems. Prior to joining ACI, Mr. Lintgewas Vice President of Research
and Development at XRT, Inc., where he led the bgweent of XRT's proprietary fault-tolerant LAN/WAKommunications middleware,
relational database and 4GL products. Mr. Linberigl$ra Bachelor of Science in Business Adminigirafrom the University of Delaware.

Mr. Linberg retired from the Company on DecemberZ113.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Factors That May Affect Our Future Results or the Market Price of Our Common Stock

We operate in a rapidly changing technological emmhomic environment that presents numerous d&ay of these risks are beyond our
control and are driven by factors that often carmeopredicted. The following discussion highligbtene of these risks.

The markets in which we compete are rapidly changig and highly competitive, and we may not be able toompete effectively.

The markets in which we compete are characteriga@djid change, evolving technologies and industaydards and intense competition.
There is no assurance that we will be able to raairdgur current market share or customer base.as&ihtense competition in our businesses
and we expect competition to remain intense irfubge. We have many competitors that are signifigdarger than us and have significantly
greater financial, technical and marketing resasirbave well-established relationships with ourentror potential customers, advertise
aggressively or beat us to the market with new petsland services. In addition, we expect thatrhekets in which we compete will continue
to attract new competitors and new technologieselised competition in our markets could lead imemeductions, reduced profits, or loss of
market share. The current global economic conditamuld also result in increased price competifiwrour products and services.

To compete successfully, we need to maintain aessfal research and development effort. If wetéagnhance our current products and
develop new products in response to changes imédafpy and industry standards, bring product enbaments or new product development
market quickly enough, or accurately predict futcihanges in our customers’ needs and our competitrelop new technologies or products,
our products could become less competitive or @beol

One of our most strategic products, BASE24-eps, ctilprove to be unsuccessful in the market.

Our BASE24-eps product is strategic for us, in that designated to help us win hew accounts aaplegacy payments systems on multiple
hardware platforms and help us transition our exdstustomers to a new, open-systems product aathite. Our business, financial condition,
cash flows and/or results of operations could bteraly adversely affected if we are unable togyate adequate sales of BASE#bs or if wi
are unable to successfully deploy BASE24-eps inlgpction environments.

Our future profitability depends on demand for our products; lower demand in the future could adverssi affect our business.

Our revenue and profitability depend on the ovatathand for our products and services. Historicallgnajority of our total revenues resulted
from licensing our BASE24 product line and proviglirelated services and maintenance. Any reductiaemand for, or increase in
competition with respect to, the BASE24 product laould have a material adverse effect on our @igducondition, cash flows and/or results
of operations.

We have historically derived a substantial portidour revenues from licensing of software prodilctt operate on HP NonStop servers. Any
reduction in demand for HP NonStop servers, oradrange in strategy by HP related to support dfldaStop servers, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, caswfiand/or results of operations.

Our current credit facility contains restrictions and other financial covenants that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

Our credit facility contains customary affirmatisad negative covenants for credit facilities ofttyipe that limit our ability to engage in
specified types of transactions. These covenanis diur ability, and the ability of our subsidiagjdo, among other things: pay dividends on,
repurchase or make distributions in respect ofcapital stock or make other restricted payment&kent@rtain investments; sell certain assets;
create liens; incur additional indebtedness oreigsrtain preferred shares; consolidate, mergegrsetherwise dispose of all or substantially

of our assets; and enter into certain transactiotisour affiliates. Our credit facility also regas us to meet certain quarterly financial tests,
including a maximum leverage ratio and a minimuteri@st coverage ratio. Our credit facility includestomary events of default, including,
but not limited to, failure to pay principal or @mest, breach of covenants or representations an@émties, cross-default to other indebtedness
judgment default and insolvency. If an event ofaddifoccurs under the credit facility, the lendeit be entitled to take various actior
including, but not limited to, demanding paymentdt amounts outstanding. If adverse global ecanamonditions persist or worsen, we co
experience decreased revenues from our operatititmitable to reduced demand for our productssardices and as a result, we could fail to
satisfy the financial and other restrictive coveran which we are subject under our existing driediility, resulting in an event of default. If
we are unable to cure the default or obtain a waive will not be able to access our credit fagiéihd there can be no assurance that we wou
be able to obtain alternative financing.
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Consolidations and failures in the financial servies industry may adversely impact the number of custners and our revenues in the
future.

Mergers, acquisitions and personnel changes afikaycial services organizations have the potetialdversely affect our business, financial
condition, cash flows, and results of operations: Business is concentrated in the financial sesvindustry, making us susceptible to
consolidation in, or contraction of the number aftfipating institutions within that industry. Cawlidation activity among financial
institutions has increased in recent years anduhent financial conditions have resulted in eftgther consolidation and contraction as
financial institutions have failed or have beenuag by or merged with other financial institutiorThere are several potential negative eff
of increased consolidation activity. Continuing solidation and failure of financial institutionsudd cause us to lose existing and potential
customers for our products and services. For iggtaconsolidation of two of our customers couldilteis reduced revenues if the combined
entity were to negotiate greater volume discountdiscontinue use of certain of our products. Aiddilly, if a non-customer and a customer
combine and the combined entity in turn decidefibtego future use of our products, our revenueslavdecline.

Potential customers may be reluctant to switch to aew vendor, which may adversely affect our growthhoth in the U.S. and
internationally.

For banks, financial institutions and other pot@ntustomers of our products, switching from onedgg of core financial services software (or
from an internally-developed legacy system) tow mendor is a significant endeavor. Many potertisgtomers believe switching vendors
involves too many potential disadvantages suctistggtion of business operations, loss of accustbfuectionality, and increased costs
(including conversion and transition costs). Agsult, potential customers may resist change. Wl tgeovercome this resistance through
value enhancing strategies such as a defined csinmémigration process, continued investment inethikanced functionality of our software
and system integration expertise. However, themebeano assurance that our strategies for overappotential customers’ reluctance to
change vendors will be successful, and this registanay adversely affect our growth, both in th8.l&nd internationally.

Our announcement of the maturity of certain legacyretail payment products may result in decreased ctiemer investment in our
products and our strategy to migrate customers tour next generation products may be unsuccessful weth may adversely impact our
business and financial condition, including the tirmg of revenue recognition associated with the legs retail payment products.

Our announcement related to the maturity of ceratiail payment engines may result in customersileas not to purchase or otherwise invest
in these engines, related products and/or servidessnatively, the maturity of these products nmagult in delayed customer purchase
decisions or the renegotiation of contract ternsetdaipon scheduled maturity activities. In additimur strategy related to migrating customer:
to our next generation products may be unsucce$®@duced investments in our products, deferrdetay in purchase commitments by our
customers or our failure to successfully managentigration strategy could have a material advefseieon our business, liquidity and
financial condition.

Furthermore, as a result of the maturity announcgéneertain up-front fees associated with the lggeyment engines, including initial
license, may become subject to ratable revenugniémn over time rather than up front at the tiaieontract. This will result in a delay in the
recognition of these up-front fees. Additionallystomers may negotiate terms associated with thigiration to BASE24eps which may cau:
the recognition of revenue associated with theatnst’s legacy payment engine to be deferred pertimgompletion of the migration.

Management’s backlog estimate may not be accurated may not generate the predicted revenues.

Estimates of future financial results are inheseatireliable. Our backlog estimates require sulbstimdgment and are based on a number of
assumptions, including managemerturrent assessment of customer and third pantyaxs that exist as of the date the estimatemade, g
well as revenues from assumed contract renewalbgetextent that we believe that recognition ofrédated revenue will occur within the
corresponding backlog period. A number of factarsld result in actual revenues being less thamatheunts reflected in backlog. Our
customers or third party partners may attemptnegetiate or terminate their contracts for a nunafeeasons, including mergers, changes in
their financial condition, or general changes ioremmic conditions within their industries or gequ locations, or we may experience del
in the development or delivery of products or segsispecified in customer contracts. Actual reneatals and amounts may differ from
historical experiences used to estimate backloguatsoChanges in foreign currency exchange ratgsafisa impact the amount of revenue
actually recognized in future periods. Accordinghgre can be no assurance that contracts incindegtklog will actually generate the
specified revenues or that the actual revenuedwitienerated within a 12-month or 60-month petattiitionally, because backlog estimates
are operating metrics, the estimates are not redjtir be subject to the same level of internalenewr controls as a generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) financial measure.
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Failure to obtain renewals of customer contracts opbtain such renewals on favorable terms could adveely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.

Failure to achieve favorable renewals of custometracts could negatively impact our business. €@utracts with our customers generally
run for a period of five years. At the end of tlomtract term, customers have the opportunity tegetiate their contracts with us and to
consider whether to engage one of our competitopsdvide products and services. Failure to achiegk renewal rates on commercially
favorable terms could adversely affect our resofitsperations and financial condition.

The delay or cancellation of a customer project oinaccurate project completion estimates may adverseaffect our operating results
and financial performance.

Any unanticipated delays in a customer projectngles in customer requirements or priorities dutirggproject implementation period, or a
customer’s decision to cancel a project, may a@d@heimpact our operating results and financial perfance. In addition, during the project
implementation period, we perform ongoing estimafethe progress being made on complex and diffiordjects and documenting this
progress is subject to potential inaccuracies. Geain project completion estimates are heavilyeddpnt on the accuracy of our initial project
completion estimates and our ability to evaluatggmt profits and losses. Any inaccuracies or chang estimates resulting from changes in
customer requirements, delays or inaccurate imtiajlect completion estimates may result in inceegsroject costs and adversely impact our
operating results and financial performance.

Global economic conditions could reduce the demarfdr our products and services or otherwise adversglimpact our cash flows,
operating results and financial condition.

For the foreseeable future, we expect to derivet wiosur revenue from products and services weidmto the banking and financial services
industries. The global electronic payments induatrgl the banking and financial services industtigzend heavily upon the overall levels of
consumer, business and government spending. Thenc@conomic conditions and the potential foréased or continuing disruptions in th
industries as well as the general software secigidaesult in a decrease in consumers’ use ofibgrdervices and financial service providers
resulting in significant decreases in the demamafw products and services which could adversiégctour business and operating results. A
lessening demand in either the overall economyb#mking and financial services industry or thevgafe sector could also result in the
implementation by banks and related financial seryroviders of cost reduction measures or redoapidal spending resulting in longer sales
cycles, deferral or delay of purchase commitmemt®iir products and increased price competitiorctviobuld lead to a material decrease in
our future revenues and earnings.

The volatility and disruption of the capital and credit markets and adverse changes in the global ecamy may negatively impact our
liquidity and our ability to access financing.

While we intend to finance our operations and gloeftour business with existing cash and cash flom operations, if adverse global
economic conditions persist or worsen, we coulceegpce a decrease in cash from operations atibbrito reduced demand for our products
and services and as a result, we may need to b@uaWtional amounts under our existing credit facibr we may require additional financing
for our continued operation and growth. Howeveg thuthe existing uncertainty in the capital aretidrmarkets and the impact of the current
economic conditions on our operating results, ¢msts and financial conditions, the amount of aablié unused borrowings under our exis
credit facility may be insufficient to meet our deeand/or our access to capital outside of outiegigredit facility may not be available on
terms acceptable to us or at all. Additionallygrie or more of the financial institutions in oundicate were to default on its obligation to fund
its commitment, the portion of the committed fagilprovided by such defaulting financial institutizvould not be available to us. There can b
no assurance that alternative financing on accéptalbms would be available to replace any defduttmmmitments.
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Our existing levels of debt and debt service requéments may adversely affect our financial conditiomr operational flexibility and
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under our outstanding indebtedness.

Our level of debt could have adverse consequemeesif business, financial condition, operatingitissand operational flexibility, including
the following: (i) the debt level may cause us &vé difficulty borrowing money in the future for vking capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other purposes; (ii) our debt lewely limit operational flexibility and our ability pursue business opportunities and impler
certain business strategies; (iii) we use a laggéign of our operating cash flow to pay principald interest on our credit facility, which
reduces the amount of money available to finanegaijons, acquisitions and other business acty;ifig) we have a higher level of debt than
some of our competitors or potential competitorisiclv may cause a competitive disadvantage and edhyce flexibility in responding to
changing business and economic conditions, inctutioreased competition and vulnerability to gehadyverse economic and industry
conditions; (v) our debt has a variable rate afri@st, which exposes us to the risk of increasteddst rates; (vi) there are significant maturities
on our debt that we may not be able to fulfill lbatt may be refinanced at higher rates; and (viidffail to satisfy our obligations under our
outstanding debt or fail to comply with the finaaladr other restrictive covenants required underopedit facility, an event of default could
result that would cause all of our debt to becomnne ahd payable and could permit the lenders ungarecredit facility to foreclose on the assets
securing such debt.

Our balance sheet includes significant amounts ofogdwill and intangible assets. The impairment of aignificant portion of these assets
could negatively affect our financial results.

Our balance sheet includes goodwill and intangiskeets that represent a significant portion oftotal assets at December 31, 2013. On at
an annual basis, we assess whether there havénmeainments in the carrying value of goodwill antbingible assets. If the carrying value of
the asset is determined to be impaired, thenwititsen down to fair value by a charge to operagagnings. An impairment of a significant
portion of goodwill or intangible assets could metky negatively affect our results of operations.

We may become involved in litigation that could matrially adversely affect our business financial cadiition, cash flows and/or results o
operations.

From time to time, we are involved in litigatiodatng to claims arising out of our operations. Adigims, with or without merit, could be
time-consuming and result in costly litigation. [beé to successfully defend against these claimfda®sult in a material adverse effect on oul
business, financial condition, results of operagiand/or cash flows.

If we engage in acquisitions, strategic partnershigor significant investments in new business, we e exposed to risks which could
materially adversely affect our business.

As part of our business strategy, we anticipatewlamay acquire new products and services or emhexisting products and services throug!
acquisitions of other companies, product linesinetogies and personnel, or through investmentsristrategic partnerships with, other
companies. Any acquisition, investment or partnigrshcluding our recently completed acquisitioisOd?AY, PTESA and ORCC, are subject
to a number of risks. Such risks include the diveref management time and resources, disruptimupbngoing business, potential
overpayment for the acquired company or assetsjatil to existing stockholders if our common stixkssued in consideration for an
acquisition or investment, incurring or assumingeibtedness or other liabilities in connection vaithacquisition which may increase our
interest expense and leverage significantly, lddamiliarity with new markets, and difficulties supporting new product lines.

Further, even if we successfully complete acquisij we may encounter issues not discovered dotindue diligence process, including
product or service quality issues, intellectualgemy issues and legal contingencies, the intaroiairol environment of the acquired entity may
not be consistent with our standards and may regigmnificant time and resources to improve andnag impair relationships witbtmployee:
and customers as a result of migrating a businegsoduct line to a new owner. We will also facalddnges in integrating any acquired
business. These challenges include eliminatingndaiot operations, facilities and systems, coor@igananagement and personnel, retaining
key employees, customers and business partnersgimgndifferent corporate cultures, and achieviost ceductions and cross-selling
opportunities. There can be no assurance that Wéevable to fully integrate all aspects of acqdibusinesses successfully, realize synergies
expected to result from the acquisition, advanaeboiginess strategy or fully realize the potertigefits of bringing the businesses together,
and the process of integrating these acquisitiomg further disrupt our business and divert our ueses.

Our failure to successfully manage acquisitionseestments, or successfully integrate acquisitmndd have a material adverse effect on ou
business, financial condition, cash flows and/sules of operations. Correspondingly, our expectegtirelated to the benefits related to our
recent acquisitions, prior acquisitions or any ofaéure acquisition or investment could be inaeter
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We may experience difficulties integrating ORCC orOPAY, which could cause us to fail to realize therdicipated benefits of the
acquisitions.

Achieving the anticipated benefits of our acquigis of ORCC and OPAY will depend in part upon wketle are able to integrate the
businesses of the companies in an effective andesff manner. We may not be able to accomplishitttegration process smoothly or
successfully. The integration of certain operatiaistake time and will require the dedicationgi§nificant management resources, which
temporarily distract management’s attention fromrowtine business.

Any delay or inability of management to successgfintegrate the operations of ORCC or OPAY coulthpoomise our potential to achieve
anticipated long-term strategic benefits of theuggitjons and could have a material adverse effadhe business, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations after the acquisgi

Our software products may contain undetected erroror other defects, which could damage our reputatio with customers, decrease
profitability, and expose us to liability.

Our software products are complex. Software typiaantains bugs or errors that can unexpectedgrfiere with the operation of the software
products. Our software products may contain undedeerrors or flaws when first introduced or as mensions are released. These undetecte
errors may result in loss of, or delay in, markategptance of our products and a correspondingolosales or revenues. Customers depend
upon our products for mission-critical applicatipasd these errors may hurt our reputation withosuers. In addition, software product errors
or failures could subject us to product liabiliag well as performance and warranty claims, whiakliccmaterially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, cash flows and/sults of operations.

If our products and services fail to comply with Igislation, government regulations and industry stadards to which our customers are
subject, it could result in a loss of customers andecreased revenue.

Legislation, governmental regulation and industandards affect how our business is conductedjrasdme cases, could subject us to the
possibility of future lawsuits arising from our jiacts and services. Globally, legislation, governtakregulation and industry standards may
directly or indirectly impact our current and presfive customers’ activities, as well as their etations and needs in relation to our products
and services. For example, our products are affdnte/ISA and MasterCard electronic payment stadglénat are generally updated twice
annually. In addition, action by government andutatpry authorities such as the Dodd-Frank Wak&tReform and the Consumer Protectior
Act relating to financial regulatory reform, as et legislation and regulation related to creddibility, data usage, privacy, or other relatec
regulatory developments could have an adverseteadfeour customers and therefore could have a mbhsetverse effect on our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of @iems.

If we fail to comply with the complex regulations plicable to our payments business, we could be galbt to liability.

OPAY is licensed as a money transmitter in thoatestwhere such licensure is required. These ksaregjuire us to demonstrate and maintair
certain levels of net worth and liquidity and atequire us to file periodic reports. In additiony @ayment business is generally subject to
federal regulation in the United States, includamgi-money laundering regulations and certain iegins on transactions to or from certain
individuals or entities. The complexity of thesgukations will continue to increase our cost ofrdpbusiness. Any violations of law may also
result in civil or criminal penalties against uslaur officers or the prohibition against us prargimoney transmitter services in particular
jurisdictions.

If we fail to comply with privacy regulations imposed on providers of services to financial institutias, our business could be harmed.

As a provider of services to financial institutiomee may be bound by the same limitations on d&gi® of the information we receive from «
customers as apply to the financial institutiorentielves. If we are subject to these limitatiordswa fail to comply with applicable
regulations, we could be exposed to suits for bredaontract or to governmental proceedings, aistamer relationships and reputation coulc
be harmed, and we could be inhibited in our abilitpbtain new customers. In addition, if moreniesve privacy laws or rules are adopted in
the future on the federal or state level, or, witbpect to our international operations, by autiesrin foreign jurisdictions on the national,
provincial, state, or other level, that could haneadverse impact on our business.
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If our security measures are breached or become iafted with a computer virus, or if our services aresubject to attacks that degrade o
deny the ability of users to access our products @ervices, our business will be harmed by disruptmdelivery of services and damaging
our reputation.

As part of our business, we electronically receprecess, store, and transmit sensitive businéssnation of our customers. Unauthorized
access to our computer systems or databases asuild in the theft or publication of confidentiaformation or the deletion or modification of
records or could otherwise cause interruptionsuinoperations. These concerns about security areased when we transmit information ove
the Internet. Security breaches in connection tiéhdelivery of our products and services, inclgdinoducts and services utilizing the Inter
or well-publicized security breaches, and the treeard broad consumer and general public notificedf such incidents, could significantly
harm our business, financial condition, cash flawd/or results of operations. We cannot be cettgihadvances in criminal capabilities,
discovery of new vulnerabilities, attempts to eXploiinerabilities in our systems, data thefts, §ibgl system or network break-ins or
inappropriate access, or other developments wilcompromise or breach the technology protectimgnetworks and confidential informatic
Computer viruses have also been distributed and rapidly spread over the Internet. Computer veusrild infiltrate our systems, disrupting
our delivery of services and making our applicagionavailable. Any inability to prevent securitglches or computer viruses could also ¢
existing customers to lose confidence in our systand terminate their agreements with us, and dabldit our ability to attract new
customers.

We may be unable to protect our intellectual propety and technology and may be subject to increasingigation over our intellectual
property rights.

To protect our proprietary rights in our intelleatyroperty, we rely on a combination of contratfravisions, including customer licenses
restrict use of our products, confidentiality agnesats and procedures, and trade secret and copiaigh Despite such efforts, we may not be
able to adequately protect our proprietary rigbtsyur competitors may independently develop simiéahnology, duplicate products, or des
around any rights we believe to be proprietarysThay be particularly true in countries other thi@United States because some foreign law
do not protect proprietary rights to the same ebdsrcertain laws of the United States. Any failorénability to protect our proprietary rights
could materially adversely affect our business.

There has been a substantial amount of litigaticthé software industry regarding intellectual gndyp rights. Third parties have in the past,
and may in the future, assert claims or initiatigdition related to exclusive patent, copyrighadgmark or other intellectual property rights to
business processes, technologies and related stigritiat are relevant to us and our customers.efagsertions have increased over time as ¢
result of the general increase in patent claimeréisss, particularly in the United States. Becanisthe existence of a large number of patents
in the electronic commerce field, the secrecy ofispending patents and the rapid issuance of neam{gait is not economical or even
possible to determine in advance whether a prootuahy of its components infringes or will infringa the patent rights of others. Any claim
against us, with or without merit, could be timasoming, result in costly litigation, cause proddelivery delays, require us to enter into
royalty or licensing agreements or pay amountgitiesnent, or require us to develop alternative-iminging technology.

We anticipate that software product developerspoudiders of electronic commerce solutions couldtéasingly be subject to infringement
claims, and third parties may claim that our présenl future products infringe upon their intelledtproperty rights. Third parties may also
claim, and we are aware that at least two partiee lclaimed on several occasions, that our cussmse of a business process method whict
utilizes our products in conjunction with other guats infringe on the third-party’s intellectuabperty rights. These third-party claims could
lead to indemnification claims against us by owtomers. Claims against our customers relatedtpmaucts, whether or not meritorious,
could harm our reputation and reduce demand fopoagtucts. Where indemnification claims are madeustomers, resistance even to
unmeritorious claims could damage the custometioelship. A successful claim by a third-party dfeltectual property infringement by us or
one of our customers could compel us to enterdogily royalty or license agreements, pay significtamages, or stop selling certain product
and incur additional costs to develop alternatige-imfringing technology. Royalty or licensing agreens if required, may not be available
terms acceptable to us or at all, which could askigraffect our business.

Our exposure to risks associated with the usetefiéctual property may be increased for thirdypg@roducts distributed by us or as a result of
acquisitions since we have a lower level of vigiilif any, into the development process with eggo such third-party products and acquirec
technology or the care taken to safeguard agaifrftgement risks.

Certain payment funding methods expose us to the edit and/or operating risk of our clients.

When we process an automated clearing house amatgd teller machine network payment transactiomdotain clients, we occasionally
transfer funds from our settlement account to titerided destination account before we receive ftnods a client’'s source account. The vast
majority of these occurrences are resolved quittklgugh normal processes. However, if they araeslved and we are then unable to
reverse the transaction that sent funds to thadee destination, a shortfall in our settlemenbaat will be created. Although we have legal
recourse against our clients for the amount ostiatfall, timing of recovery may be delayed bightion or the amount of any recovery may
be less than the shortfall. In either case, we dbale to fund the shortfall in our settlement actdrom our corporate funds.
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Our revenue and earnings are highly cyclical, our garterly results fluctuate significantly and we hae revenue-generating transactions
concentrated in the final weeks of a quarter whichmay prevent accurate forecasting of our financial esults and cause our stock price t
decline.

Our revenue and earnings are highly cyclical caysignificant quarterly fluctuations in our finaatresults. Revenue and operating results al
usually strongest during the third and fourth fispaarters ending September 30 and December 3Japhndue to the sales and budgetary
cycles of our customers. We experience lower reegnand possible operating losses, in the firstsagdnd quarters ending March 31 and
June 30. Our financial results may also fluctuedenfquarter to quarter and year to year due taiatyeof factors, including changes in prod
sales mix that affect average selling prices; &ediming of customer renewals (any of which mapait the pattern of revenue recognition).

In addition, large portions of our customer consare consummated in the final weeks of each guaefore these contracts are
consummated, we create and rely on forecasted uegdnr planning, modeling and earnings guidanoeedasts, however, are only estimates
and actual results may vary for a particular quartdonger periods of time. Consequently, sigwifitdiscrepancies between actual and
forecasted results could limit our ability to pldmdget or provide accurate guidance, which codigesely affect our stock price. Any
publicly-stated revenue or earnings projectionssatgect to this risk.

If we experience business interruptions or failureof our information technology and communication sytems, the availability of our
products and services could be interrupted which add adversely affect our reputation, business andrancial condition.

Our ability to provide reliable service in a numioéiour businesses depends on the efficient anttemupted operation of our data centers,
information technology and communication systems, those of our external service providers. As wamioue to grow our On Demand
business, our dependency on the continuing operatid availability of these systems increases.9pstems and data centers, and those of o
external service providers, could be exposed toagdgnor interruption from fire, natural disastemypr loss, telecommunications failure,
unauthorized entry and computer viruses. Althoughhave taken steps to prevent system failures anldewe installed back-up systems and
procedures to prevent or reduce disruption, sughsstnay not be sufficient to prevent an interruptibservices and our disaster recovery
planning may not account for all eventualities.tRer, our property and business interruption insceamay not be adequate to compensate u:
for all losses or failures that may occur.

An operational failure or outage in any of thesstegms, or damage to or destruction of these syst@hish causes disruptions in our services,
could result in loss of customers, damage to custaaiationships, reduced revenues and profitangef of customer charges and damage to
our brand and reputation and may require us torisghstantial additional expense to repair or @pdamaged equipment and recover dat:
caused by the interruption. Any one or more offtregoing occurrences could have a material adwffeet on our reputation, business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of @tiems.

We are engaged in offshore software development agties, which may not be successful and which mayut our intellectual property at
risk.

As part of our globalization strategy and to optienavailable research and development resourcestize our Irish subsidiary to serve as the
focal point for certain international product de@mhent and commercialization efforts. This subsid@ersees remote software development
operations in Romania and elsewhere, as well asgesncertain of our intellectual property rightsatiditional we manage certain offshore
development activities in India. While our expederio date with our offshore development centessten positive, there is no assurance th:
this will continue. Specifically, there are a numbérisks associated with this activity, includibgt not limited to the following:

* communications and information flow may be lef&ient and accurate as a consequence of tres tilmtance and language
differences between our primary development orgditim and the foreign based activities, resultingelays in development or
errors in the software develope

* in addition to the risk of misappropriationinfellectual property from departing personnelré¢his a general risk of the potential for
misappropriation of our intellectual property thaight not be readily discoverabl

* the quality of the development efforts undeetabffshore may not meet our requirements becauseguage, cultural and
experiential differences, resulting in potentiabguct errors and/or delay

» potential disruption from the involvement of theitéd States in political and military conflicts ara the world; an

e currency exchange rates could fluctuate and adlyerapact the cost advantages intended from maimtgithese facilities
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There are a number of risks associated with our irgrnational operations that could have a material ipact on our operations and
financial condition.

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesrimternational operations and anticipate contigumdo so. As a result, we are subject to
risks of conducting international operations. Ohthe principal risks associated with internatioopérations is potentially adverse movement:
of foreign currency exchange rates. Our exposwsdglting from fluctuations in foreign currency eaolge rates may change over time as our
business evolves and could have an adverse impamirdinancial condition, cash flows and/or resuif operations. We have not entered into
any derivative instruments or hedging contractethuce exposure to adverse foreign currency changes

Other potential risks include difficulties assoethivith staffing and management, reliance on inddest distributors, longer payment cycles,
potentially unfavorable changes to foreign tax sut®mpliance with foreign regulatory requirement&cts of a variety of foreign laws and
regulations, including restrictions on access te@eal information, reduced protection of intelledtproperty rights, variability of foreign
economic conditions, governmental currency contaifficulties in enforcing our contracts in foreigurisdictions, and general economic and
political conditions in the countries where we seit products and services. Some of our producisaoatain encrypted technology, the exj
of which is regulated by the United States govemtim@&hanges in United States and other applicatgereélaws and regulations restricting the
export of software or encryption technology cowdduit in delays or reductions in our shipmentsrofipcts internationally. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfully esidthese challenges.

We may face exposure to unknown tax liabilities, wich could adversely affect our financial conditioncash flows and/or results of
operations.

We are subject to income and non-income based taxhe United States and in various foreign judgdns. Significant judgment is required
in determining our worldwide income tax liabilitiasd other tax liabilities. In addition, we expaxtontinue to benefit from implemented tax-
saving strategies. We believe that these tax-satiiagegies comply with applicable tax law. If t@verning tax authorities have a different
interpretation of the applicable law and successfifiallenge any of our tax positions, our finahciandition, cash flows and/or results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Our US companies are the subject of an examinatidhe Internal Revenue Service as well as segtatd tax departments. Three of our
foreign subsidiaries are the subject of a tax eration by the local taxing authorities. Other fgresubsidiaries could face challenges from
various foreign tax authorities. It is not certthiat the local authorities will accept our tax piosis. We believe our tax positions comply with
applicable tax law and intend to vigorously defemd positions. However, differing positions on egntissues could be upheld by foreign tax
authorities, which could adversely affect our fioi@h condition and/or results of operations.

Our stock price may be volatile.

Prices on the global financial markets for equégigities declined precipitously since Septemb@&820lo assurance can be given that
operating results will not vary from quarter to gea, and past performance may not accurately gréature performance. Any fluctuations in
quarterly operating results may result in volatilit our stock price. Our stock price may also bkatile, in part, due to external factors such as
announcements by third parties or competitors,rigritevolatility in the technology sector, variatyilin demand from our existing customers,
failure to meet the expectations of market analybtslevel of our operating expenses and changiauket conditions in the software industry.
In addition, the financial markets have experiersigdificant price and volume fluctuations that éaarticularly affected the stock prices of
many technology companies and financial servicespamies, and these fluctuations sometimes areataceto the operating performance of
these companies. Broad market fluctuations, asageihdustry-specific and general economic conustimay adversely affect the market price
of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease office space in Naples, Florida, for aingipal executive headquarters. The Naples leggiees in 2017. We also lease office space
in Omaha, Nebraska, for our principal product depeient group, sales and support groups for the isameras well as our corporate,
accounting and administrative functions. The Onlahae continues through 2028. Our EMEA headquaddogsated in Watford, England.
The lease for the Watford facility expires at tinel ®f 2023. Our Asia/Pacific headquarters is lod@teSingapore, with the lease for this faci
expiring in fiscal 2017. We also lease office sp@mceumerous other locations in the United Statekia many other countries.

We believe that our current facilities are adeqdiat®ur present and short-term foreseeable nerdishat additional suitable space will be
available as required. We also believe that welvélhble to renew leases as they expire or seltaraae suitable space. See Note 14,
Commitments and Contingencida the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemimtadditional information regarding our obligat®under
our facilities leases.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in various li#tgpn matters arising in the ordinary course oflousiness. We are not currently a party to
legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of whiahyitually or in the aggregate, we believe wouldikely to have a material effect on our
financial statements.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Global Seléatket under the symbol ACIW. The following talsiets forth, for the periods
indicated, the high and low sale prices of our camrstock as reported by The NASDAQ Global Selectkéa

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
High Low High Low
Fourth quarter $65.0C  $52.11  $43.8¢  $38.0¢
Third quartel $54.0¢  $46.57  $46.5¢  $40.6¢
Second quarte $47.64 $42.9( $44.21 $36.94
First quartel $48.8¢ $44.4¢ $41.6: $28.2¢

As of February 24, 2014, there were 339 holdersodrd of our common stock. A substantially greatenber of holders of our common st
are “street name” or beneficial holders, whoseeshare held of record by banks, brokers and othandial institutions.

Dividends

We have never declared nor paid cash dividendsioes@nmon stock. We do not presently anticipatérqpgash dividends. However, any
future determination relating to our dividend pypligill be made at the discretion of our board akdtors and will depend upon our financial
condition, capital requirements and earnings, dsaseother factors the board of directors may deelevant. The terms of our current Credit
Facility may restrict the payment of dividends sabjto the Company meeting certain financial mstaed being in compliance with the event:
of default provisions of the agreement.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regardith@ Company’s repurchases of its common stock duhia three months ended
December 31, 2013:

Approximate
Total Number of Dollar Value of
Shares that May

Shares
Total Number of Purchased as Yet Be

Part of Publicly Purchased

Shares Average Price Announced Under the

Period Purchased Paid per Share Program Program (2)
October 1 through October 31, 2013 5,10( $ 51.9¢ 5,10( $109,665,00
November 1 through November 30, 2( 3,76¢1) 59.61 — 109,665,00
December 1 through December 31, 2! 1,574(1) 64.5] — 109,665,00

Total 10,44 $ 56.61 5,10(

(1) Pursuant to our 2005 Equity and Performancenitiee Plan, as amended (the “2005 Incentive PJam)granted restricted share awards
(“RSAs"). These awards have requisite service plsriaf three years and vest in increments of 33%emnniversary of the grant date.
Under each arrangement, stock is issued withoattaost to the employee. Under the terms of tlaJaction Agreement with S1, upon
the acquisition, the S1 Transaction RSAs were adeddo RSAs of the Company’s stock. These awaads hequisite service periods of
four years and vest in increments of 25% on thévansary of the original grant date of Novembe2@]11. During the three months
ended December 31, 2013, 16,683 RSAs vested. Wiaelit 5,341 shares to pay the emplo’ portion of applicable withholding taxe

(2) Approximate dollar value remaining based upon theirg stock price on December 31, 20

In fiscal 2005, we announced that our Board of &wes approved a stock repurchase program authgris, from time to time as market and
business conditions warrant, to acquire up to $8@mof our common stock, and that we intendedi$e existing cash and cash equivalen
fund these repurchases. Our Board of Directorsayggr an increase of $30 million, $100 million, &%2.1 million to the stock repurchase
program in May 2006, March 2007 and February 2@dgpectively, bringing the total of the approvedgram to $262.1 million. On
September 13, 2012, our Board of Directors apprahedepurchase of up to 2,500,000 shares of tmep@ay’s common stock, or up to $11
million, in place of the remaining repurchase anteymeviously authorized. In July, 2013, our Boafdirectors approved an additional $100
million for stock repurchases. Approximately $106iflion remains available at December 31, 2013.Rehruary 24, 2014, the Company’s
Board of Directors approved an additional $100ionillfor the stock repurchase program. There isuarantee as to the exact number of sk
that will be repurchased by us. Repurchased shkaea®turned to the status of authorized but uagshares of common stock. In March 200%
our Board of Directors approved a plan under R0OIg511 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 tdlifate the repurchase of shares of
common stock under the existing stock repurchasgram. Under our Rule 10b5-1 plan, we have delegat¢hority over the timing and
amount of repurchases to an independent brokerdele not have access to inside information ab@uCttimpany. Rule 10b5-1 allows us,
through the independent broker, to purchase sktgaes when we ordinarily would not be in the ketbecause of self-imposed trading
blackout periods, such as the time immediately gutgg the end of the fiscal quarter through a pktiwee business days following our
quarterly earnings release.
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return

The following table shows a line-graph presentatiomparing cumulative stockholder return on an xedebasis with a broad equity market
index and either a nationally-recognized industayndard or an index of peer companies selectedsbwe selected the S&P 500 Index and thi
NASDAQ Electronic Components Index for comparis

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
December 2013

1450.00

400.00 +
1350.00 |
1300.00
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200.00

1150.00

1100.00
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0.00
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g A0 Worldwide, Inc. === SEP 500 Index - Tolal Returns
g M ASDAQ Elacironic Components Index

The graph above assumes that a $100 investmerma@s in our common stock and each index on Dece81he2008, and that all dividends
were reinvested. Also included are the respectivestment returns based upon the stock and indegwvas of the end of each year during
such five-year period. The information was provitlwdZacks Investment Research, Inc. of Chicaginois.

The stock performance graph disclosure above isomgidered “filed” with the SEC under the Secastand Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and is not incorporated by referenceyirpast or future filing by us under the Securitteshange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, unless spaltjficeferenced.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has beenvaéerirom our consolidated financial statementssTaita should be read together with Iter
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”, and the chdated financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this AnnualdRef he financial information below is not neceflgandicative of the results of future
operations. Future results could differ materifdtym historical results due to many factors, inahgdthose discussed in Item 1A in the section
entitled “Risk Factors.”

Years Ended December 31
2013 (1) 2012 (2) 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share date

Income Statement Data:

Total revenue $ 864,92t $ 666,57¢ $465,09' $418,42: $405,75!
Net income $ 6386¢(f $ 4884t $ 4585. $ 27,198 $ 19,62¢
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 16 $ 12¢ $ 137 $ 081 $ 057

Diluted $ 16C $ 12z $ 134 $ 08 $ 057
Shares used in computing earnings per st

Basic 39,29¢ 38,69¢ 33,457 33,56( 34,36¢

Diluted 40,01¢ 39,90¢ 34,19t 33,87( 34,55¢

As of December 31
2013 (1) 2012 (2) 2011 2010 2009

Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 90,76: $ 89,527 $114,80° $ 24,04 $ 78,66:
Total asset 1,681,85 1,250,88! 664,64: 601,52¢ 590,04:
Current portion of debt (¢ 47,31: 17,50( — 75,00( —
Debt (lon¢-term portion) (3) (4 716,76: 369,06 77,05¢ 2,79( 77,40¢
Stockholder' equity 543,69: 534,35 317,33( 255,62: 236,06:

(1) The consolidated balance sheet and statemémtare for the year ended December 31, 2013 iesltide acquisition of OPAY, ORCC
and PTESA as discussed in NoteAcquisitions.

(2) The consolidated balance sheet and statemamtarhe for the year ended December 31, 2012 iesltlde acquisition of Distra, North
Data and S1 as discussed in NotAcquisitions.

(3) Debt (long-term portion) includes long-term itaplease obligations of $0.9 million, $1.8 millipand $1.5 million as of December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively, which is inetlith other noncurrent liabilities in the consol@hbalance sheets. We had no mat
capital lease obligations at December 31, 201&14.

(4) During the year ended December 31, 2013, weased the Term Facility by $300 million to fune icquisition of ORCC and amended
our Credit Agreement to extend the term to 2018.afge added $300 million in Senior Notes duringytbar ended December 31, 2013,
all of which is due in August 2020. See Not®4épt,for further discussionOur previous revolving credit facility had a matyrilate of
September 29, 2011; therefore, it was moved teeatifrom long-term as of December 31, 2010. Weeafced this credit facility in the
third quarter of 2011 with a new long term creditifity that was replaced with the Credit Agreemierlovember 2011. The outstanding
balance of the Credit Agreement increased in 2Q2td the S1 acquisition. We also financed throaigkendor a five-year license
agreement during the year ended December 31, 2@2oximately $9.3 million of this balance is ouatstling at December 31, 2013. Of
this balance, $3.0 million is included in curraabilities and $6.3 million is included in noncuntdiabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets at December 31, 20
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

ACI Worldwide powers electronic payments and bagKor nearly 2,600 financial institutions, retaeand processors around the world. In
addition, we provide bill presentment and paymetiection services to billers such as tax authesithigher education, utilities, and health
providers. Through our integrated suite of softwan@ducts and hosted services, we deliver a braagler of solutions for electronic payments,
transaction banking, mobile, branch and voice bagikiraud detection and trade finance.

In addition to our own products, we distribute act as a sales agent for, software developed hy phirties. Our products are sold and
supported through distribution networks coveringéhgeographic regions — the Americas, EMEA an@d/Rsicific. Each distribution network
has its own globally coordinated sales force aqpkments its sales force with independent resafidfor distributor networks. Our products
and services are used principally by financialifagons, retailers and electronic payment processdaoth in domestic and international
markets. Accordingly, our business and operatisglte are influenced by trends such as informagehnology spending levels, the growth
rate of the electronic payments industry, mandeggdlatory changes, and changes in the numberygedf customers in the financial servi
industry. Our products are marketed under the AGHWvide and ACI Payment Systems brands.

We derive a majority of our revenues from domesgierations and believe we have large opporturfitiiegrowth in international markets as
well as continued expansion domestically in thetéthStates. Refining our global infrastructure @itical component of driving our growth.
We have launched a globalization strategy whichuoies elements intended to streamline our supmynciind maximize expertise in several
geographic locations to support a growing intepral customer base and competitive needs. Weautiliz Irish subsidiaries to manage certai
of our intellectual property rights and to overs@e manage certain international product developiaeth commercialization efforts. We also
continue to grow centers of expertise in Timiso&amania and Pune and Bangalore in India as wéép®perational centers such as
Capetown, South Africa and in multiple locationghe United States.

Key trends that currently impact our strategies @perations include:

Increasing electronic payment transaction volumesElectronic payment volumes continue to increasarad the world, taking
market share from traditional cash and check titiwss. In February 2011 Boston Consulting Growgdfated that noncash payment
transactions would grow in volume at an annual c&®@% from 309 billion in 2010 to 740 billion ir020, with varying growth rates based on
the type of payment and part of the world. We lagerthe growth in transaction volumes through idenking of new systems to customers
whose older systems cannot handle increased vamehéhrough the licensing of capacity upgradesistiag customers.

Adoption of real-time delivery . Customer expectations, from both consumers amgbcate, are driving the payments world to
more real-time delivery. In the UK, payments sénbtigh the traditional ACH multi day batch serviaa now be sent through the Faster
Payments service giving almost immediate accefsetéunds and this is being considered in sevenahties including Singapore and the US.
Corporate customers expect real-time informatiothenstatus of their payments instead of waitingafo end of day report. And regulators
expect banks to be monitoring key measures likadity in real time. ACI's focus has always beentba real-time execution of transactions
and delivery of information through real-time toslsch as dashboards so our experience will be Malila addressing this trend.

Increasing competition.The electronic payments market is highly compeditimd subject to rapid change. Our competition some
from in-house information technology departmeritsdtparty electronic payment processors and thady software companies located both
within and outside of the United States. Many &fsth companies are significantly larger than usheave significantly greater financial,
technical and marketing resources. As electronjorgant transaction volumes increase, thpedty processors tend to provide competition tc
solutions, particularly among customers that doseetk to differentiate their electronic paymenenffgs or are eliminating banks from the
payments service reducing the need for our solstiés consolidation in the financial services intdusontinues, we anticipate that
competition for those customers will intensify.

Adoption of cloud technology. In an effort to leverage lower-cost computinghtremlogies some financial institutions, retailersl an
electronic payment processors are seeking to tramsheir systems to make use of cloud technol@yrently this is impacting areas such as
customer relationship management systems rathempiéyament services. Our investment in ACI On Denyanodides us the grounding to
deliver cloud capabilities in the future.

Electronic payments fraud and compliance As electronic payment transaction volumes inereasminal elements continue to
find ways to commit a growing volume of fraudulérnsactions using a wide range of techniques.n€iahinstitutions, retailers and electra
payment processors continue to seek ways to legaregy technologies to identify and prevent fraudiufeansactions and other attacks such a
denial of service attacks. Due to concerns withrimational terrorism and money laundering, finanaistitutions in particular are being faced
with increasing scrutiny and regulatory pressuvés.continue to see opportunity to offer our fraediedtion solutions to help customers
manage the growing levels of electronic paymentdrand compliance activity.
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Adoption of smartcard technology. In many markets, card issuers are being requirégsue new cards with embedded chip
technology, most recently in the United Statespeisised cards are more secure, harder to copy asdtlod opportunity for multiple functiol
on one card (e.g. debit, credit, electronic puidntification, health records, etc.). The EMV stard for issuing and processing debit and c
card transactions has emerged as the global sthngliéih many regions throughout the world workingE©MYV rollouts. The primary benefit of
EMV deployment is a reduction in electronic paymieatid, with the additional benefit that the carfrastructure necessary for multi-function
chip cards is being put in place (e.g., chip caatlers in ATMs and POS devices) allowing the dapkayt of other technologies like
contactless. We are working with many customeraraddhe world to facilitate EMV deployments, levgiry several of our solutions.

Single Euro Payments Area (“SEPA”).The SEPA, primarily focused on the European Econddommunity and the United
Kingdom, is designed to facilitate lower costsdaovss-border payments and reduce timeframes ftingetlectronic payment transactions.
Recent moves to set an end date for the trangi@EPA payment mechanisms will drive more volumthese systems with the potential to
cause banks to review the capabilities of the systeupporting these payments. Our retail and whlddsanking solutions facilitate key
functions that help financial institutions addréssse mandated regulations.

Financial institution consolidation . Consolidation continues on a national and intéonal basis, as financial institutions seek to
add market share and increase overall efficienagh®onsolidations have increased, and may contmirerease, in their number, size and
market impact as a result of the recent global eava crisis and the financial crisis affecting thenking and financial industries. There are
several potential negative effects of increasedaliation activity. Continuing consolidation ohéincial institutions may result in a smaller
number of existing and potential customers forpmaducts and services. Consolidation of two of @ustomers could result in reduced
revenues if the combined entity were to negotia¢aigr volume discounts or discontinue use of reaBour products. Additionally, if a non-
customer and a customer combine and the combirtég dacides to forego future use of our produots, revenue would decline. Conversely,
we could benefit from the combination of a non-oustr and a customer when the combined entity coasimise of our products and, as a
larger combined entity, increases its demand fompooducts and services. We tend to focus on ldigancial institutions as customers, often
resulting in our solutions being the solutions thatvive in the consolidated entity.

Global vendor sourcing. Global and regional financial institutions, presers and retailers are aiming to reduce the aosts
supplier management by picking suppliers who cavicethem across all their geographies insteaallofving each country operation to
choose suppliers independently. Our global footdrom both customer and a delivery perspectivébknas to be successful in this global
sourced market. However, projects in these enviemmtend to be more complex and therefore of highle.

Electronic payments convergenceAs electronic payment volumes grow and pressioréswver overall cost per transaction
increase, financial institutions are seeking meshtodconsolidate their payment processing acrassitkerprise. We believe that the strategy o
using service-oriented-architectures to allow #use of common electronic payment functions sgchuthentication, authorization, routing
and settlement will become more common. Using thedeniques, financial institutions will be ablerémluce costs, increase overall service
levels, enable one-to-one marketing in multiplekoaimannels, leverage volumes for improved pricing kquidity, and manage enterprise risk.
Our product strategy is, in part, focused on tléad, by creating integrated payment functions ¢hatbe re-used by multiple bank channels,
across both the consumer and wholesale bank. Windlérend presents an opportunity for us, it migp @xpand the competition from third-
party electronic payment technology and service&ideys specializing in other forms of electroniypeents. Many of these providers are lai
than us and have significantly greater financ&thhical and marketing resources.

Mobile banking and payments. There is a growing demand for the ability to garat banking services or make payments using :
mobile phone. Our customers have been making uegistfng products to deploy mobile banking, molpiggzrment and mobile commerce and
mobile payment solutions for their customers in ynaountries. In addition, ACI has invested in melpkoducts of our own and via
partnerships to support mobile functionality in tharketplace.

The banking, financial services and payments inthsshave come under increased scrutiny from fédetiete and foreign lawmakers and
regulators in response to the crises in the firmoarkets and the global recession. In partictiteer, Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), aimiwas signed into law July 21, 2010, represectaprehensive overhaul of the U.S.
financial services industry and requires the im@atation of many new regulations that will havdraat impact on our customers and
potential customers. These regulatory changes meatecboth opportunities and challenges for us.afipication of the new regulations on
customers could create an opportunity for us toketawur product capabilities and the flexibilityadr solutions to assist our customers in
addressing these regulations. At the same timeettegulatory changes may have an adverse impaeitrasperations and our financial results
as we adjust our activities in light of increasethpliance costs and customer requirements. Itriotly too difficult to predict the long term
extent to which the Dodd-Frank Act or the resultingulations will impact our business and the besses of our current and potential
customers.
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Several other factors related to our business rasg A significant impact on our operating resutisnfyear to year. For example, the
accounting rules governing the timing of revenumgaition in the software industry are complex é@ran be difficult to estimate when we
will recognize revenue generated by a given traimad-actors such as maturity of the software pobdicensed, payment terms,
creditworthiness of the customer, and timing ofwaal or acceptance of our products often causemaes related to sales generated in one
period to be deferred and recognized in later pstiGor arrangements in which services revenuefexied, related direct and incremental
costs may also be deferred. Additionally, while tigority of our contracts are denominated in tmétédl States dollar, a substantial portion of
our sales are made, and some of our expensescaregd, in the local currency of countries othartlthe United States. Fluctuations in
currency exchange rates in a given period maytrasthe recognition of gains or losses for thaiqu

We continue to seek ways to grow through organiccas, partnerships, alliances, and acquisitioresc@htinually look for potential
acquisitions designed to improve our solutionsabltt or provide access to new markets. As partiohoquisition strategy, we seek
acquisition candidates that are strategic, capaitideing integrated into our operating environmeand financially accretive to our financial
performance.

Acquisitions
Official Payments Holdings, Inc.

On November 5, 2013, we completed the tender &feDPAY and all its subsidiaries. The Company &8d35 per share of common stock
approximately $139.8 million using cash on hand atemporary draw on the Revolving Credit Facilidythe common stock outstanding. As
a leading provider of electronic bill payment saos in the U.S., serving federal, state and Igo&kernments, municipal utilities, higher
education institutions and charitable giving orgations, OPAYS proven team, loyal user base and vertical exggentiake it an ideal match -
the Company. The acquisition will further extendI&Qeadership in the fast-growing Electronic Biitesentment and Payment (“EBPP”)
space, expanding its portfolio across key sectmisiding federal, state and local governments, aipail utilities, higher education institutions
and charitable giving organizations.

Online Resources Corporation

On March 11, 2013, we completed the tender offe©BCC and all its subsidiaries. The Company paghof $3.85 per share of common
stock for approximately $132.9 million and $127.®ion for the Series A-1 Convertible Preferred &tdor a total purchase price of $260.1
million (the “Merger”). As a leading provider of ime banking and full service bill pay solutionsetacquisition of ORCC added EBPP
solutions as a strategic part of ACI's Universayiants portfolio. It also strengthened the Compsuayiline banking capabilities with
complementary technology, and expanded the Compdegtership in serving community banking and ¢newiion customers.

Each outstanding option to acquire ORCC commorksias canceled and terminated at the effective tiftbe Merger and converted into the
right to receive an equivalent number of optionpuecchase ACI common stock. Each ORCC restricteckaiinit was vested immediately prior
to the effective time of the Merger and receivedB$3er share.

We used funds from the $300 million of senior béinkncing arranged through Wells Fargo Securitieé€; to fund the acquisition. See Note
4, Debt, for terms of the financing arrangement.

Profesionales en Transacciones Electronicas

On March 1, 2013, the Company acquired 100% of BAFES100% of PTESA-E, and the ACI related assetRDESA-C, collectively
“PTESA”. The common stock of PTESA-E and PTESA-\tevacquired for $2.8 million and the assets of PAfESwere acquired for $11.4
million, for a total aggregate purchase price of.8Imillion. PTESA has been a long-term partnehefCompany, serving customers in South
America in sales, service and support functiong dthdition of the PTESA team to the Company reg#siits commitment to serve the Latin
American market.

Backlog

Included in backlog estimates are all softwarengsefees, maintenance fees and services feesisgeniexecuted contracts, as well as
revenues from assumed contract renewals to thetekizt we believe recognition of the related rexeewill occur within the corresponding
backlog period. We have historically included assdrenewals in backlog estimates based upon autoreaewal provisions in the executed
contract and our historic experience with custoraaewal rates.
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Our 60-month backlog estimate represents expeeteshues from existing customers using the follovkeg assumptions:

 Maintenance fees are assumed to exist foruh&tidn of the license term for those contractwlinch the committed maintenance
term is less than the committed license te

» License, facilities management, and softwargtihg arrangements are assumed to renew at theféheir committed term at a rate
consistent with our historical experienc

* Non-recurring license arrangements are assumed to regegcurring revenue strear

» Foreign currency exchange rates are assumeainain constant over the 60-month backlog periodHfose contracts stated in
currencies other than the U.S. dol

» Our pricing policies and practices are assumedntain constant over the -month backlog perioc

In computing our 60-month backlog estimate, théofeing items are specifically not taken into accoun
» Anticipated increases in transaction, accountyocgssing volumes in customer syste
» Optional annual uplifts or inflationary increasaegecurring fees

* Services engagements, other than facilitiesagament and software hosting engagements, aressioinad to renew over the 60-
month backlog perioc

e The potential impact of merger activity within aaarkets and/or custome
We review our customer renewal experience on anarbasis. The impact of this review and subsequedate may result in a revision to the

renewal assumptions used in computing the 60-mamthl2-month backlog estimates. In the event &igvio renewal assumptions is
determined to be necessary, prior periods willdjasied for comparability purposes.

The following table sets forth our 60-month backésgimate, by geographic region, as of Decembe2@13, September 30, 2013, June 30,
2013, March 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012 (iiamd). Dollar amounts reflect foreign currency lkeange rates as of each period end.

December 31 September 3C June 30 March 31, December 31

2013 2013 2013 2013 2012
Americas $ 2,831 $ 2,12¢ $2,117 $ 2,09( $ 1,42¢
EMEA 147 704 691 691 71¢
Asia/Pacific 288 28¢ 27¢€ 27¢ 26€
Total $ 3,861 $ 3,112 $3,08¢ $ 3,05¢ $ 2,41¢
December 31 September 3C June 30 March 31, December 31

2013 2013 2013 2013 2012
Committed $ 1,74 $ 1,47 $1,45: $ 1,47¢ $ 1,32«
Renewal 2,11¢ 1,64( 1,631 1,57¢ 1,092
Total $ 3,861 $ 3,112 $3,08¢ $ 3,05¢ $ 2,41¢

Included in our 60-month backlog estimates are artsoexpected to be recognized during the initenise term of customer contracts
(“Committed Backlog”) and amounts expected to lmgaized from assumed renewals of existing custaoetracts (“Renewal Backlog”).
Amounts expected to be recognized from assumedaminenewals are based on our historical renexyg@réence. The December 31, 2013 60
month backlog estimate includes approximately $&ilion and $696 million as a result of the acquiisi of ORCC and OPAY, respectively.

We also estimate 12-month backlog, segregated katwmnthly recurring and naecurring revenues, using a methodology consistéthtthe
60-month backlog estimate. Monthly recurring reveninclude all monthly license fees, maintenanes &nd processing services fees. Non-
recurring revenues include other software liceess fand services fees. Amounts included in our d@tmbacklog estimate assume renewal G
one-time license fees on a monthly fee basis ihsaoewal is expected to occur in the next 12 nwrithe following table sets forth our 12-
month backlog estimate, by geographic region, @&eaember 31, 2013 and 2012 (in millions). The Dawner 31, 2013 12-month backlog
estimate includes approximately $142 million assult of the acquisition of OPAY and an additio$&#2 million as a result of the acquisition
of ORCC. For all periods reported, approximatel¥®6f our 12-month backlog estimate is committecklmyand approximately 10% of our
12-month backlog estimate is renewal backlog. Dataounts reflect currency exchange rates as ¢f pacod end.
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December 31, 201 December 31, 201,
Monthly Monthly
Recurring Non-Recurring Total Recurring Non-Recurring Total
Americas $ 571 $ 63 $634 $ 277 $ 69 $34¢
EMEA 13C 38 16¢€ 14: 37 18C
Asia/Pacific 53 15 68 53 17 70
Total $ 754 $ 11€ $87C $ 47¢ $ 12% $59€

Estimates of future financial results are inheseatireliable. Our backlog estimates require sulhstimdgment and are based on a number of
assumptions as described above. These assumptaynim out to be inaccurate or wrong, includingrasons outside of management’s
control. For example, our customers may attempt¢negotiate or terminate their contracts for a nemna reasons, including mergers, change:
in their financial condition, or general changegdonomic conditions in the customer’s industrgeographic location, or we may experience
delays in the development or delivery of productseasvices specified in customer contracts whicly nsuse the actual renewal rates and
amounts to differ from historical experiences. Glemin foreign currency exchange rates may alsadtihe amount of revenue actually
recognized in future periods. Accordingly, thera ba no assurance that amounts included in baddtigates will actually generate the
specified revenues or that the actual revenuedeitienerated within the corresponding 12-mon#0emonth period. Additionally, because
backlog estimates are operating metrics, the etdsrare not required to be subject to the samé déweternal review or controls as a GAAP
financial measure.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following tables present the consolidated stat#s of income as well as the percentage reldtipris total revenues of items included in
our Consolidated Statements of Income (amountsansands):

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2012

Revenues
2013 2012
% of Total % Change % of Total
$ Change
Amount Revenue vs 2012 vs 2012 Amount Revenue
Revenues
Initial license fees (ILFs $139,19. 16.1% $ 13,49¢ 10.7% $125,69° 18.9%
Monthly license fees (MLFs 94,73¢ 11.(% (1,410 -1.5% 96,14¢ 14.4%
License 233,93: 27.(% 12,08t 5.4% 221,84t 33.2%
Maintenance 245,95: 28.4% 46,07¢ 23.1% 199,87t 30.(%
Services 122,08! 14.1% (9,45)) -7.2% 131,53¢ 19.7%
Hosting 262,95¢ 30.4% 149,63° 132.(% 113,32: 17.(%
Total revenue $864,92¢ 100.% $198,34¢ 29.6% $666,57¢ 100.(%

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, B@t8ased $198.3 million, or 29.8%, as comparegtiécsame period in 2012. The increase
is the result of a $12.1 million, or 5.4%, incre@sécense revenue, a $46.1 million, or 23.1%rémase in maintenance revenue and a $149.6
million, or 132.0%, increase in hosting revenudiply offset by a $9.5 million, or 7.2%, decreaseservices revenue.

The increase in total revenue for the year endezkdber 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended beca&h, 2012 was due to a $189.6
million, or 53.9%, increase in the Americas repolgéasegment and a $10.7 million, or 4.9%, incréaske EMEA reportable segment partially
offset by a $2.0 million, or 2.1%, decrease inAlséa/Pacific reportable segment.

The addition of ORCC contributed $120.8 million,1&.1%, of the increase in total revenue for ther ymded December 31, 2013. The
addition of OPAY contributed $23.3 million, or 3.5%f the increase in total revenue for the yeareerdecember 31, 2013. Excluding the
impact of the addition of ORCC and OPAY, total newe for the year ended December 31, 2013 incregs€@ million, or 8.1%. The increase
in total revenue, excluding the addition of ORC@® @PAY, is primarily due to the inclusion of S1 ogions for a full year as well as
increased sales and an increase in the numbeiizndfgrojects that were completed and recogniiethg the year ended December 31, 201
as compared to the same period in 2012.
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License Revent

Customers purchase the right to license ACI so#viar the term of their agreement which term isagafty 60 months. Within these
agreements are specified capacity limits typichiged on customer transaction volume. ACI emplogasurement tools that monitor the
number of transactions processed by customerd aodtractually specified limits are exceeded, tddal fees are charged for the overage.
Capacity overages may occur at varying times thmougthe term of the agreement depending on theugtpthe size of the customer, and the
significance of customer transaction volume groutepending on specific circumstances, multiple ages or no overages may occur during
the term of the agreement.

As a result of the maturation of certain retail p@yt engine products, certain of our initial liceffees are being recognized ratably over an
extended period. Initial license and capacity tbes are recognized as revenue ratably over am@ateperiod are included in our monthly
license revenues. Due to the relative size andmgugeriods over which these revenues are beinggrézed, our monthly license revenues
have decreased as compared to the same period2n 20

Initial License Revenu

Initial license revenue includes license and capaeivenues that do not recur on a monthly or gulgrbasis. Included in initial license revel
are license and capacity fees that are recognizaltee inception of the agreement and licensecapdcity fees that are recognizable at interir
points during the term of the agreement, includhmapse that are recognizable annually due to negdticustomer payment terms. Initial license
revenue increased by $13.5 million, or 10.7%, dytive year ended December 31, 2013, as compathd same period in 2012 with the
Americas reportable segment increasing by $25.komipartially offset by decreases in the EMEA asla/Pacific reportable segments of §
million and $6.9 million, respectively. The decreas initial license revenue in the Asia/Pacifipoetable segment is largely attributable to a
larger number of customers converting from pergditense arrangements to term and transactionddasense arrangements during the year
ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the said peR013. Included in the above are capacitgtesl revenue increases of $23.6 millior
and $3.9 million in the Americas and Asia/PaciBportable segments, respectively, partially offged decrease of $3.3 million in the EMEA
reportable segment during the year ended Decenih@03.3 as compared to the same period in 2012.

Monthly License Reveni

Monthly license revenue is license and capacitgmere that is paid monthly or quarterly due to nieed customer payment terms as well as
initial license and capacity fees that are recagphias revenue ratably over an extended period athigdicense revenue. Monthly license
revenue decreased $1.4 million, or 1.5%, duringythee ended December 31, 2013, as compared tathe geriod in 2012 with the Americas
and EMEA reportable segments decreasing by $21®m#énd $0.1 million, respectively, partially offsby an increase in the Asia/Pacific
reportable segment of $0.9 million. The decreasaanthly license revenue is primarily due to a dase in the amount of initial license
revenue that is being recognized ratably over aenebed period as a result of the maturation ofgeretail payment engine products.

Maintenance Revent

Maintenance revenue includes standard and enhamaiedienance or any post contract support feesweddiom customers for the provision
of product support services. Maintenance revenuiaglthe year ended December 31, 2013, as compatée same period in 2012 increased
$46.1 million, or 23.1%, of which $1.3 million, 6r1%, was due to the addition of ORCC. Maintenareenue increased in the Americas,
EMEA and Asia/Pacific reportable segments by $Hildon, $23.1 million and $9.0 million, respectiyeIncreases in maintenance revenue
are primarily driven by increases in our customstdllation base, expanded product usage fromiegististomers, and increased adoption of
our enhanced support services programs.

Services Revenue

Services revenue includes fees earned through imgsitation services, professional services anditiasimanagement services.
Implementation services include product installaioproduct configurations, and retrofit customwafe modifications (“CSMs”).
Professional services include business consultaackinical consultancy, on-site support servic&\I€, product education, and testing
services. These services include new customer imgaiéations as well as existing customer migrattongew products or new releases of
existing products. During the period in which n@sential services revenue is being deferred, diredtincremental costs related to the
performance of these services are also being éefebruring the period in which essential serviea®nue is being deferred, direct and indi
costs related to the performance of these seraiaealso being deferred.
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Services revenue during the year ended Decemb@033B, as compared to the same period in 2012 demtday $9.5 million, or 7.2%.
Implementation and professional services decremste EMEA and Asia/Pacific reportable segmen$By4 million and $5.0 million,
respectively, partially offset by an increase ia &mericas reportable segment of $4.9 million. ®ewrevenue in the Americas reportable
segment increased $0.9 million due to the addiifib@RCC.

Hosting Revenu

Hosting revenue includes fees earned through hpatid on-demand arrangements. All revenue fronigpand ondemand arrangements tl
does not qualify for treatment as separate unitecobunting, which include set-up fees, implemeémadr customization services, and product
support services, are included in hosting reveRoe2013, hosting revenue also includes fees painlb clients as a part of the acquired EE
products. Fees may be paid by our clients or dirést their customers and may be a percentageeofitidlerlying transaction amount, a fixed
fee per executed transaction or a monthly feedoheustomer enrolled.

Hosting revenue during the year ended Decembe2@l3 as compared to the same period in 2012 inedebE49.6 million, or 132.0%, of

which $141.8 million, or 125.1%, was due to theiidd of ORCC and OPAY. The remaining increasetistauted to new customers adopting
our on-demand or hosted offerings and existingarusts adding new functionality or services.

Operating Expenses

2013 2012
% of Total % Change % of Total
$ Change
Amount Revenue vs 2012 vs 2012 Amount Revenue
Operating expense

Cost of licenst $ 25,32¢ 29% $ 1,73 7.2% $ 23,59. 3.5%
Cost of maintenance, services and hos 318,51! 36.8%  116,46: 57.€%  202,05: 30.2%
Research and developm 142,55 16.5% 8,79¢ 6.6%  133,75¢ 20.1%
Selling and marketin 99,82¢ 11.5% 12,77¢ 14.7% 87,05¢ 13.1%
General and administrati\ 99,30( 11.5% (9,447 -8.7% 108,74 16.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 56,35¢ 6.5% 19,35 52.2% 37,00¢ 5.6%
Total operating expens $741,88( 85.% $149,67: 25.2% $592,20° 88.£%

Total operating expenses for the year ended Dece®1h013 increased $149.7 million, or 25.3%,@smared to the same period of 2012.
Included in operating expenses for the year endszeBber 31, 2013 were approximately $108.1 miliod $22.9 million of operating
expenses from the addition of ORCC and OPAY, resgag. There were approximately $26.2 million &@il.5 million of significant
transaction related expenses incurred in the yaated December 31, 2013, and December 31, 205&atéeely. Significant transaction
related expenses for the year ended December 23,i@6luded $10.6 million of personnel related geasrand $15.6 million of professional
and other expenses related to the acquisition dZOBNd OPAY. Excluding these expenses, total operakpenses increased $24.0 milliol
the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the gariod in 2012 primarily due to the inclusionSdf operations for a full twelve mont|

Cost of License

The cost of license for our products sold inclutihesl-party software royalties as well as the amation of purchased and developed software
for resale. In general, the cost of license formaducts is minimal because we internally develast of the software components, the cost o
which is reflected in research and developmentesgas it is incurred as technological feasibdincides with general availability of the
software components.

Cost of license increased $1.7 million, or 7.3%hia twelve months ended December 31, 2013 comparte same period in 2012 primarily
due to an increase in third party royalty fees.

Cost of Maintenance, Services and Hosting

Cost of maintenance, services and hosting incladsts to provide hosting services and both thesaafsthaintaining our software products as
well as the service costs required to deliver aithsind support software at customer sites. Maarea costs include the efforts associated witt
providing the customer with upgrades, 24-hour liglgk, post go-live (remote) support and productyqne support for software that was
previously installed at a customer location. Serwosts include human resource costs and othefeimizil costs such as travel and training
required for both pre go-live and post go-live sappSuch efforts include project management, égjivproduct customization and
implementation, installation support, consultingnfiguration, and on-site support. Hosting coslateg to the acquired EBPP products include
payment card interchange fees, assessments pagdidaks and payment card processing fees.
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Cost of maintenance, services, and hosting incde®$&6.5 million, or 57.6% in the twelve months etdddecember 31, 2013 compared to the
same period in 2012. There were $79.4 million ab8l& million of ORCC and OPAY expenses, respedfivatided in the twelve months
ended December 31, 2013. Excluding these expeiiesost of maintenance, services and hostingasec$18.3 million in the twelve mon
ended December 31, 2013 compared to the same peraid 2 primarily due the inclusion of S1 operatidor a full twelve months.

Research and Developme

Research and development (“R&D") expenses are pilyrtauman resource costs related to the creatforew products, improvements made
to existing products as well as compatibility witiw operating system releases and generationsaifaee.

Research and development expense increased $8@mir 6.6% in the twelve months ended Decemlie2813 compared to the same
period in 2012. There were $7.2 million and $0.8iom of ORCC and OPAY expenses, respectively, dddehe twelve months ended
December 31, 2013. Excluding these expenses, Biotoesearch and development increased $1.0milti the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013 compared to the same periodlia gmarily due to the inclusion of S1 operatiémsa full twelve months.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing includes both the costs edléb selling our products to current and prospeatustomers as well as the costs related to
promoting the Company, its products and the resegfiforts required to measure customers’ futurelaeamd satisfaction levels. Selling costs
are primarily the human resource and travel cadéged to the effort expended to license our prtsdand services to current and potential
clients within defined territories and/or industri@s well as the management of the overall relshiprwith customer accounts. Selling costs
also include the costs associated with assistisigildiitors in their efforts to sell our productslaservices in their respective local markets.
Marketing costs include costs needed to promot€tmapany and its products as well as perform ouiaeanarket research to help us better
understand what products our customers are lodkinim the future. Marketing costs also include tosts associated with measuring
customers’ opinions toward the Company, our proglaod personnel.

Selling and marketing expense increased $12.8amjlbr 14.7% in the twelve months ended Decembg2@13 compared to the same period
in 2012. There were $6.3 million and $1.0 millidnQRCC and OPAY expenses, respectively, addedanwielve months ended December
2013. Excluding these expenses, the cost of salimgmarketing increased $5.5 million in the twetvenths ended December 31, 2013
compared to the same period in 2012 primarily dheginiclusion of S1 operations for a full twelve rttem

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses are primauitgdn resource costs including executive salaridsanefits, personnel administration
costs, and the costs of corporate support funcganh as legal, administrative, human resourcesiaadce and accounting.

General and administrative expense decreased $Bignpor 8.7%, in the twelve months ended Decenftie 2013. There were approximat
$26.2 million and $31.5 million of significant trsaxction related expenses incurred in the yearsdebdeember 31, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively. Significant transaction relatggenses for the year ended December 31, 201&let|$10.6 million of personnel related
charges and $15.2 million of professional and oexgrenses related to the acquisition of ORCC andNOEXxcluding these expenses, total
general and administrative expenses decreasedr#idn in the twelve months ended December 31,@timarily due to a net release of |
debt allowances.

Depreciation and Amortizatio

Depreciation and amortization expense increasedi$tflion, or 52.3%, in the twelve months ended:&maber 31, 2013 compared to the s
period in 2012 primarily due to acquisition relatathngibles.
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Other Income and Expense

2013 2012

% of Total % Change % of Total

$ Change
Amount Revenue vs 2012 vs 2012 Amount Revenue
Other income (expense

Interest expens $(27,227) -3.1%  $(16,809) 161.2%  $(10,41)) -1.€%
Interest incomi 65¢ 0.1% (25%) -27.% 914 0.1%
Other, ne (3,327) -0.4% (3,726 -933.% 39¢ 0.1%
Total other income (expens $(29,889) -3.5%  $(20,78Y 228.%% $ (9,109 -1.4%

Interest expense for the year ended December 3B, i2@8reased $16.8 million, or 161.3%, as compé&retie same period in 2012 due to the
increase in debt obtained in 2013 partially useftital acquisitions. Interest income for the yeatezhDecember 31, 2013 decreased $0.3
million as compared to the same period in 2012.

Other, net consists of foreign currency lossesahdr noneperating items. Foreign currency losses for treeyended December 31, 2013

2012 were $2.7 million and $0.8 million, respediyv&Ve also realized a gain of $1.6 million on 8t&res of S1 stock previously held as
available-for-sale during the year ended Decemef312.

Income Taxes

2013 2012
% of Total $ Change % Change % of Total
Amount Revenue vs 2012 vs 2012 Amount Revenue
Income tax expense $29,29: 3.4% $12,86¢ 78.%  $16,42: 2.5%
Effective Income tax rat 31.%% 25.2%

The effective tax rates for the years ended Dece®ihe2013 and 2012 were approximately 31.4% an2925respectively. Our effective tax
rate each year varies from our federal statutamy lbacause we operate in multiple foreign countsiesre we apply their tax laws and rates
which vary from those that we apply to the inconeegenerate from our domestic operations. Of theidorjurisdictions in which we operate,
our December 31, 2013 effective tax rate was nmpatted by our operations in Canada, Singaporgh3dtica and United Kingdom and o
December 31, 2012 effective tax rates were mosaatgal by our operations in Canada, Ireland andedrifingdom where the tax rates are
significantly less than the United States. Ourafie rate is negatively impacted by the inclusidrcertain foreign earnings in our US tax
return. The effective tax rate for the year endeddnber 31, 2013 was positively impacted by (i® $nillion benefit related to Research anc
Development tax incentives, (ii) the recognitiorsdf4 million in tax benefits, including $0.5 mdh of R&D credits, as a result of
implementing the 2012 American Taxpayer Relief &atl (iii) the release of $1.6 million valuationcallance, primarily related to US capital
losses that were utilized in the year. The effectax rate for the year ended December 31, 201%wasisively impacted by (i) a $1.6 million
release of an accrued tax liability and (ii) a faalde adjustment of $1.7 million to the Company'sertain tax positions. The accrued tax
liability and the accrual for uncertain positions ao longer required as the statute of limitatiexgired for the tax returns to which they are
associated during 2012.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2011

Revenues
2012 2011
% of Total % Change % of Total
$ Change
Amount Revenue vs 2011 vs 2011 Amount Revenue
Revenues
Initial license $125,69° 18.¢% $ 51,50 69.2% $ 74,19( 16.(%
Monthly license 96,14¢ 14.2% (19,48) -16.6% 115,63( 24.%%
License 221,84t 33.2% 32,02¢ 16.% 189,82( 40.8%
Maintenance 199,87t 30.(% 51,51¢ 34.1% 148,35 31.%
Services 131,53t 19.7% 51,76¢ 64.%% 79,77( 17.2%
Hosting 113,32: 17.(% 66,17 140.4% 47,14¢ 10.1%
Total revenue $666,57¢ 100.% $201,48: 43.% $465,09! 100.(%

Total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2@t@ased $201.5 million, or 43.3%, as comparatiécsame period in 2011. The increast
is the result of a $32.0 million, or 16.9%, increds license revenue, a $51.5 million, or 34.7%réase in maintenance revenue, a $51.8
million, or 64.9%, increase in services revenue @af66.2 million, or 140.4%, increase in hostingerale.

The increase in total revenue for the year endezkdber 31, 2012 as compared to the year ended beca&h, 2011 was due to a $106.5
million, or 43.1%, increase in the Americas repolessegment, a $53.1 million, or 32.2%, increastaénEMEA reportable segment and a $
million, or 76.8%, increase in the Asia/Pacific oefable segment.

The addition of S1 contributed $161.9 million, @& &%, of the increase in total revenue for the yemied December 31, 2012. Excluding the
impact of the addition of S1, total revenue for ylear ended December 31, 2012 increased $39.@mibr 8.5%. The increase in total revel
excluding the addition of S1, is primarily due nerieased sales and an increase in the numberzndfgirojects that were completed and
recognized during the year ended December 31, @88t@mpared to the same period in 2011.

License Revent

As a result of the maturation of certain retail p@&yt engine products, certain of our initial licefiees are being recognized ratably over an
extended period. Initial license and capacity tbes are recognized as revenue ratably over am@ateperiod are included in our monthly
license revenues. Due to the relative size andmgugeriods over which these revenues are beinggrézed, our monthly license revenues
have decreased as compared to the same period1n 20

Initial License Revenu

Initial license revenue during the year ended Ddmm31, 2012 compared to the same period in 20tieased by $51.5 million, or 69.4%, of
which $6.1 million, or 8.2% was due to the additafrs1. All reportable segments experienced in@gasinitial license revenue with the
Americas, EMEA and Asia/Pacific reportable segmémtseasing by $4.3 million, $32.1 million and $1%nillion, respectively. The increase
in initial license revenue in the Asia/Pacific refadrle segment is largely attributable to custongersserting from perpetual license
arrangements to term and transaction based liGenaegements during the year ended December 32,&0tompared to the same period in
2011. Included in the above are capacity relatedmee increases of $9.4 million, $17.7 million &id3 million in the Americas, EMEA and
Asia/Pacific reportable segments, respectivelyhéyear ended December 31, 2012 as compared sathe period in 2011.

Monthly License Reveni

Monthly license revenue decreased $19.5 millior,®B%, during the year ended December 31, 201&mpared to the same period in 2011
with the Americas and EMEA reportable segmentseatesing by $5.0 million and $16.4 million, respeelyy partially offset by an increase in
the Asia/Pacific reportable segment of $1.9 millitonthly license revenue increased $5.0 milliard 8%, due to the addition of S1. The
decrease in monthly license revenues is primatily i a decrease in the amount of initial licersenue that is being recognized ratably ovel
an extended period as a result of the maturatiaedéin retail payment engine products.

Maintenance Revent

Maintenance revenue during the year ended Dece®ih@012, as compared to the same period in 2@t&ased $51.5 million, or 34.7%, of
which $48.3 million, or 32.6%, was due to the aiddiof S1. Maintenance revenue increased in therfag EMEA and Asia/Pacific
reportable segments by $26.6 million, $13.6 milloowd $11.3 million, respectively. Increases in neiance revenue are primarily driven by
increases in our customer installation base, exg@dpdoduct usage from existing customers, and aser adoption of enhanced support
programs.
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Services Revenue

Services revenue during the year ended Decemb@032, as compared to the same period in 2011 isedelay $51.8 million, or 64.9%, of
which $43.3 million, or 54.2%, was due to the aiddiof S1. Implementation and professional servineseased in the Americas, EMEA and
Asia/Pacific reportable segment by $19.3 millioh9$® million and $13.5 million, respectively.

Hosting Revenu

Hosting revenue during the year ended Decembe2@l2 as compared to the same period in 2011 ineded&6.2 million, or 140.4%, of whi
$59.2 million, or 125.6%, was due to the additiéBd. The remaining increase is primarily in the éioas reportable segment and can be
attributed to new customers adopting our on-denwairithsted offerings and existing customers addaw functionality or services.

Operating Expenses

2012 2011
% of Total % Change % of Total
$ Change
Amount Revenue vs 2011 vs 2011 Amount Revenue
Operating expense

Cost of licenst $ 23,590 35% $ 8,17 53.% $ 15,41¢ 3.2%
Cost of maintenance, services and hos 202,05: 30.2% 83,18¢ 70.% 118,86t 25.6%
Research and developm 133,75¢ 20.1% 43,58: 48.2% 90,17¢ 19.4%
Selling and marketin 87,054 13.1% 6,132 7.€% 80,92: 17.4%
General and administrati\ 108,74 16.5% 37,32: 52.2% 71,42t 15.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 37,00 5.6% 14,94¢ 67.6% 22,05] 4.7%
Total operating expens $592,20° 88.% $193,34 48.5% $398,86- 85.6%

Total operating expenses for the year ended Dece®1h@012 increased $193.3 million, or 48.5%,@sgared to the same period of 2011.
Included in operating expenses for the year endsméBber 31, 2012 were approximately $159.0 milibaperating expenses related to the
addition of S1. Additionally, there were approxielgt$31.5 million and $6.7 million of significanainsaction related expenses incurred in the
year ended December 31, 2012, and December 31, &&fectively. Included in the $31.5 million ofsificant transaction related expen

for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $14lmof severance expense and accelerated $fzesed compensation expense, $4.1 mi
related to investment banking fees, $5.4 millidatesl to IT outsource termination charges and detger relocations, $4.9 million related to
facility termination charges and $2.9 million oftétibnal professional fees related to the acquisitf S1. Excluding these expenses, total
operating expenses increased $9.5 million in tize gaded December 31, 2012 compared to the saroel pe2011.

Cost of License

Cost of license increased $8.2 million, or 53.08¢hie year ended December 31, 2012 compared &athe period in 2011 primarily from $
million of amortization for S1 acquisition software

Cost of Maintenance, Services and Hosting

Cost of maintenance, services, and hosting incde®88.2 million, or 70.0%, in the year ended Decenfi, 2012 compared to the same pe¢
in 2011 primarily as a result of $77.7 million frahe addition of S1 and $6.6 million from an inarean the recognition of deferred costs
associated with various go-live events.

Research and Developme

Research and development expense increased $480k nar 48.3%, in the year ended December 31228impared to the same period in
2011 primarily as a result of $36.8 million fromethddition of S1 and $6.8 million in increased perel costs.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expense increased $6.1 mijlibo 7.6%, in the year ended December 31, 2012aced to the same period in 2011
primarily as a result of $12.0 million from the &ifth of S1, partially offset by a $5.9 million dease in personnel related expenses.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expense increased $8iMi8n, or 52.3%, in the year ended December 31,2compared to the same period in
2011. There were approximately $31.5 million and7$8illion of significant transaction related expgen incurred in the year ended
December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, respctincluded in the $31.5 million of significamahsaction related expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2012 were $14.2 million of sewe expense and accelerated share-based compermsqgense, $4.1 million related to
investment banking fees, $5.4 million related tmlisource termination charges, and data centcatbns, $4.9 million related to facility
termination charges and $2.9 million of additiopaifessional fees related to the acquisition of &iditionally, $11.3 million of the increase
was the result of the addition of S1. Excludingsthexpenses, total general and administrative eggencreased $1.2 million in the year er
December 31, 2012 compared to the same periodlih, 2Bimarily due to decreased personnel relatpem@ses.

Depreciation and Amortizatio

Depreciation and amortization expense increased®$hdlion, or 67.8%, in the year ended DecemberZBil2 compared to the same period ir
2011 primarily as a result of $12.7 million fromethddition of S1 and $1.1 million from the addit@iNorth Data and Distra acquisition
intangible amortization.

Other Income and Expense

2012 2011
% of Total $ Change % Change % of Total
Amount Revenue vs 2011 vs 2011 Amount Revenue
Other income (expense

Interest expens (10,417 -1.€% (7,986 328.5% (2,437 -0.5%
Interest incom: $ 914 0.1% $ (40)) -30.5% $1,31¢ 0.2%
Other, ne 39¢ 0.1% 1,201 -149.&% (802) -0.2%
Total other income (expens $ (9,109 -1.4%  $(7,186) 374.%  $(1,91¢ -0.4%

Interest expense for the year ended December 32, i2@reased $8.0 million as compared to the samiegin 2011 due to the increased debt
used to partially fund the S1 acquisition during finst quarter of 2012.

Interest income for the year ended December 312 #etreased $0.4 million, or 30.5%, as comparglde@ame period in 2011. The decrease
in interest income is primarily due to $0.5 millioninterest related to a tax refund recognizedrduthe year ended December 31, 2011.

Other, net consists of foreign currency lossesahdr noneperating items. Other income (expense) for thesyeaded December 31, 2012

2011 were $0.4 million and $(0.8) million, respeety. We realized a gain of $1.6 million on the ®aof S1 stock previously held as
available-for-sale during the year ended Decemhep312.

Income Taxes

2012 2011
% of Total $ Change % Change % of Total
Amount Revenue vs 2011 vs 2011 Amount Revenue
Income tax expense $16,42: 2.5% $(2,039 -11.(%  $18,46: 4.C%
Effective Income tax rat 25.2% 28.71%

The effective tax rates for the years ended Deceibe2012 and 2011 were approximately 25.2% an@928respectively. Our effective tax
rate each year varies from our federal statutaey because we operate in multiple foreign countsilesre we apply their tax laws and rates
which vary from those that we apply to the inconeegenerate from our domestic operations. Of theidorjurisdictions in which we operate,
our December 31, 2012 and 2011 effective tax nagre most impacted by our operations in Canadmndeand United Kingdom where the
tax rates are significantly less than the Uniteaté®t The effective tax rate for the year endeceBwer 31, 2012 was positively impacted by a
$1.6 million release of an accrued tax liabilitydanfavorable adjustment of $1.7 million to the @amy’s uncertain tax positions. The accruec
tax liability and the accrual for uncertain pogitsoare no longer required as the statute of limitatexpired for the tax returns to which they
associated during 2012. The effective tax ratéHeryear ended December 31, 2011 was positivelpdabepl by the release of a $3.1 million
liability due to the expiration of a contractualightion related to the transfer of certain intefleal property rights from the United States to
non-United States entities. The effective tax fatghe year ended December 31, 2011 was alsoimgitmpacted by a favorable adjustment
of $4.4 million to our reserve for uncertain taxsjiions partially offset by the reversal of relatbaferred tax assets of $2.4 million.
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Segment Results for Years Ended December 31, 202812 and 2011

The following table presents revenues and incomss)ibefore income taxes for the periods indichiedeographic region (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Revenues
Americas $ 541,89( $352,19° $245,70:
EMEA 228,67 218,01! 164,87:
Asia/Pacific 94,35¢ 96,36" 54,51¢
$ 864,92¢ $ 666,57¢ $465,09!
Income (loss) before income tax
Americas $ 145,49t $ 103,16! $ 84,39.
EMEA 87,52. 78,84¢ 45,75¢
Asia/Pacific 33,92! 32,67 6,962
Corporate (173,78) (149,419 (72,796

$ 93,15¢ $ 65,26¢ $ 64,31

Reportable segment results are impacted by bodletdéixpenses and allocated shared function coslisasuglobal product development, global
customer operations and global product manager8éated function costs are allocated to the geograpportable segments as a percentage
of revenue or as a percentage of headcount. Alirddtrative costs that are not directly attributabt reasonably allocable to a geographic
segment as well as amortization on acquired intdegiare reported in the corporate line item.

The increase in revenue and income before taxabdoAmericas geographic segment is primarily @uthé acquisitions completed during the
year ended December 31, 2013. The Corporate bm's loss before income taxes increased for the geded December 31, 2013 compared
to the same period in 2012. This is primarily doi@n increase in Corporate depreciation and anatidiz charges of $12.4 million and an
increase in interest expense of $19.6 million ih26ompared to 2012. This was partially offset lmearease of significant transaction related
expenses in 2013 of approximately $5.3 million caneg to 2012.

The increase in revenue and income before taxeslfgeographic segments is due to the acquisitiomsg the year ended December 31,
2012. The Corporate line item’s loss before incéaxes increased for the year ended December 32, @fhipared to the same period in 2011
due to approximately $31.5 million in significardtsaction related expenses related to the adquisit S1 compared to $6.7 million in the
same period for 2011. In addition, Corporate dept@n and amortization expense increased $22 [Bomilor the year ended December 31,
2012 primarily due to the acquisition of S1. Instrexpense increased Corporate expense by $8idmyjktar ended December 31, 2012
compared to the same period in 2011. The remaintrgase for the year ended December 31, 2012 aechpathe same period in 2011 is
to additional corporate operating costs incurreith wie addition of S1. These costs include botHidaive operating costs incurred before the
synergy savings plans were fully implemented ardeased corporate costs added to support the liztggrated Company.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
General

Our primary liquidity needs are: (i) to fund nornoglerating expenses; (ii) to meet the interest@mttipal requirements of our outstanding
indebtedness; (iii) to fund cash portions of acigjoiss, (iv) to fund stock repurchases and (v)und capital expenditures and lease payments.
We believe these needs will be satisfied using ashgenerated by our operations, our cash anld egaivalents and available borrowings
under our Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $95.1 million ishcand cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivatamsst of highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.
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As of December 31, 2013, $49.9 million of the $9%illion of cash and cash equivalents was heldunyforeign subsidiaries. If these funds
were needed for our operations in the U.S. we wbeldequired to accrue and pay U.S. taxes to liepathese funds. However, our intent is tc
permanently reinvest these funds outside the Uh& oar current plans do not demonstrate a neegpatriate them to fund our U.S. operatic

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth summary cash flovedar the periods indicated (amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net cash provided by (used in)
Operating activitie: $ 138,41 $ (9,265 $ 83,46
Investing activities (410,71 (342,94() (47,687
Financing activitie: 291,64( 233,90: (8,727

2013 compared to 2012

Net cash flows provided by operating activitiestfue year ended December 31, 2013 was $138.4 mibonpared to used of $9.3 milli
during the same period in 2012. The comparativeogdencrease was primarily due to an additional.8#Rillion in cash receipts from
customers and an increase in net income of $13li@miln addition, we paid $20.7 million to settlee IBM alliance liability in 2012. Our
current policy is to use our operating cash flounarrily for funding capital expenditures, lease papnts, stock repurchases and acquisitions.

During 2013, we paid $250.2 million, net of $9.9limn in cash acquired, to acquire ORCC. In additizve paid $113.9 million, net of $25.9
million in cash acquired, to acquire OPAY. We p&idt.0 million, net of $0.2 million in cash acquiréd acquire PTESA. We also used cas
$32.6 million to purchase software, property andigent.

In 2013, we received proceeds of $300.0 milliomfrour Term Credit Facility to fund our purchased®CC. In addition, we received
proceeds of $300.0 million from our Senior Notesmtythe year ended December 31, 2013. We usedtiampof the proceeds to pay the
$188.0 million balance of the Revolving Credit Figgiand to repurchase $80.9 million of common ktd&/e repaid $30.9 million of the Term
Credit Facility during the year ended December2R1L3. In addition, during the year ended DecemtefB813, we received proceeds of $28.7
million, including corresponding excess tax bemsefitom the exercises of stock options and theaisse of common stock under our 1999
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, and@s&hillion for the repurchase of restricted stackl performance shares for tax
withholdings. We paid $17.0 million in debt issuarmosts in 2013. We also made payments to thirg-pastitutions, primarily related to debt
and capital leases, totaling $14.0 million.

We may decide to use cash to acquire new produadtservices or enhance existing products and ssrtimrough acquisitions of other
companies, product lines, technologies and persoonthrough investments in other companies.

We believe that our existing sources of liquiditbgluding cash on hand and cash provided by operatttivities, will satisfy our projected
liquidity requirements, which primarily consistswbrking capital requirements, for the next twetenths and foreseeable future.

2012 compared to 2011

Net cash flows provided (used) by operating adésifor the year ended December 31, 2012 amouat$(Pt3) million as compared

$83.5 million during the same period in 2011. Thenparative period decrease was principally thelresahe $20.7 million repayment of the
IBM Alliance agreement liability due to the termiiza of the Alliance in December 2012, $19.4 miilim S1 acquisition related acquired
liabilities, $6.9 million of transaction fees reddtto recent acquisitions, $8.4 million paid fostracturing related severance related to the S1
acquisition, $4.1 million related to facility clags, and an additional $9.9 million in tax paymehisng the year ended December 31, 2012.
The remainder of the decrease is primarily duénang of the collection of receivables relatedhe tntegration activities of the recent
acquisitions. We use our operating cash flow prilpéor funding capital expenditures, our share lbagk program, and acquisitions.
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, we pai@.92million, net of $97.7 million in cash acquireéd acquire S1. In addition, we paid
$4.6 million, net of $0.1 million in cash acquireéd,acquire North Data and $49.8 million to acquistra. We used cash of $16.7 million to
purchase software, property and equipment.

In 2012, we received proceeds of $295.0 milliomfrour Credit Agreement to partially fund our pursbaf S1. We received an additional
$24.0 million from the revolving portion of our Glié Agreement, which we subsequently used to gdirfiand the repurchase of 2,492,600
common stock warrants from IBM for $29.6 million.eWeceived $11.9 million from IBM for the exercizel1,470 common stock warrants at
$27.50 and 350,000 at $33.00 per share. Therecanarrants outstanding at December 31, 2012. Waide}13.8 million and $6.0 million of
the Term Credit Facility and Revolving Credit Fagilrespectively, during the year ended Decemlie2812. In addition, in 2012 we received
proceeds of $21.7 million, including correspondixgess tax benefits, from the exercises of stotbmpand the issuance of common stock
under our 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, asdedeand used $57.8 million for the repurchase®ofmon stock and $3.3 million for
the repurchase of restricted stock for tax withirgd. We also made payments to third-party instifig, primarily related to other debt and
capital leases, totaling $8.2 million.

Debt
Credit Agreement

As of December 31, 2013, we had $455.4 million $8d0.0 million outstanding under the Term portiéiCoedit Agreement and our Senior
Notes, respectively, with up to $250.0 million efused borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facpibrtion of the Credit Agreement,
amended. The amount of unused borrowings actuedlifadble varies in accordance with the terms ofdgeeement. The Credit Agreement
contains certain affirmative and negative covenantduding limitations on the incurrence of indethbess, asset dispositions, acquisitions,
investments, dividends and other restricted paysdienhs and transactions with affiliates. The @radreement also contains financial
covenants relating to maximum permitted leveragje end the minimum fixed charge coverage ratice Tnedit Agreement does not contain
any subjective acceleration features and doesawa any required payment or principal reductioredcite and is included as a long-term
liability in our consolidated balance sheet. At Beaber 31, 2013 (and at all times during the penweel)vere in compliance with our debt
covenants. The interest rate in effect at Decer@ibeR013 for our Credit Agreement was 2.42%.

On August 20, 2013, the Company completed a $3®dlion offering of 6.375% Senior Notes due in 20#e “Senior Notes”) at an issue
price of 100% of the principal amount in a privatacement for resale to qualified institutional btg, The Senior Notes bear an interest rate
6.375% per annum, payable semi-annually in are@amugust 15 and February 15 of each year, commgran February 15, 2014. Interest
will accrue from August 20, 2013. The Senior Notéls mature on August 15, 2020.

We are not currently dependent upon short-termifigycind the limited availability of credit in tinearket has not affected our Credit
Agreement, our liquidity or materially impacted dunding costs. However, due to the existing uragety in the capital and credit markets anc
the impact of the current economic conditions onaperating results and financial conditions, theant of available unused borrowings
under our existing Revolving portion of our Crefigreement may be insufficient to meet our needgaaralir access to capital outside of our
Credit Agreement may not be available on termstedéde to us or at all.

Stock Repurchase Progral

As of September 12, 2012, our Board of Directord dygproved a stock repurchase program authoriznfram time to time as market and
business conditions warrant, to acquire up to $261#llion of our common stock. On September 13,2@r Board of Directors approved the
repurchase of up to 2,500,000 shares of our constumk, or up to $113.0 million in place of the rénirdg repurchase amounts previously
authorized. On September 26, 2012, we repurchadé@ 800 common stock warrants from IBM for $29.i@iom.

In July 2013, our Board of Directors approved adiéahal $100 million for the stock repurchase piang.

We repurchased 1,656,808 shares for $80.9 milliateuthe program during the year ended Decembe2®B. Under the program to date, we
have purchased 11,176,680 shares for approxim82§.8 million. The maximum remaining authorizedgarchase under the stock
repurchase program was approximately $109.7 midi@of December 31, 2013. On February 24, 2014Ctmepany’s Board of Directors
approved an additional $100 million for the stoefurchase program. Subsequently, the Company pasche&sed approximately 930,000
shares for $54.0 million.
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There is no guarantee as to the exact number ofésltaat will be repurchased by us. Repurchasegsla@e returned to the status of author
but unissued shares of common stock. In March 28@5board of directors approved a plan under RQl5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 to facilitate the repurchase of sharesafmon stock under the existing stock repurchasgram. Under our Rule 10b5-1 plan, we
have delegated authority over the timing and amofirepurchases to an independent broker who datelsave access to inside information
about the Company. Rule 10b5-1 allows us, throtghrtdependent broker, to purchase shares at tifes we ordinarily would not be in the
market because of self-imposed trading blackoubgsy such as the time immediately preceding tlieagnthe fiscal quarter through a period
three business days following our quarterly earirgdease.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

We lease office space and equipment under operaiisgs that run through October 2028. Additionally have entered into a Credit
Agreement that matures in 2018 and have issueaSHpies that mature in 2020.

Contractual obligations as of December 31, 201%ar®llows (in thousands):

Payments due by Perioc

Less than: More than
Total year 1-3 years 3-5years 5 years
Contractual Obligation
Operating lease obligatiol $ 96,72¢ $ 18,36( $ 27,508 $ 17,117 $ 33,74¢
Term Credit Facility 455,38 47,31 136,02 272,04 —
Senior Note: 300,00( — — — 300,00t
Term Credit Facility interest (Z 35,65¢ 10,567 16,70: 8,38¢ —
Senior Notes Interest (. 133,87! 19,12¢ 38,25( 38,25( 38,25(
Financed internally used software 9,30( 3,00( 6,30( — —
Total $1,030,93¢ $ 98,36¢ $224,78. $335,79:  $371,99¢

(1) Based upon the debt outstanding and interestmatffect at December 31, 2013 of 2.4:

(2) Based upon Senior Notes issued of $300 millioreatgmnum rate of 6.375¢

(3) During the year ended December 31, 2012, thagamy financed through the vendor a five-year kgeagreement for certain internally
used software for $14.8 million with annual paynsediie in April through 2016. Of this amount, $9.ion remains outstanding at
December 31, 2013 with $3.0 million included inatleurrent liabilities and $6.3 million includedather non-current liabilities in our
consolidated balance she

We are unable to reasonably estimate the ultinratauat or timing of settlement of our reserves farome taxes under ASC 748¢come
Taxes. The liability for unrecognized tax benefits atd@mber 31, 2013 is $15.0 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Settlement Accounts

We enter into agreements with certain clients twgss payment funds on their behalf. When an adezhtdearing house or automated teller
machine network payment transaction is processtdnaaction is initiated to withdraw funds frone tthesignated source account and deposit
them into a settlement account, which is a trusbant maintained for the benefit of our clientssifultaneous transaction is initiated to
transfer funds from the settlement account to ttenided destination account. These “back to baekisactions are designed to settle at the
same time, usually overnight, such that we rectiiegfunds from the source at the same time asndssthe funds to their destination. However
due to the transactions being with various findrnaoistitutions there may be timing differences tredult in float balances. These funds are
maintained in accounts for the benefit of our déemhich are separate from our corporate assetaieAdo not take ownership of the funds, the
settlement accounts are not included in our balaheet. We are entitled to interest earned onuheé balances. The collection of interest on
these settlement accounts is considered in ourrdigtation of our fee structure for clients and esamts a portion of the payment for services
performed by us. The amount of settlement fundsf &ecember 31, 2013 was $284.0 million.

We do not have any other obligations that meetl#fmition of an off-balance sheet arrangementthatihave or are reasonably likely to have
a material effect on our consolidated financialestaents.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires that we make estimates and assurgpkiat affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, aatbdadlisclosure of contingent assets and liakslifge base our estimates on historical
experience and other assumptions that we belielse firoper and reasonable under the circumstavsontinually evaluate the
appropriateness of estimates and assumptions mgkd preparation of our consolidated financialesteents. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

The following key accounting policies are impacsgghificantly by judgments, assumptions and estimatsed in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. See Nofgature of Business and Summary of Significant Aatiog Policies,n the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for a further discussion eéneie recognition and other significant accounfioticies.

Revenue Recognitic

For software license arrangements for which sesvieadered are primarily related to installatiowafe software and are not considered
essential to the functionality of the software, @eognize revenue upon delivery, provided (1) thepersuasive evidence of an arrangement,
(2) collection of the fee is considered probabiel €3) the fee is fixed or determinable. In mosaagements, because vendor-specific objectiv
evidence of fair value does not exist for the Iseelement, we use the residual method to deterimenamount of revenue to be allocated to
the license element. Under the residual methodfiaihealue of all undelivered elements, such ast pontract customer support or other
products or services, is deferred and subsequestfygnized as the products are delivered or thecesrare performed, with the residual
difference between the total arrangement fee avnehiees allocated to undelivered elements beingatkal to the delivered element. For
software license arrangements in which we haveladed that collectability issues may exist, reveisuecognized as cash is collected,
provided all other conditions for revenue recogmithave been met. In making the determination béci@bility, we consider the
creditworthiness of the customer, economic conalitim the customer’s industry and geographic locatand general economic conditions.

Our sales focus continues to shift to more compleangements involving multiple products. As a ltesiithis shift to more complex, multiple
product arrangements, absent other factors, wiallgiexperience an increase in deferred revenuaesacorresponding decrease in current
period revenue due to differences in the timingeenue recognition for the respective productseRees from more complex arrangements
involving our newer products are typically recogrdaipon acceptance or first production use by tiséoener or are recognized over an
extended implementation period. For those arrang&nehere revenues are being deferred and we detethat related direct and increme
costs are recoverable, such costs are deferredudnsgéquently expensed as the revenues are recgnize

When a software license arrangement includes sarvaprovide significant modification or custontiaa of software, those services are
considered essential to the functionality of thitveare and are not considered to be separable thersoftware. Accounting for such services
delivered over time is referred to as contract antiag. Under contract accounting, we generallythsepercentage-of-completion method.
Under the percentage-of-completion method, we teoewvenue for the software license and services thheedevelopment and implementation
period, with the percentage of completion genenailgasured by the percentage of labor hours inctioreldte to estimated total labor hours for
each contract. Estimated total labor hours for eaxttract are based on the project scope, compleskl level requirements, and similarities
with other projects of similar size and scope. fhaise contracts subject to contract accountingnagts of total revenue and profitability un
the contract consider amounts due under extendedqrd terms. We recognize revenue under thesegamaents based on the lesser of
payments that become due or the revenue calculael the percentage-obmpletion method based on progress toward coroplétia givel
reporting period. For arrangements where we belieigeassured that no loss will be incurred unttierarrangement and fair value for
maintenance services does not exist, all revendefesred until services are completed.

Certain of our arrangements are through unrelat&dizltors or sales agents. In these situatiomsevaluate additional factors such as the
financial capabilities, the distribution capabégi and risks of rebates, returns, or credits ierdening whether revenue should be recognized
upon sale to the distributor or sales agent (‘is&)lor upon distribution to an end-customer (“sihifough”). Judgment is required in evaluating
the facts and circumstances of our relationship wie distributor or sales agent as well as ouradjmeg history and practices that can impact
the timing of revenue recognition related to thesangements.

We may execute more than one contract or agreewina single customer. The separate contractgm@esments may be viewed as one
multiple-element arrangement or separate arrangesnm@nrevenue recognition purposes. The Companajuates whether the agreements wer
negotiated as part of a single project, whetheptducts or services are interrelated or interddpst, whether fees in one arrangement are
tied to performance in another arrangement, andhehe&lements in one arrangement are essentia¢tuhctionality in another arrangemen
order to reach appropriate conclusions regardingtindr such arrangements are related or separaise Tonclusions can impact the timing of
revenue recognition related to those arrangements.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accoun

We maintain a general allowance for doubtful actstxased on our historical experience, along wdifitional customer-specific allowances.
We regularly monitor credit risk exposures in oac@unts receivable. In estimating the necessasl [vour allowance for doubtful accounts,
management considers the aging of our accounts/edide, the creditworthiness of our customers, eaaio conditions within the customer’s
industry, and general economic conditions, amohgrdiactors. Should any of these factors changegstimates made by management would
also change, which in turn would impact the leedur future provision for doubtful accounts. Sgieailly, if the financial condition of our
customers were to deteriorate, affecting theirtgttib make payments, additional customer-spegifavisions for doubtful accounts may be
required. Also, should deterioration occur in gaheconomic conditions, or within a particular isthy or region in which we have a number
of customers, additional provisions for doubtfut@ents may be recorded to reserve for potentiaréuibsses. Any such additional provisions
would reduce operating income in the periods inclvlihey were recorded.

Intangible Assets and Goodw

Our business acquisitions typically result in thearding of intangible assets, and the recordegkegabf those assets may become impaired in
the future. As of December 31, 2013 and Decembg2@12 our intangible assets, excluding goodwdlt, of accumulated amortization, were
$237.7 million and $127.9 million, respectively.eTtetermination of the value of such intangibleetsssequires management to make estin
and assumptions that affect the consolidated fiahstatements. We assess potential impairmentgangible assets when there is evidence
that events or changes in circumstances indicatgtie carrying amount of an asset may not be ereov Judgments regarding the existenc
impairment indicators and future cash flows relatethtangible assets are based on operationabipeaince of our businesses, market
conditions and other factors. Although there ahefent uncertainties in this assessment procesgstimates and assumptions used, includin
estimates of future cash flows, volumes, markeefration and discount rates, are consistent withiraarnal planning. If these estimates or
their related assumptions change in the futuremang be required to record an impairment chargelar a portion of our intangible assets.
Furthermore, we cannot predict the occurrence toféuimpairment-triggering events nor the impaatsevents might have on our reported
asset values. Future events could cause us tountmttiat impairment indicators exist and that igilble assets associated with acquired
businesses are impaired. Any resulting impairmesg tould have an impact on our results of operatio

Other intangible assets are amortized using tlaégéitrline method over periods ranging from threarg to 20 years.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our goodwill $69.2 million and $501.1 million, respectively.docordance with ASC 35Mtangibles
— Goodwill and Otherwe assess goodwill for impairment annually durimg fourth quarter of our fiscal year using Octobdalances or when
there is evidence that events or changes in cirtamoss indicate that the carrying amount of thetasgy not be recovered. We evaluate
goodwill at the reporting unit level and have idéetl our reportable segments, Americas, EMEA, As@/Pacific, as our reporting units.
Recoverability of goodwill is measured using a distted cash flow model incorporating discount ra@amensurate with the risks involved.
Use of a discounted cash flow model is common pradh impairment testing in the absence of avélatansactional market evidence to
determine the fair value.

The key assumptions used in the discounted cashviiduation model include discount rates, growtiesacash flow projections and terminal
value rates. Discount rates, growth rates and fbastprojections are the most sensitive and sudloleptio change as they require significant
management judgment. Discount rates are deternbipeding a weighted average cost of capital (“"WALChe WACC considers market a
industry data as well as Company-specific riskdectOperational management, considering industdyGompany-specific historical and
projected data, develops growth rates and cashgtoyections for each reporting unit. Terminal \&ahate determination follows common
methodology of capturing the present value of peigdecash flow estimates beyond the last projeptrtbd assuming a constant WACC and
low long-term growth rates. If the calculated fedtue is less than the current carrying value, immpent of the reporting unit may exist. If the
recoverability test indicates potential impairmemg, calculate an implied fair value of goodwill fitwe reporting unit. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined in a manner similar to homodwill is calculated in a business combinatiorthef implied fair value of goodwill excee
the carrying value of goodwill assigned to the répg unit, there is no impairment. If the carryimglue of goodwill assigned to a reporting
unit exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwvéth impairment charge is recorded to write dovenddrrying value. The calculated fair value
substantially exceeded the current carrying vatweall reporting units. No reporting units were aegl to be at risk of failing Step 1 of the
goodwill impairment test under ASC No. 350.
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Business Combinatior

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased at their acquisition date fair values. Gotichgi of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred and thefrtbe acquisition date fair values of the asaetpiired and the liabilities assumed. While we
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvatak assets acquired and liabilities assumékeadcquisition date, our estimates are
inherently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period, which beayp to one year from the acquisition
date, we record adjustments to the assets accamettabilities assumed with the correspondingeiffe goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of thees of assets acquired or liabilities assumedcheénier comes first, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded to our consolidated seatenof income.

Critical estimates in valuing certain intangiblsets include but are not limited to future expedash flows from customer relationships,
covenants not to compete and acquired developbdaties; brand awareness and market positiowesas assumptions about the perior
time the brand will continue to be used in our preidbortfolio; and discount rates. Management'svesties of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable, but whiegimherently uncertain and unpredictable and, r@sualt, actual results may differ from
estimates.

Other estimates associated with the accountingdquisitions may change as additional informatiecdmes available regarding the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, as more fullgwised in Note 2 to the consolidated financiakstants.

Stock-Based Compensation

Under the provisions of ASC 718, stock-based corsatéon cost for stock option awards is estimatatiegrant date based on the award’s fal
value as calculated by the Black-Scholes optionipgimodel and is recognized as expense ratablytbeeequisite service period. We
recognize stock-based compensation costs for boletshares that are expected to vest. The impamf@itures that may occur prior to
vesting is estimated and considered in the amdustense recognized. Forfeiture estimates arseehin subsequent periods when actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Bl&#holes option-pricing model requires various hightigmental assumptions including
volatility and expected option life. If any of teesumptions used in the Black-Scholes model chsiggédicantly, stock-based compensation
expense may differ materially for future awardsrirthat recorded for existing awards.

We also have stock options outstanding that vesh @ttainment by the Company of certain market itmms. In order to determine the grant
date fair value of these stock options that vesetian the achievement of certain market conditiaMdonte Carlo simulation model is used to
estimate (i) the probability that the performanoalgwill be achieved and (ii) the length of timeuéed to attain the target market price.

Long term incentive program performance share asv@itdrIP Performance Shares”) were granted dudr@ytears ended December 31, 2013
2012 and 2011 pursuant to our 2005 Incentive Alhase awards are earned, if at all, based on thiewwment over a specified period of
performance goals related to certain performandgicseln order to determine compensation expengetrecorded for these LTIP
Performance Shares, each quarter management esatbatprobability that the target performance goéll be achieved, if at all, and the
anticipated level of attainment.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, pursuant to our 2005 Incentive Plan, we gdngstricted share awards (“RSASs”).
These awards have requisite service periods of years and vest in increments of 33% on the arsavg dates of grants. Under each
arrangement, stock is issued without direct cothiéoemployee. We estimate the fair value of th&fisased upon the market price of our
stock at the date of grant. The RSA grants profodéhe payment of dividends on our common stociny, to the participant during the
requisite service period (vesting period) and thdigipant has voting rights for each share of camrstock.

In relation to the acquisition of S1 Corporatiorg amended the S1 Corporation 2003 Stock Incentau@ Bs previously amended and restatec
(the “S1 2003 Incentive Plan”). RSAs were grante&1 employees by S1 Corporation prior to the aifjom in accordance with the terms of
the Transaction Agreement (“Transaction RSAs”) uridle S1 2003 Incentive Plan. These are the onljtyegwards currently outstanding
under the S1 2003 Incentive Plan and no furthemtgraill be made.
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Under the terms of the Transaction Agreement withUpon the acquisition, the S1 Transaction RSA®wenverted to RSAs of our common
stock. These awards have requisite service pedbfirir years and vest in increments of 25% oratfigiversary of the original grant date of
November 9, 2011. If an employee is terminated euittcause within 12 months from the acquisitioreddte RSAs 100% vest. Stock is iss
without direct cost to the employee. The RSA gramntwide for the payment of dividends on our comratotk, if any, to the participant duri
the requisite service period (vesting period) dredgarticipant has voting rights for each shareomimon stock. The conversion of the
Transaction RSAs was treated as a modificationaanslich, they were valued immediately prior to aftel modification. We recognize
compensation expense for RSAs on a straight-lisestmver the requisite service period. The incraaidair value as measure upon
modification will be recognized on a straight-lipasis from modification date through the end ofrguisite service period.

The assumptions utilized in the Black-Scholes appidcing model as well as the description of thenp the stock-based awards are granted
under are described in further detail in Note Stbck-Based Compensation Plams the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Accounting for Income Tax

Accounting for income taxes requires significartgments in the development of estimates used oniectax calculations. Such judgments
include, but are not limited to, the likelihood weuld realize the benefits of net operating logsy¢arwards and/or foreign tax credit
carryforwards, the adequacy of valuation allowaneaes the rates used to measure transactions eviéglgh subsidiaries. As part of the process
of preparing our consolidated financial statementsare required to estimate our income taxescdh eéthe jurisdictions in which the
Company operates. The judgments and estimatesaunsetibject to challenge by domestic and foreigimggauthorities.

We account for income taxes in accordance with A8C. As part of our process of determining curtertliability, we exercise judgment in
evaluating positions we have taken in our tax retu¥We periodically assess our tax exposures aableh, or adjust, estimated unrecognized
benefits for probable assessments by taxing atigmrincluding the IRS, and various foreign aratestuthorities. Such unrecognized tax
benefits represent the estimated provision forimedaxes expected to ultimately be paid. It is jpbsshat either domestic or foreign taxing
authorities could challenge those judgments ortjpos and draw conclusions that would cause usdoritax liabilities in excess of, or realize
benefits less than, those currently recorded. titiad, changes in the geographical mix or estima@mount of annual pretax income could
impact our overall effective tax rate.

To the extent recovery of deferred tax assetstisnmuoe likely than not, we record a valuation altowe to reduce our deferred tax assets to th
amount that is more likely than not to be realiz&ithough we have considered future taxable incafag with prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies in assessing the need forumtrah allowance, if we should determine that weildaot be able to realize all or part of our
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmeméfterred tax assets would be charged to incortieeiperiod any such determination was
made. Likewise, in the event we are able to realimedeferred tax assets in the future in excesiseohet recorded amount, an adjustment to
deferred tax assets would increase income in thegany such determination was made.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stand@dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdaasU”) 2013-2, Comprehensive
Income (Topic 22C in the Accounting Standards Codifications (“ASCThis update requires separate presentation afdimponents that are
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me either on the face of the financial statet:ier in the notes to the financial
statements. This update also requires companigisdimse the income statement line items impacyeahly significant reclassifications. These
items are required for both interim and annual répg for public companies and were adopted byurind the year ended December 31, 2(

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-Hresentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WhietaOperating Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Bzis his update requires an entity to present an unrecognized ¢éaetit, or a portion of an
unrecognized tax benefit, as a reduction to a dedetax asset for a net operating loss carryforpamilar tax loss, or a tax credit
carryforward, except as follows: to the extent taaperating loss carryforward, a similar tax lassa tax credit carryforward is not available at
the reporting date under the tax law of the appliegurisdiction to settle any additional incomgda that would result from the disallowance

a tax position or the tax law of the applicablégdiction does not require the entity to use, dreddntity does not intend to use, the deferred te
asset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax hemsiild be presented in the financial statementslability and should not be combined
with deferred tax assets. This update is effedtivels in the first quarter of fiscal 2014 and shidue applied prospectively with retroactive
application permitted. We already disclose uncerax benefits in accordance with this standardatgpdnd no material change is expected.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Excluding the impact of changes in interest ratesthe uncertainty in the global financial markétgre have been no material changes to ou
market risk for the year ended December 31, 2018 cdhduct business in all parts of the world amdtlaereby exposed to market risks relatec
to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratéwe U.S. dollar is the single largest currencwhich our revenue contracts are denominate
Thus, any decline in the value of local foreignrencies against the U.S. dollar results in our petsland services being more expensive to a
potential foreign customer, and in those instandesre our goods and services have already beenprsaidresult in the receivables being m
difficult to collect. Additionally, any decline ithe value of the U.S. dollar in jurisdictions whéine revenue contracts are denominated in U.S
dollars and operating expenses are incurred ifl taraency will have an unfavorable impact to op@gmargins. We at times enter into
revenue contracts that are denominated in the pgsmdcal currency, principally in Australia, Cade the United Kingdom and other
European countries. This practice serves as aaldtedge to finance the local currency expensestiied in those locations. We have not
entered into any foreign currency hedging transastiWe do not purchase or hold any derivativeniiia instruments for the purpose of
speculation or arbitrage.

The primary objective of our cash investment policio preserve principal without significantly neasing risk. Based on our cash investment
and interest rates on these investments at Dece3ih@013, and if we maintained this level of sanitash investments for a period of one
year, a hypothetical ten percent increase or dserigeeffective interest rates would increase oretese interest income by less than ¢

million annually.

We had approximately $755.4 million of debt outsliag at December 31, 2013 with $300.0 million imi®e Notes and $455.4 million
outstanding under our Credit Facility. Our Seniat®$ are fixed-rate long-term debt obligations waith.375% interest rate. Our Credit Facility
has a floating rate which was 2.42% at DecembeP@13. The potential increase (decrease) in intesgsense for the Credit Facility from a
hypothetical ten percent increase (decrease) @téfe interest rates would be approximately $lillian.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The required consolidated financial statementsrates thereto are included in this Annual Repodtae listed in Part 1V, Item 15.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the supervision of and Wabparticipation of the Chief Executive Officer abief Financial Officer, performed an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosuwmstimls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a}&5(d 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as @ #nd of the period covered by this report, DecerBbhe2013.

In connection with our evaluation of disclosure ttols and procedures, we have concluded that tmep@ay’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective as of December 31, 2013.

b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Famcial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahoégorting and the preparation of our consoliddieancial statements for external purposes ir
accordance with United States Generally AcceptetbAnting Principles (“US GAAP”).

Under the supervision of, and with the participatad our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finand@dficer, management assessed the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting as of December 31, 2013. Management basegdsessment on criteria established in
Internal Contro—Integrated Framework (1992%sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission
(“COS0"). As permitted by applicable requirememtst evaluation of and conclusion on the effectiasnef internal control over financial
reporting exclude Official Payments Holdings, IF©PAY”), which was acquired by us on November @12. The assets recorded for this
business represented $243.8 million, or 14.5% otatal consolidated assets and contributed $23I®m or 2.7%, to total consolidated
revenues for 2013. Based on this evaluation, manageconcluded that the Company’s internal cordvelr financial reporting was effective
as of December 31, 2013.
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The effectiveness of the Company’s internal contk@r financial reporting as of December 31, 2048 lbeen audited by Deloitte & Touche,
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fand Deloitte & Touche, LLP has issued an ait&st report on our internal control over
financial reporting.

¢) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repting

On November 5, 2013, the Company completed itsiaitiqun of OPAY. The Company considers the transacinaterial to its results of
operations, cash flows and financial position fribve date of the acquisition through December 3132ihd believes the internal controls and
procedures of OPAY have had a material effect ex@bmpany’s internal control over financial repagti See Note Business Combination
to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Stateneeltsled in Item 81 for discussion of the acquisitand related financial data.

The Company is currently in the process of intéggag©PAY operations. The Company anticipates aesgfal integration of operations and
internal controls over financial reporting. Managamwill continue to evaluate its internal contoekr financial reporting as it executes
integration activities.

There have been no additional changes during tinep@oy’s quarter ended December 31, 2013 in oumateontrol over financial reporting
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchanct® that have materially affected, or are reasonblkély to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ACI Worldwide, Inc.
Omaha, Nebraska

We have audited the internal control over finanglorting of ACI Worldwide, Inc. and subsidiarigise “Company”) as of December 31,
2013, based on criteria establishedniternal Control — Integrated Framework (199B8sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. As described in Managgis Report on Internal Control over Financial Bejng, management excluded from
its assessment the internal control over finarreipbrting at Official Payments Holdings, Inc. (“O®A, which was acquired on November 5,
2013 and whose financial statements constitute $2#dlion, or 14.5%, of total consolidated assatd $23.3 million, or 2.7% of total
consolidate revenue as of and for the year endeéeer 31, 2013. Accordingly, our audit did notude the internal control over financial
reporting at OPAY. The Company’s management isaesiple for maintaining effective internal contmler financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal coantret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial ReportingOur responsibility is to express an opinion om @ompany'’s internal control over financial repagtbased

on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the compaipard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anlet preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internatteol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactionse@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngen@aent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédisonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods atebject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotisat the degree of compliance with the polideprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over fin&l reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year endexkBber 31, 2013 of the Company and our reportidatbruary 28, 2014 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLF

Omaha, Nebraska
February 28, 2014
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information under the heading “Executive Officef the Registrant” in Part 1, Item 1 of this ot0K is incorporated herein by referer

The information required by this item with resptcbur directors is included in the section entitlslominees” under “Proposal 1 — Election
of Directors” in our Proxy Statement for the Annivéeting of Stockholders to be held on June 18438e “2014 Proxy Statement”) and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Information included in the section entitled “Sectil6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complianicedur 2014 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Information related to the audit committee andahdit committee financial expert is included in geetion entitled “Report of Audit
Committee” in our 2014 Proxy Statement is incorpeateherein by reference. In addition, the inforimatincluded in the sections entitled
“Board Committees and Committee Meetings,” “Shalé@oRecommendations for Director Nominees” andat®holder Nomination Process”
within the “Corporate Governance” section of oul2®Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by refae

Code of Business Conduct and Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHti our directors, officers (including our pripal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer and contra)land employees. We have also adopted a CodéhafsHbr the Chief Executive Officer and
Senior Financial Officers (the “Code of Ethics™)hih applies to our Chief Executive Officer, ouri€ftFinancial Officer, our Chief
Accounting Officer, Controller, and persons perfargnsimilar functions. The full text of both the @®of Business Conduct and Ethics and
Code of Ethics is published on our website at wwiwarldwide.comin the “Investors — Corporate Governance” sectip.intend to disclose
future amendments to, or waivers from, certain wions of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethidsthe Code of Ethics on our website
promptly following the adoption of such amendmentvaiver.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information included in the sections entitled “Qiter Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion andlysis,” “Compensation Committee
Report,” “Executive Compensation” and “Compensatmmmittee Interlocks and Insider Participation’bur 2014 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information included in the sections entitled “Infaation Regarding Security Ownership” in our 201dXy Statement is incorporated herein
by reference.

Information included in the section entitled “Infioation Regarding Equity Compensation Plans” in2k4 Proxy Statement is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information included in the section entitled “Cént&elationships and Related Transactions,” in20r4 Proxy Statement is incorporated
herein by reference.

Information included in the sections entitled “iter Independence” and “Board Committees and CotamMeetings” in the “Corporate
Governance” section of our 2014 Proxy Statemeimtcigrporated by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information included in the sections entitled “Ip@adent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees”“&nd-Approval of Audit and Nomudit
Services” under “Proposal 2 — Ratification of Apgonent of the Company’s Independent Registeredi®Altcounting Firm” in our 2014
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Documents filed as part of this annual report on Fom 10-K:

(1) Financial StatementsThe following index lists consolidated financigt&ments and notes thereto filed as part of tmsi@meport on
Form 10-K:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiimp — Deloitte & Touche LLP 54
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&81201- 55
Consolidated Statements of Income for each oftiteetyears in the period ended December 31, 56
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomedah of the three years in the period ended Deeerilh, 201! 57
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 31, 20: 58
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoftiree years in the period ended December 3B, 59
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 60

(2) Financial Statement SchedulesAll schedules have been omitted because they drapplicable or the required information is
included in the consolidated financial statementsates thereto.

(3) Exhibits. A list of exhibits filed or furnished with this rept on Form 10-K (or incorporated by referencexbikits previously filed
by ACI) is provided in the accompanying Exhibit éxd
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ACI Worldwide, Inc.
Omaha, Nebraska

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of ACI Worldwide, Inc. and subsidiartes (Company”) as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statsmé&income, comprehensive income, stockholdegaity and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, ZiSse financial statements are the responsibifithieo Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digs in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of ACI Worldwide, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 201 2thenksults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with acciognprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2013, based on the criteria establighbddrnal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrithe Treadway Commission and our report dagdrary 28, 2014, expressed
an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internaitcol over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLF

Omaha, Nebraska
February 28, 2014
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 9505¢ $ 76,32¢
Receivables, net of allowances of $4,459 and $8Ekpectively 203,57! 217,32:
Deferred income taxes, n 47,59: 34,34
Recoverable income tax 2,25¢ 5,57-
Prepaid expenst 22,54¢ 16,74¢
Other current asse 65,32¢ 5,81¢
Total current assets 436,36 356,12t
Property and equipment, r 57,34% 41,28t
Software, ne 191 ,46¢ 129,31
Goodwill 669,21° 501,14:
Intangible assets, n 237,69: 127,90(
Deferred income taxes, n 48,85: 63,37(
Other noncurrent asse 40,91% 31,74¢
TOTAL ASSETS $1,681,85 $1,250,88
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 43,65¢ $ 33,92
Employee compensatic 35,62 35,19¢
Current portion of lon-term debt 47,318 17,50(
Deferred revenu 122,04! 139,86
Income taxes payab 1,197 3,54
Deferred income taxes, n 752 174
Other current liabilitie: 95,01¢ 36,40(
Total current liabilities 345,60( 266,59¢
Noncurrent liabilities
Deferred revenu 45,65¢ 51,51¢
Long-term debi 708,07( 356,75(
Deferred income taxes, n 11,00( 14,94(
Other noncurrent liabilitie 27,83: 26,72:
Total liabilities 1,138,15 716,52
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders equity
Preferred stock; $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shawd®rized; no shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2013 and 20 — —
Common stock; $0.005 par value; 70,000,000 shargmezed; 46,606,796 shares issued at December 31,

2013 and 201 23z 232
Additional paic-in capital 543,16: 534,95:
Retained earning 263,85! 199,98
Treasury stock, at cost, 7,751,807 and 7,159,08R:=stat December 31, 2013 and 2012, respec! (240,24 (186,789
Accumulated other comprehensive | (23,319 (14,03)

Total stockholders’ equity 543,69: 534,35
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY $1,681,85 $1,250,88

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenues
License $ 233,93: $ 221,84t $ 189,82
Maintenance 245,95 199,87¢ 148,35
Services 122,08! 131,53t 79,77(
Hosting 262,95¢ 113,32: 47,14¢
Total revenues 864,92¢ 666,57¢ 465,09!
Operating expense:!
Cost of license (1 25,32« 23,59: 15,41¢
Cost of maintenance, services and hostin¢ 318,51! 202,05: 118,86t
Research and developmt 142,55 133,75¢ 90,17¢
Selling and marketin 99,82¢ 87,054 80,92:
General and administrati 99,30( 108,74 71,42¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 56,35¢ 37,00: 22,057
Total operating expense: 741,88( 592,20° 398,86
Operating income 123,04¢ 74,37 66,23:
Other income (expense
Interest expens (27,227 (10,417 (2,43))
Interest incom 65¢ 914 1,31t
Other, ne’ (3,327) 39¢ (802)
Total other income (expense) (29,889 (9,109 (1,919
Income before income taxe 93,15¢ 65,26¢ 64,311
Income tax expens 29,29 16,42: 18,46.
Net income $ 63,866 $ 48,84¢ $ 45,85
Earnings per common share
Basic $ 16 $ 1.2¢ $ 1.37
Diluted $ 16C $ 12z % 1.3¢
Weighted average common shares outstan
Basic 39,29t 38,69¢ 33,45%
Diluted 40,01¢ 39,90¢ 34,19¢

(1) The cost of software license fees excludesggsafor depreciation but includes amortizationuichased and developed software for
resale. The cost of maintenance, services andnigoistes excludes charges for depreciat

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net income $ 6386 $ 48,84t $ 4585
Other comprehensive income (loss'
Unrealized gain on availal-for-sale securitie — 963 594
Reclassification of unrealized gain to a realizathgn availabl-for-sale securitie — (1,557 —
Foreign currency translation adjustme (9,289 3,82¢ (2,71))

Total other comprehensive income (loss (9,289 3,23( (2,117
Comprehensive income $ 54,58 $ 52,07¢ $ 43,73

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.

57



Table of Contents

ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Common Additional Other
Common Stock Treasury Paid-in Retainec Comprehensive
Stock  Warrants Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Total
Balance at December 31, 201 204 24,00 (171,679 312,94  105,28¢ (15,144 255,62
Net income — — — — 45,85: — 45,85:
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — (2,117 (2,117
Shares issued and forefeited, net, under stocls — — 9,007 (1,549 — — 7,46(
Stock-based compensatic — — — 11,25« — — 11,25«
Repurchase of restricted stock for tax withholdi — — (742) — — — (742)
Balance at December 31, 201 204 24,00 (163,41) 322,65« 151,14 (17,26 317,33(
Net income — — — — 48,84¢ — 48,84¢
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — 3,23( 3,23(
Issuance of 5,785,280 shares of common stock fprisition of S1
Corporatior 28 — — 204,82¢ — — 204,85t
Issuance of 95,500 shares from treasury stockciuiaition of S1 Corporatic — — 2,17¢ — — — 2,17¢
Repurchase of 1,437,692 shares of common ¢ — — (57,83¢) — — — (57,83¢)
Issuance of 361,470 shares from treasury stockdimmon stock warrai
exercises — (2,769 9,40¢ 5,231 — — 11,86¢
Cash settlement of common stock warré — (21,239 — (8,367) — — (29,59¢)
Stoclk-based compensatic — — — 15,18¢ — — 15,18¢
Shares issued and forfeited, net, under stock jtehsding income tax
benefits — — 26,15¢ (4,589 — — 21,57¢
Repurchase of restricted stock for tax withholdi — — (3,279) — — — (3,277)
Balance at December 31, 201 232 — (186,789 534,95! 199,98 (14,03) 534,35
Net Income — — — — 63,86¢ — 63,86¢
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — (9,289 (9,289
Stock-based compensatic — — — 13,57 — — 13,57
Shares issued and forfeited, net, under stock tehsding income tax
benefits — — 33,671 (5,367) — — 28,31t
Repurchase of 1,656,808 shares of common ¢ — — (80,917 — — — (80,910
Repurchase of restricted stock and performancesliar tax withholding — — (6,222) — — — (6,227)
Balance as of December 31, 20: $ 232 $ —  $(240,24) $ 543,16. $263,85! $ (23,31f) $543,69:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net casidglfrom operating activitie:
Depreciatior
Amortization
Amortization of deferred debt issuance c«
Deferred income taxe
Stocl-based compensation expel
Excess tax benefit of stock options exerci
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nehpéct of acquisitions
Receivable!
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Repayment of IBM Alliance agreement liabil
Current income taxe
Deferred revenu
Other current and noncurrent assets and liabil
Net cash flows from operating activiti
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipm
Purchases of software and distribution rig
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu
Other
Net cash flows from investing activitii
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of common si
Proceeds from exercises of stock opti
Excess tax benefit of stock options exerci
Repurchases of common stc
Repurchase of restricted stock and performanceshar tax withholding
Proceeds from exercises of common stock wari
Cash settlement of common stock warr
Repayments of revolving credit facili
Proceeds from revolving credit facili
Proceeds from term portion of credit agreen
Proceeds from issuance of senior n
Repayment of term portion of credit agreerr
Payments on other debt and capital lei
Payment for debt issuance cc
Net cash flows from financing activitit
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on c
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

Supplemental cash flow informatic
Income taxes paid, n
Interest paic

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED

DECEMBER 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 63,86f $ 48,84¢ $ 4585:
18,75: 13,28¢ 7,541
51,21¢ 37,49 20,83¢
5,38¢ 2,45( 597
9,57¢ 4,77t 7,51%
13,57: 15,18¢ 11,25¢
(6,960) (3,549 (1,879
(595) 15C 54
22,49¢ (61,96%) (21,247
(13,54%) 5,981 (4,967)
(24,507 (29,026 1,73:
— (20,667 —
9,36( (5,660) 6,301
(23,619 (11,816 14,80¢
13,40¢ (4,757 (4,939
138,41 (9,265 83,46:
(21,109 (13,05() (10,66¢)
(11,497 (3,612) (8,309
— — (10,000)
(378,11)  (325,23) (16,85()
— (1,046) (1,856)
(410,71)  (342,94() (47,689
2,18¢ 1,42¢ 1,27¢
19,56: 16,73( 4,47¢
6,96( 3,54¢ 1,87¢
(80,917) (57,836 —
(6,227) (3,279 (742)
— 11,86¢ —
— (29,59¢) —
(228,00) (6,000 (150,000
40,00( 119,00( 150,00
300,00 200,00( —
300,00 — —
(30,86 (13,750) —
(14,022 (7,115) (3,820)
(17,047) (1,09¢) (11,789
291,64( 233,90 (8,721)
(614) (2,465 (1,270
18,73( (120,76 25,78¢
76,32¢ 197,09¢ 171,31
95,05¢ $ 76,32¢  $ 197,09
20,19° $ 28,90( $ 19,01
1459¢ $ 827¢ $ 1,78:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Aounting Policies
Nature of Busines

ACI Worldwide, Inc., a Delaware corporation, arslstibsidiaries (collectively referred to as “ACt'the “Company”)develop, market, insta
and support a broad line of software products andaes primarily focused on facilitating electropayments. In addition to its own products,
the Company distributes, or acts as a sales agesbftware developed by third parties. These prtadand services are used principally by
financial institutions, retailers, and electroniyment processors, both in domestic and internaltioarkets.

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsies. Recently acquired subsidiaries
that are included in the Company’s consolidatedrfoial statements as of the date of their acqaoisiticlude: Official Payments Holdings, Inc.
(“OPAY”), Online Resources Corporation (“ORCC"),chRrofesionales en Transacciones Electonicas S2AESA”) acquired during the ye.
ended December 31, 2013 and S1 Corporation (“SId)th Data Uruguay S.A. (“North Data”), and DisRey Ltd. (“Distra”) acquired during
the year ended December 31, 2012. All intercomgmaignces and transactions have been eliminated.

Capital Stock

The Company’s outstanding capital stock consists sifigle class of common stock. Each share of acamstock is entitled to one vote upon
each matter subject to a stockholders vote and/ideshds if and when declared by the Board of Dives:

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenetttae reported amounts of assets and liatslgied disclosure of contingent assets anc
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the reported amounts of reveanceexpenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition, Receivables and Deferred Re

License The Company recognizes license revenue in accoedaith ASC 985-605Revenue Recognition: Softwaror software license
arrangements for which services rendered are pitintatated to installation of core software ané aot considered essential to the
functionality of the software, the Company recogsizevenue upon delivery, provided (i) there ispasive evidence of an arrangement,

(i) collection of the fee is considered probabtel iii) the fee is fixed or determinable. In mastangements, vendor-specific objective
evidence (“VSOE") of fair value does not exist fbe license element; therefore, the Company ugesetiidual method under ASC 985-605 to
determine the amount of revenue to be allocatéldedicense element. Under ASC 985-605, the fdirevaf all undelivered elements, such as
post contract customer support (maintenance or "P@Sother products or services, is deferred andesyuently recognized as the products
delivered or the services are performed, with #sdual difference between the total arrangemenafal revenues allocated to undelivered
elements being allocated to the delivered element.

When a software license arrangement includes sarvaprovide significant modification or custontiaa of software, those services are
considered essential to the functionality of thitvgare and are not separable from the softwares& lagrangements are accounted for in
accordance with ASC 605-3Rgvenue Recognition: Construction-Type and Prodoefiype Contractgjenerally referred to as contract
accounting. Under contract accounting, the Compummerally uses the percentage-of-completion methodthose contracts subject to
percentage-of-completion contract accounting, extésiof total revenue and profitability under tbetcact consider amounts due under
extended payment terms. The Company recognizesuewnder these arrangements based on the legs&yroénts that become due or the
revenue calculated under the percentage-of-coroplatiethod. Under the percentage-of-completion ntkttiee Company records revenue for
the license and services over the developmentrapttmentation period, with the percentage of cotipiegenerally measured by the
percentage of labor hours incurred to-date to edéithtotal labor hours for each contract. In thenéyroject profitability is assured and
estimable within a range, percentage-of-complataM@nue recognition is computed using the lowesllef profitability in the range. If it is
determined that a loss will result from the perfanoe of a contract, the entire amount of the lesedognized in the period in which it is
determined that a loss will result.
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For software license arrangements in which a dicarit portion of the fee is due more than 12 moafter delivery or when payment terms are
significantly beyond the Company’s standard businactice, the license is deemed not to be fixedkterminable. For software license
arrangements in which the fee is not considereztifir determinable, the license is recognizedsesnree as payments become due and
payable, provided all other conditions for revenemognition have been met. For software licensangements in which the Company has
concluded that collection of the fees is not prdbatevenue is recognized as cash is collectedjged all other conditions for revenue
recognition have been met. In making the deternanaif collectability, the Company considers theditworthiness of the customer, econo
conditions in the customer’s industry and geograjdgation, and general economic conditions.

ASC 985605 requires the seller of software that includés Ro establish VSOE of fair value of the undekgeelement of the contract in or
to account separately for the PCS revenue. The @oynpas traditionally established VSOE of the Yailue of PCS by reference to stated
renewals, expressed in dollar terms, or separsts gath consistent pricing of PCS expressed ic@aiage terms. In determining whether a
stated renewal is not substantive, the Companyiderssfactors such as whether the period of th&l®CS term is relatively long when
compared to the term of the software license ortindrehe PCS renewal rate is significantly beloev @ompany’s normal pricing practices. In
determining whether PCS pricing is consistentGbenpany considers the population of separate Hz¢sre within a reasonably narrow ra
of the median within the identified market segmaver the trailing 12 month period.

For those software license arrangements that iratudtomer-specific acceptance provisions, suchigioms are generally presumed to be
substantive and the Company does not recognizeuevantil the earlier of the receipt of a writtarstomer acceptance, objective
demonstration that the delivered product meetgtiséomer-specific acceptance criteria or the ekipinaof the acceptance period. The
Company recognizes revenues on such arrangemeotisthup earlier of receipt of written acceptancéherfirst production use of the software
by the customer. In the absence of customer-spegifieptance provisions, software license arrangengenerally grant customers a right of
refund or replacement only if the licensed softw@mes not perform in accordance with its publiséeekcifications. If the Company’s product
history supports an assessment by managemenhthkitelihood of non-acceptance is remote, the Camgpecognizes revenue when all other
criteria of revenue recognition are met.

For software license arrangements in which the Gompcts as a sales agent for another companydsigisy revenues are recorded on a net
basis. These include arrangements in which the @ogngoes not take title to the products, is ngbeesible for providing the product or
service, earns a fixed commission, or assumestaisklionly to the extent of its commission. Fofta@re license arrangements in which the
Company acts as a distributor of another compaorgduct, and in certain circumstances, modifiesrdrances the product, revenues are
recorded on a gross basis. These include arrandgemnenhich the Company takes title to the prodaetd is responsible for providing the
product or service.

For software license arrangements in which the Gomputilizes a third-party distributor or sales i@ig¢he Company recognizes revenue on a
sell-in basis when business practices and operhistgry indicate that there is no risk of retunrehates, or credits and there are no other risk
related to the distributor or sales agents’ abtlityonor payment or distribution commitments. &ttrer arrangements in which any of the
above factors indicate that there are risks ofrnsturebates, or credits or any other risks reladgte distributor or sales agenddility to honol
payment or distribution commitments, the Comparpgaizes revenue on a sell-through basis.

For software license arrangements in which the Gompermits the customer to receive unspecifiegréusoftware products during the
software license term, the Company recognizes reveatably over the license term, provided all ptkeenue recognition criteria have been
met. For software license arrangements in whichCthiapany grants the customer a right to exchangyerilyinal software product for specif
future software products with more than minimafeténces in features, functionality, and/or pribering the license term, revenue is
recognized upon the earlier of delivery of the &ddal software products or at the time the excleatght lapses. For customers granted a rigt
to exchange the original software product for sipetifuture software products where the Companydedsrmined price, feature, and
functionality differences are minimal, the exchanigét is accounted for as a likéad exchange and revenue is recognized upon dglofehe
currently licensed product. For software licensamgements in which the customer is charged variit#nse fees based on usage of the
product, the Company recognizes revenue as usagesoover the term of the licenses, provided &eotevenue recognition criteria have b
met.

Effective July 2013, the Company establishes VSOfaipvalue of PCS by reference to stated renevaalsll identified marked segments. 1
Company continues to consider factors such as whétle period of the initial PCS term is relativling when compared to the term of the
software license or whether the PCS renewal isfgigntly below the Compang’'normal pricing practices. In determining whetR&S pricing
is significantly below the Company’s normal priciptactice, the Company considers the populaticstated renewal rates that are within a
reasonably narrow range of the median within tlemiified market segment over the trailing 12 mgrehiod. The change in estimation
methodology does not have a material effect orfinancial statements.
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Certain of the Company’s software license arrangesi@clude PCS terms that fail to achieve VSOFanfvalue due to non-substantive
renewal periods, or contain a range of possiblesulistantive PCS renewal amounts. For these amaargs, VSOE of fair value of PCS does
not exist and revenues for the software licens& B@ services, if applicable, are considered tongeaccounting unit and are therefore
recognized ratably over the longer of the contralcservice term of PCS term once the delivery dhlsgrvices has commenced. The Compan
typically classifies revenues associated with ttegsngements in accordance with the contractsaibgified amounts, which approximate fair
value assigned to the various elements, includifigvare license, maintenance and services, if apgble.

This allocation methodology has been applied tddhewing amounts included in revenues in the adidsited statements of income from
arrangements for which VSOE of fair value doesenist for each undelivered element (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Software license fees $22,19( $38,22¢ $66,93¢
Maintenance fee 9,64¢ 14,17¢ 16,80:
Services 10 83( 1,36
Total $31,84¢ $53,23¢ $85,10:

MaintenanceThe Company typically enters into multi-year timesbd software license arrangements that vary gthdout are generally five
years. These arrangements include an initial (lmt)dPCS term of one year with subsequent renewakbsdditional years within the initi
license period. Effective July 2013, the Compartgtdishes VSOE of the fair value of PCS by refeestacstated renewals for all identified
market segments. For arrangements in which the @oynlpoks to substantive renewal rates to evid&®OE of fair value of PCS and in
which the PCS renewal rate and term are substaM&OE of fair value of PCS is determined by refieesto the stated renewal rate. For thes
arrangements, PCS revenues are recognized ratadnlyhee PCS term specified in the contract. Inrayeanents where VSOE of fair value of
PCS cannot be determined (for example, a time-bsstdare license with a duration of one year ssler when the range of possible PCS
renewal amounts is not sufficiently narrow or gnsficantly below the Company’s normal pricing piiees), the Company recognizes revenue
for the entire arrangement ratably over the lorrdehe initial PCS term or the Services term (ifan

For those arrangements that meet the criteria tcbeunted for under contract accounting, the Coypatermines whether VSOE of fair
value exists for the PCS element. For those arrapgts in which VSOE of fair value exists for theP€ement, PCS is accounted for
separately and the balance of the arrangement@iated for under ASC 985-605. For those arrangésnienwhich VSOE of fair value does
not exist for the PCS element all revenue is deteuntil such time as the services are completee@arvices are complete, revenue is then
recognized ratably over the remaining PCS period.

ServicesThe Company provides various professional senticesistomers, primarily project management, sofwarplementation and
software modification services. Revenues from ayeaments to provide professional services are giyeeaognized as the related services
performed.

For those arrangements in which services revendefesred and the Company determines that thetdicests of services are recoverable, sucl
costs are deferred and subsequently expensedponian to the related services revenue as itdegeized. For those arrangements that are
accounted for under contract accounting, the Companumulates and defers all direct and indirestscallocable to the arrangement. For
those arrangements that are not accounted for woddract accounting, the Company accumulates afetsiall direct and incremental costs
attributable to the arrangement.

Hosting. Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted mrospective basis for all new or materially magtifiarrangements entered into
on or after that date, the amended accounting gu&léor multiple-deliverable revenue arrangementsthe amended guidance related to the
scope of existing software revenue recognition guoge. The adoption of this guidance did not haraterial impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, nor does thegammy expect it to have a material impact on itarifinancial statements.
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A multiple-deliverable arrangement is separated imbre than one unit of accounting if the deliveiteth(s) has value to the customer on a
stand-alone basis; if the arrangement includesargéright of return relative to the deliveredii); and if delivery or performance of the
undelivered item(s) is considered probable andtanhtially in the control of the Company. If theséaria are not met, the arrangement is
accounted for as a single unit of accounting whichild result in revenue being recognized ratablgrdkie contract term or being deferred
the earlier of when such criteria are met or whenlast undelivered element is delivered. If the#eria are met for each, the arrangement
consideration is allocated to the separate unitggobunting based on each unit’s relative sellingep The selling price for each element is
based upon the following selling price hierarch8QE if available, third party evidence (“TPE”) iSOE is not available, or estimated selling
price if neither VSOE nor TPE is available.

The Company enters into hosting-related arrangesiteat may consist of multiple service deliveralitesuding initial implementation and
setup services, on-going support services, and e#rgices. The Company’s hosted products opemachighly regulated and controlled
environment which requires a highly specialized anidjue set of initial implementation and setupviges prior to the commencement of
hosting-related services. Due to the essentiakpedialized nature of the implementation and sstupices, these services do not qualify as
separate units of accounting separate from thergpsérvice as the delivered services do not halgevto the customer on a stand-alone basi
The on-going support and other services are coreides separate units of accounting as are addealugts that do not impact the availability
of functionality currently in use. The total arramgent consideration is allocated to each of tharség units of accounting based on their
relative selling price and revenue is recognizegr dlieir respective service periods. As the supgudtother services periods are the same as
the hosting service period, the recognition patiessimilar to what was experienced prior to adwogpthe amended accounting guidance for
multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements.

Hosting revenue also includes fees paid by ountdias a part of the acquired electronic bill pnésent and payment products. Fees may be
paid by our clients or directly by their customargl may be a percentage of the underlying trarsaatnount, a fixed fee per executed
transaction or a monthly fee for each customerlitroHosting costs include payment card interclesiegs, assessments payable to banks ai
payment card processing fees.

Multiple ArrangementsThe Company may execute more than one contragireement with a single customer. The separate axistor
agreements may be viewed as one multiple-elemesmi@ement or separate agreements for revenue iidoagrurposes. The Company
evaluates whether the agreements were negotiajeatasf a single project, whether the productseswices are interrelated or interdependent
whether fees in one arrangement are tied to pedonoain another arrangement, and whether elementse arrangement are essential to the
functionality in another arrangement in order tacte appropriate conclusions regarding whether auneimgements are related or separate. Th
conclusions reached can impact the timing of regaegognition related to those arrangements.

Deferred RevenuDeferred revenue includes amounts currently duepagdble from customers, and payments received éustomers, for
software licenses, maintenance, hosting and/oicgerin advance of recording the related revenue.

Receivables and Concentration of Credit RReceivables represent amounts billed and amoumsge#hat are to be billed in the near future.
Included in accrued receivables are services aftda@ hosting revenues earned in the current gdrig billed in the following period as well
as license revenues that are determined to be &éirddleterminable but billed in future periods.

December 31

2013 2012
Billed Receivables $173,10( $184,43(
Allowance for doubtful accoun (4,459 (8,117
Billed, net 168,64: 176,31«
Accrued Receivable 34,93 41,00¢
Receivables, n¢ $203,57" $217,32:

No customer accounted for more than 10% of the @Gmy's consolidated receivables balance as of Decethe2013 or 2012.

The Company maintains a general allowance for doLftcounts based on historical experience, alwitly additional
customer-specifiallowances. The Company regularly monitors cragik exposures in accounts receivable. In estimdtieghecessary level
our allowance for doubtful accounts, managemensidens the aging of accounts receivable, the avedihiness of customers, economic
conditions within the customer’s industry, and gaheconomic conditions, among other factors.
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The following reflects activity in the Company’d@abance for doubtful accounts receivable (in thowis:

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Balance, beginning of period $(8,117) $(4,847) $(5,73¢)
Provision (increases) decrea 1,161 (3,179 101
Amounts written off, net of recoveri 2,29¢ 35 51€
Foreign currency translation adjustme 201 (13€) 27¢
Balance, end of peric $(4,459) $(8,117) $(4,847)

Provision (recovery) amounts recorded in generdladministrative expenses during the years endedieer 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 rel
increases (decreases) in the allowance for doubtitdunts based upon collection experience ingogm@phic regions in which the Company
conducts business, net of collection of customeriic receivables which were previously reservedals doubtful of collection.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith original maturities of three months or lesbe cash equivalents. The Company’s
cash and cash equivalents includes holdings inkigcsavings, money market and overnight sweepuats, all of which have daily
maturities, as well as time deposits with matusitie three months or less at the date of purchdse carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents on the consolidated balance sheetexipmate fair value.

Other Current Assets and Other Current Liabilities

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012
Settlement deposits $ 27,77( $ —
Settlement receivable 20,11¢ —
Current debt issuance co 5,27¢ —
Other 12,16: 5,81¢
Total other current asse $ 65,32¢ $ 5,81¢
Years Ended December 31
2013 2012
Settlement payables $ 42,84: $ —
Accrued interes 7,07¢ 92
Vendor financed license 6,41( 5,217
Royalties payabl 5,62 5,65¢
Other 33,06¢ 25,43t
Total other current liabilitie $ 95,01¢ $ 36,40(

Individuals and businesses settle their obligatiorthe Company various Clients, primarily utility and other pigoector Clients, using cre(
or debit cards or via ACH payments. The Compangterea receivable for the amount due from the teogdiebit card company and an
offsetting payable to the Client. Once confirmatiemeceived that the funds have been received;timpany settles the obligation to the
Client. Due to timing, in some instances, the Comypaay receive the funds into bank accounts cdettdly and in the Company’s name that
are not disbursed to its Clients by the end ofde resulting in a settlement deposit on the Comygdinoks.
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Off Balance Settlement Accounts

The Company also enters into agreements with cectints to process payment funds on their beldifen an automated clearing house or
automated teller machine network payment transadsiprocessed, a transaction is initiated to wahdfunds from the designated source
account and deposit them into a settlement accaunitch is a trust account maintained for the baérdfthe Companyg clients. A simultaneot
transaction is initiated to transfer funds from tle¢tlement account to the intended destinationwatc These “back to back” transactions are
designed to settle at the same time, usually ogbtnsuch that the Company receives the funds flensource at the same time as it sends th
funds to their destination. However, due to thegeations being with various financial institutidhere may be timing differences that resu
float balances. These funds are maintained in axtsdar the benefit of the client which is separfaben the Company corporate assets. As
Company does not take ownership of the funds,etteement accounts are not included in the Comsabalance sheet. The Company is
entitled to interest earned on the fund balanchs.cbllection of interest on these settlement agttois considered in the Company’s
determination of its fee structure for clients aagresents a portion of the payment for service®paed by the Company. The amount of
settlement funds as of December 31, 2013 was $284li0n.

Property and Equipmet

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depia@tiaf these assets is generally computed usiagtitaight-line method over their estimated
useful lives based on asset class. As of Decenthe(@.3 and 2012, net property and equipment cieasesf the following (in thousands):

Useful Lives 2013 2012

Computer and office equipment 3 to 5 year: $ 72,16: $ 56,70¢

Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life of improvement or
remaining life of leas 15,21( 10,36¢
Furniture and fixture 7 years 10,531 13,89«
Building and improvement 7—30 years 5,86¢ 4,08
Land Non depreciabli 1,33¢ 1,18¢
105,11! 86,23¢

Less: accumulated depreciation and

amortizatior (47,769 (44,950
Property and equipment, r $ 57,34 $41,28¢

Assets under capital leases are amortized ovestthwter of the asset life or the lease term.

Software

Software may be for internal use or available #le sCosts related to certain software, which &latle for sale, are capitalized in accordance
with ASC 985-20Costs of Software to be Sold, Leased, or Markgteten the resulting product reaches technolodgzibility. The

Company generally determines technological feasibithen it has a detailed program design thatdgkeduct function, feature and technical
requirements to their most detailed, logical fomd & ready for coding. The Company does not tyfyicapitalize costs related to software
available for sale as technological feasibility gelly coincides with general availability of theftsvare.

Amortization of software costs to be sold or magkietxternally, begins when the product is avail&ndicensing to customers and is
determined on a product-by-product basis. The dramartization shall be the greater of the amowmbjguted using (a) the ratio of current
gross revenues for a product to the total of ctiraed anticipated future gross revenues for thadyet or (b) the straight-line method over the
remaining estimated economic life of the produut|uding the period being reported on. Due to cditipe pressures, it may be possible that
the estimates of anticipated future gross revemuernaining estimated economic life of the softwameduct will be reduced significantly. As
result, the carrying amount of the software prodnay be reduced accordingly. Amortization of intdranse software is generally computed
using the straight-line method over estimated udieies of three to ten years.

Business Combinatior

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 83siness Combinationsn the accounting for its acquisitions. It regsithe Company to
recognize separately from goodwill the assets aeduand the liabilities assumed at their acquisitiate fair values. Goodwill as of the
acquisition date is measured as the excess ofdmrasion transferred and the net of the acquisiiae fair values of the assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. While the Company usebétt estimates and assumptions to accurately aakets acquired and liabilities assumed &
the acquisition date, its estimates are inheramtbertain and subject to refinement. As a resuliing the measurement period, which may be
up to one year from the acquisition date, it res@djustments to the assets acquired and liabiissumed with the corresponding offset to
goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measuremenippeor final determination of the values of assatquired or liabilities assumed,
whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustmeateeaorded to our consolidated statements of iecom
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Critical estimates in valuing certain intangiblsets include but are not limited to future expedash flows from customer relationships,
covenants not to compete and acquired developbdaéies, brand awareness and market positiongi®s assumptions about the periot
time the brand will continue to be used in our preidbortfolio, and discount rates. Management'sreses of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable, but whiegimherently uncertain and unpredictable and, r@sualt, actual results may differ from
estimates.

Other estimates associated with the accountingdquisitions may change as additional informatiecdmes available regarding the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, as more fullgussed in Note 2.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

In accordance with ASC 350tangibles — Goodwill and Otheithe Company assesses goodwill for impairmergasgtiannually. During this
assessment management relies on a number of faictdrgling operating results, business plans antigipated future cash flows. The
Company assesses potential impairments to othamgitile assets when there is evidence that evertsanges in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recdvere

In accordance with ASC 350, the Company assessegibfor impairment annually during the fourthayter of its fiscal year using Octobe
balances or when there is evidence that eventsasrges in circumstances indicate that the carrgingunt of the asset may not be recovered.
The Company evaluates goodwill at the reporting lewviel and has identified its reportable segmehsericas, Europe/Middle East/Africa
(“"EMEA”), and Asia/Pacific, as its reporting uniRecoverability of goodwill is measured using acdimted cash flow model incorporating
discount rates commensurate with the risks invalld=s of a discounted cash flow model is commougtfrain impairment testing in the
absence of available transactional market evidemdetermine the fair value.

The key assumptions used in the discounted cashviiduation model include discount rates, growtiesacash flow projections and terminal
value rates. Discount rates, growth rates and ftastprojections are the most sensitive and sudioleptio change as they require significant
management judgment. Discount rates are deternbiypeding a weighted average cost of capital (“WALThe WACC considers market a
industry data as well as Company-specific riskdectOperational management, considering industdyGompany-specific historical and
projected data, develops growth rates and cashgtoyections for each reporting unit. Terminal \&ahate determination follows common
methodology of capturing the present value of peigdecash flow estimates beyond the last projeptrtbd assuming a constant WACC and
low long-term growth rates. If the calculated featue is less than the current carrying value, inmpant of the reporting unit may exist. If the
recoverability test indicates potential impairmehg Company calculates an implied fair value ajdill for the reporting unit. The implied
fair value of goodwill is determined in a mannenisar to how goodwill is calculated in a businessnbination. If the implied fair value of
goodwill exceeds the carrying value of goodwilligeed to the reporting unit, there is no impairmdithe carrying value of goodwill assign
to a reporting unit exceeds the implied fair vabfiche goodwill, an impairment charge is recorde@tite down the carrying value. The
calculated fair value substantially exceeded threetiti carrying value for all reporting units fol périods.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attrihlé to each reporting unit with goodwill balandesing the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, were as follows (in thousands):

Americas EMEA Asia/Pacific Total
Gross Balance prior to December 31, 2011 $ 198,59! $ 43,61: $ 19,36¢ $261,57!
Total impairment prior to December 31, 2( (47,437) — — (47,437)
Balance, December 31, 20 151,16¢ 43,61: 19,36¢ 214,14
Goodwill from acquisitions (1 117,66¢ 111,86 52,39: 281,92
Foreign currency translation adjustme (45) 3,17¢ 1,93¢ 5,07(
Balance, December 31, 20 268,79( 158,65: 73,69¢ 501,14:
Goodwill from acquisitions (2 173,10: — (832) 172,26¢
Foreign currency translation adjustme (625) 1,50¢ (5,079 (4,199
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 441,26t $160,15¢ $ 67,79 $669,21°

(1) Addition relates to the goodwill acquired in theyaisitions of S1, North Data and Distra as discdasséNote 2.

(2) Addition relates to the goodwill acquired irethcquisitions of OPAY, ORCC, PTESA and Distraiasubsed in Note 2. The purchase
price allocation for all 2013 acquisitions are pr@hary as of December 31, 2013 and accordinglysalgect to future changes during the
maximum on-year allocation perioc
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Other intangible assets, which include customatigiships, purchased contracts, trademarks add trames, and covenants not to compete,
are amortized using the straight-line method oegiogls ranging from three years to 20 years. Thaamy reviews its intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurnstaimdicate that the carrying amount may not bewerable.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impaint whenever events or changes in circumstandésaie that the carrying amount of a
long-ived asset group may not be recoverable. An innpaint loss is recorded if the sum of the future dkmshs expected to result from the
of the asset (undiscounted and without interestge® is less than the carrying amount of the a$&et amount of the impairment charge is
measured based upon the fair value of the assepgro

Treasury Stock

The Company accounts for shares of its common gstatkare repurchased without intent to retire@asury stock. Such shares are recorded
cost and reflected separately on the consolidagéghbe sheets as a reduction of stockholders’yedlliie Company issues shares of treasury
stock upon exercise of stock options, issuancesificted share awards, payment of earned perfarenstmares, and for issuances of common
stock pursuant to the Company’s employee stockiase plan. For purposes of determining the cofteofreasury shares re-issued, the
Company uses the average cost method.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

In accordance with ASC 718ompensation — Stock Compensatitine Company recognizes stock-based compensaigis for only those
shares expected to vest, on a straight-line basistbe requisite service period of the award, Wiscgenerally the vesting term. The impact of
forfeitures that may occur prior to vesting is aéstimated and considered in the amount of expetsgnized. Forfeiture estimates are revi

if necessary, in subsequent periods when actutgifiares differ from those estimates. Share basetpensation expense is recorded in
operating expenses depending on where the reseéctlividual’'s compensation is recorded. The Comgmganerally utilizes the Black—
Scholes option—pricing model to determine the Value of stock options on the date of grant. Theamptions utilized in the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, as well as the descriptionihaf plans the stock-based awards are granted uar@edescribed in further detail in Note 11,
Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Translation of Foreign Currencies

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries typically useltical currency of the countries in which they laated as their functional currency. Their
assets and liabilities are translated into UnitedeS dollars at the exchange rates in effecteab#ifance sheet date. Revenues and expenses
translated at the average exchange rates duringetied. Translation gains and losses are refldotéite consolidated financial statements as
component of accumulated other comprehensive indtoes). Transaction gains and losses, includingétrelated to intercompany accounts,
that are not considered to be of a long-term imaest nature are included in the determination voim@me. Transaction gains and losses,
including those related to intercompany accouhts, are considered to be of a long-term investmatire are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements as a component of accumutgtest comprehensive income.

Since the undistributed earnings of the Compargrei§n subsidiaries are considered to be indefinignvested, the components of
accumulated other comprehensive income have naot tageeffected.

Income Taxe

The provision for income taxes is computed usirggabset and liability method, under which defeteexdassets and liabilities are recognized
for the expected future tax consequences of tempditierences between the financial reporting tadbases of assets and liabilities. Defe
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance vliemore likely than not that some portion rofithe deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

The Company periodically assesses its tax exposungdestablishes, or adjusts, estimated unrecatjtaxebenefits for probable assessmen
taxing authorities, including the Internal Revei8evice (“IRS”"), and various foreign and state adtles. Such unrecognized tax benefits
represent the estimated provision for income taéxgected to ultimately be paid.
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Recently Issued Accounting Stande

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd&&U”) 2013-2, Comprehensive
Income (Topic 22C in the Accounting Standards Codifications (“ASCThis update requires separate presentation afdimponents that are
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me either on the face of the financial statetsier in the notes to the financial
statements. This update also requires companigisdimse the income statement line items impacyeanly significant reclassifications. These
items are required for both interim and annual répg for public companies and were adopted byGbepany year ended December 31, 2

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-Hresentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WhRetaOperating Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Bzid his update requires an entity to present an unrecognized ¢ézaetit, or a portion of an
unrecognized tax benefit, as a reduction to a dedeilax asset for a net operating loss carryforpasimilar tax loss, or a tax credit
carryforward, except as follows: to the extent aapeerating loss carryforward, a similar tax lassa tax credit carryforward is not available at
the reporting date under the tax law of the appliegurisdiction to settle any additional incomgda that would result from the disallowance

a tax position or the tax law of the applicabl@gdiction does not require the entity to use, dredantity does not intend to use, the deferred tz
asset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax hestefuld be presented in the financial statementslability and should not be combined
with deferred tax assets. This update is effedtivéhe Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2Qdtl should be applied prospectively with
retroactive application permitted. The Companyaalsediscloses uncertain tax benefits in accordarittethis standard update and no material
change is expected.

2. Acquisitions
Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions
In 2013, the Company completed three acquisitibmm aggregate cost of $378.1 million.

Official Payments Holdings, Inc.

On November 5, 2013, the Company completed thestenffier for Official Payments Holdings, Inc. (“ORA) and all its subsidiaries. The
Company paid cash of $8.35 per share of commotk stoapproximately $139.8 million using funds omtiaand $40 million drawn on the
Revolving Credit Facility, which was repaid priorytear-end. As a leading provider of electronit felyment solutions in the U.S., serving
federal, state and local governments, municipditiati, higher education institutions and chariga@iving organizations, OPAY’s team, user
base and vertical expertise make it an ideal miaticthe Company. The acquisition will further exdethe Company’s presence in the
Electronic Bill Presentment and Payment (“EBPP'§a expanding its portfolio across key sectorkiding federal, state and local
governments, municipal utilities, higher educatiostitutions and charitable giving organizations.

Each outstanding option to acquire OPAY commonkstegs canceled and terminated at the effective tfriee acquisition and converted into
the right to receive cash with respect to the numbshares of OPAY common stock that would havenbissuable upon a net exercise of suc
option, assuming the market value of the OPAY comstock at the time of such exercise was equdlg8.35 per common stock tender
offer. Any outstanding option with a per share eigsr price that was greater than or equal to soauat was cancelled and terminated and n
payment was made with respect thereto. In addiganh OPAY restricted stock unit award outstandimmediately prior to the effective time
of the tender offer was fully vested and canceléed] each holder of such awards became entitlezttve the $8.35 per common stock tende
offer for each share of OPAY common stock into \aHite vested portion of the awards would othenlisée been converted.

The Company incurred approximately $1.2 millioriransaction related expenses during the year ebdedmber 31, 2013, including fees to
the investment bank, legal and other professiceed,fwhich are included in general and administagkpenses in the accompanying
consolidated statement of income.

OPAY contributed approximately $23.3 million in emwe and a less than $0.1 million in operatingdsder the year ended December 31,
2013, which includes severance expense relatdtetmtegration activities.

The consideration paid by the Company to completeatquisition of OPAY has been allocated prelimipao the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon their estimatedvidines as of the date of the acquisition. Thecation of purchase price is based upon certai
external valuations and other analyses that havbe®n completed as of the date of this filing|uding, but not limited to, property, intangit
assets, and certain tax matters. Accordingly, thretmase price allocations are preliminary and abgest to future adjustments during the
maximum one-year allocation period.
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Factors contributing to the purchase price thailted in the goodwill (which is not tax deductibleglude the acquisition of management,
sales, and technology personnel with the skiliméwket new and existing products of the Companlyarced product capabilities,
complementary products and customers.

Online Resources Corporation

On March 11, 2013, the Company completed the teoffier for Online Resources Corporation (“ORCC"Haall its subsidiaries. The
Company paid cash of $3.85 per share of commotk $to@pproximately $132.9 million and $127.2 natifor the Series A-1 Convertible
Preferred Stock for a total purchase price of $2&fillion (the “Merger”). The Company has includis financial results of ORCC in the
consolidated financial statements from the datecgiisition. As a leading provider of online bargkand full service bill pay solutions, the
acquisition of ORCC adds EBPP solutions as a gfi@apeart of ACI's Universal Payments portfolioalso strengthens the Company’s online
banking capabilities with complementary technolagyd expands the Company’s leadership in servinghaanity banking and credit union
customers.

Each outstanding option to acquire ORCC commorksias canceled and terminated at the effective tiftee Merger and converted into the
right to receive an equivalent number of optionpuecchase ACI common stock. Each ORCC restricteckaiinit was vested immediately prior
to the effective time of the Merger and receivedB$3er share.

The Company used funds from the $300.0 millionesfisr bank financing arranged through Wells Fargougities, LLC to fund the
acquisition. See Note Debt, for terms of the financing arrangement.

The Company incurred approximately $5.4 millioriransaction related expenses during the twelve insoerided December 31, 2013,
including fees to the investment bank, legal ateioprofessional fees, which are included in gdreerd administrative expenses in the
accompanying statement of income.

ORCC contributed approximately $120.8 million ineaue and $6.4 million in operating income for year ended December 31, 2013, which
includes severance expense related to the integratitivities.

The consideration paid by the Company to completeMerger has been allocated preliminarily to tssets acquired and liabilities assumed
based upon their estimated fair values as of the afahe acquisition. The allocation of purchasegis based upon certain external valuation:
and other analyses that have not been completefiths date of this filing, including, but not lited to, certain tax matters. Accordingly, the
purchase price allocations are preliminary andsalgect to future adjustments during the maximum-pear allocation period.

The Company made adjustments to the preliminargt@se price allocation as additional informationdmee available to deferred income
taxes, property and equipment, software, accowaytahge, other current and noncurrent liabilitielse3e adjustments and any resulting
adjustments to the statements of operations wermaterial to the Company’s previously reportedrapipg results or financial position.

Factors contributing to the purchase price thatlted in the goodwill (which is not tax deductibleglude the acquisition of management,
sales, and technology personnel with the skiliméwket new and existing products of the Companlyaeced product capabilities,
complementary products and customers.

Profesionales en Transacciones Electronicas

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company acepiil00% of Profesionales en Transacciones Eldcasis.A. — Venezuela (“PTESA-V”),
100% of Profesionales en Transacciones Electrocas— Ecuador (“PTESA-E”), and the ACI relatedets of Profesionales en
Transacciones Electronicas S.A. — Colombia (“PTES}-collectively “PTESA”. The common stock of PTEE and PTESA-V were
acquired for $2.8 million and the assets of PTES¥ete acquired for $11.4 million, for a total aggaee purchase price of $14.2 million paid
in cash. The Company has included the financiallt®@ef PTESA in our consolidated financial statetsdrom the date of acquisition. PTESA
has been a long-term partner of the Company, soustomers in South America in sales, servicesaipgort functions. The addition of the
PTESA team to the Company reinforces its commitrt@serve the Latin American market.
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Factors contributing to the purchase price thailted in the goodwill (approximately $1.5 milliofiwhich is not tax deductible) include the
acquisition of management, sales, and servicespees with the skills to market and support prodwftthe Company in the Latin America
region. Pro forma results are not presented bedheyeare not material.

In connection with the acquisitions, the Compargorded the following amounts based upon its prelani purchase price allocations during
the year ended December 31, 2013, which are subjecimpletion of valuations and other analysesh@usands, except weighted-average
useful lives):

Official
Weighted-Average Payments Online
Holdings, Resourses
Useful Lives Inc. Corporation PTESA
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 25,87 $ 9,93 $ 19:
Billed and accrued receivables, | 2,85¢ 19,39 327
Deferred income taxes, r 2,64 11,22: —
Other current asse 27,76¢ 17,66: 87
Total current assets acquir 59,13¢ 58,20¢ 607
Noncurrent asset
Property and equipme 8,141 7,33t 6
Goodwill 43,51 122,46¢ 7,12(
Software 10 years 20,00( 62,21¢ 7,732
Customer relationshig 14-15 years 47,50( 68,75( —
Trademark 3-5 years 5,06t 3,05( —
Other noncurrent asse 6,791 2,05¢ 7
Total assets acquire 190,14 324,08t 15,47:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl 8,57 15,39: 341
Accrued employee compensati 14,90¢ 10,54¢ 261
Note payable — 7,50C —
Other current liabilitie 26,06 7,25¢ —
Total current liabilities acquire 49,53¢ 40,70 602
Noncurrent liabilities
Deferred income taxes, r — 19,81 22t
Other noncurrent liabilities acquirt 82¢ 3,45: 43¢
Total liabilities acquiret 50,36¢ 63,96¢ 1,26¢
Net assets acquire $139,78: $ 260,11¢ $14,20¢

Fiscal 2012 Acquisition
In 2012, the Company completed three acquisitibmmaggregate cost of $641.7 million.
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Distra Pty Ltd

On September 18, 2012, the Company closed thestigniof 100% of Distra Pty Ltd (“Distra”). The @wpany has included the financial
results of Distra in our consolidated financiakstaents from the date of acquisition. The Distraversal Payments Platform delivers a fault-
tolerant, Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA)-bapagiments platform that helps to significantly reglthe risk and cost of payments
transformation without compromising security, peniance, scalability and reliability. The integratiof the Company’s and Distra’s
technologies will enable financial institutionsppessors and retailers to enhance the flexibihty performance of their existing payments
infrastructure to address market needs, such adenebcial channels and payment service hubsddiitian, this acquisition will enable the
Company’s payment products to integrate more tyghith customers’ enterprise architectures, redytieir total cost of ownership.

The aggregate purchase price of Distra was $49IBmand was paid with existing cash balances. diwesideration paid by the Company to
complete the acquisition has been allocated ta$sets acquired and liabilities assumed basedthparestimated fair values as of the date of
the acquisition. The allocation of purchase pricbased upon certain external valuations and etteiyses that have been completed as of th
date of this filing.

The Company made final adjustments to the prelirgiparchase price allocation as additional infoliorabecame available to deferred ince
taxes and other current liabilities. These adjustsiand any resulting adjustments to the statenoémigerations were not material to the
Company’s previously reported operating resultSnancial position. Factors contributing to the ghase price that resulted in the goodwill
(which is not tax deductible) include the acquigitof management, technical, and services persevittethe skills to support products of the
Company in addition to the enhanced focus on prodnovation and enabling cross-selling opportesitivhen coupled with the Company’s
suite of payments products. Pro forma results at@resented because they are not material.

North Data Uruguay S./

On May 24, 2012, the Company closed the acquisidfddorth Data Uruguay S.A. North Data had beeorgiterm partner of the Company,
serving customers in South America in sales, serai@ support functions. The addition of the N@tta team to the Company reinforces its
commitment to serve the Latin American market.

The aggregate purchase price of North Data wasrdlién, which included cash acquired of $0.1 moitl. The consideration paid by the
Company to complete the acquisition has been a#ddm the assets acquired and liabilities assumasdd upon their estimated fair values as
of the date of the acquisition, including $3.5 mill of goodwill and $2.2 million of customer relatiships with a weighted-average useful life
of 12.6 years.

Factors contributing to the purchase price thailted in the goodwill (which is not tax deductibleglude the acquisition of management,
sales, and services personnel with the skills tcketaand support products of the Company in thénL&merica region. Pro forma results are
not presented because they are not material.

S1 Corporation

On February 10, 2012, the Company completed thbamge offer for S1 Corporation and all its subsidi The acquisition was effectively
closed on February 13, 2012 for approximately $8&&illion in cash and 5.9 million shares of the Quamy’s stock, including 95,500 shares
reissued from Treasury stock, resulting in a tptathase price of $587.3 million (the “Merger”).efbombination of the Company and S1 has
created a leader in the global enterprise paymedtstry. The combined company has enhanced dwaladth, and additional capabilities, as
well as a complementary suite of products that méliter serve the entire spectrum of financialitusons, processors and retailers.

Under the terms of the transaction, S1 stockholdeudd elect to receive $10.00 in cash or 0.3148eshof the Company’s stock for each S1
share they owned, subject to proration, such thtte aggregate 33.8% of S1 shares were exchang#tefCompany’s shares and 66.2% wer
exchanged for cash. No S1 shareholders receivetidinal shares of the Company’s stock. Insteadtdta# number of shares that each holder
of S1 common stock received was rounded down to¢lagest whole number, and the Company paid casinforesulting fractional share
determined by multiplying the fraction by $34.14.

Each outstanding option to acquire S1 common stakcanceled and terminated at the effective tifribeoMerger and converted into the
right to receive the merger consideration with eetpo the number of shares of S1 common stockibatd have been issuable upon a net
exercise of such option, assuming the market vaflilee S1 common stock at the time of such exem&e equal to the value of the merger
consideration as of the close of trading on theidagediately prior to the effective date of the lger. Any outstanding option with a per share
exercise price that was greater than or equaldb amount was cancelled and terminated and no paywes made with respect thereto. In
addition, each S1 restricted stock unit award aatding immediately prior to the effective time b&tMerger was fully vested and cancelled,
and each holder of such awards became entitlezttmve the Merger Consideration for each sharelafd®mon stock into which the vested
portion of the awards would otherwise have beewerad. Each S1 restricted stock award was vestatkediately prior to the effective time
the Merger and was entitled to receive the Mergarditleration.
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Additionally, the Company had previously purchaselD7,000 shares of S1 stock that were held atablaifor-sale securities prior to the
acquisition date. The fair value of those sharesf &ebruary 13, 2012, has been included in thed mirchase price with the previously
unrealized gain of approximately $1.6 million bemegognized as a gain and included in other inc@rpense) in the statements of operation:
for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The Company used $73.7 million of its cash baldoc¢he acquisition in addition to $295.0 milliohsenior bank financing arranged through
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC. See NoteDgbt, for terms of the financing arrangement.

The consideration paid by the Company to completeatquisition has been allocated to the assetsradeand liabilities assumed based upon
their estimated fair values as of the date of twissition.

The purchase price of S1 Corporation’s common s&gclf the date of acquisition was comprised ofi{ousands):

Amount
Cash payments to S1 shareholders $365,91¢
Issuance of ACI common stor 204,85
Reissuance of treasury stc 2,17¢
Cash payments for noncompete agreem 2,77¢
S1 shares previously held as avail-for-sale securitie 11,557
Total Purchase Pric $587,28:

The Company incurred approximately $6.1 millioriransaction related expenses during the year ebdedmber 31, 2012, including fees to
the investment bank, legal and other professiceed,fwhich are included in general and adminisakpenses in the accompanying
consolidated statement of income.

The Company has included the financial resultsloinSts consolidated financial statements fromdh& of acquisition. S1 contributed an
estimated $161.9 million in revenue during the yeradted December 31, 2012. S1 had an estimatedriich in operating losses for the year
ended December 31, 2012, which includes non-remuséverance and accelerated share-based comparesgiense related to the integration
activities. Certain revenue and expenses have ésénated that are no longer separately identdialole to integration activities.

Factors contributing to the purchase price thatlted in the goodwill (which is not tax deductibleglude the acquisition of management,
sales, and technology personnel with the skiliméwket new and existing products of the Companlyaeced global product capabilities, and
complementary products and customers.
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In connection with the acquisitions, the Compargorded the following amounts based upon its puipaige allocations during the year
ended December 31, 2013 (in thousands, except teeigiverage useful lives):

Weighted-Average Distra Pty
s1
Useful Lives Corporation Ltd
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 97,74¢ $ 2
Billed and accrued receivables, | 65,32¢ 33¢
Other current asse 16,79: 1,152
Total current assets acquir 179,86¢ 1,492
Noncurrent asset
Property and equipme 18,44( 96
Goodwill 256,24 21,30%
Software 5-10 years 87,51’ 18,80:
Customer relationshig 10-20 years 108,69( 6,20(
Trademarks 3 years 4,50( —
Covenant not to compe 3 years 36C —
Deferred income ta 40,63¢ 12,33
Other noncurrent asse 11,00«
Total assets acquire 707,25 60,22¢
Current liabilities:
Deferred revenu 34,67: 32C
Accrued employee compensati 34,68¢ 1,20¢
Other current liabilitie: 28,381 73€
Total current liabilities acquire 97,74, 2,261
Noncurrent liabilities
Deferred income ta 15,79¢ 8,217
Other noncurrent liabilities acquirt 6,431 —
Total liabilities acquiret 119,97. 10,47¢
Net assets acquire $ 587,28: $49,75(

The pro forma financial information in the tablddye presents the combined results of operationghi®Company, OPAY and ORCC as if the
acquisitions had occurred January 1, 2012 and $lttesacquisition had occurred on January 1, 201thousands, except per share data).
pro forma information is shown for illustrative paises only and is not necessarily indicative afreiresults of operations of the Company or
results of operations of the Company that wouldehastually occurred had the transactions beerféctefor the periods presented. This pro
forma information is not intended to represent@iralicative of actual results had the acquisitoourred as of the beginning of each period,
nor is it necessarily indicative of future reswtsl does not reflect potential synergies, integnatiosts, or other such costs or savings. Certair
pro forma adjustments have been made to net indonike years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl 20dive effect to estimated
adjustments to expenses to remove the amortizatiaiiminated OPAY, ORCC and S1 historical ideabfe intangible assets and added
amortization expense for the value of identifiechimgibles acquired in the acquisitions (primaritgaired software, customer relationships,
trade names, and covenants not to compete), adjusdro interest expense to reflect the eliminatibpreexisting OPAY, ORCC and S1 debt
and added estimated interest expense on the Corspadditional Term Credit Facility and Revolvingedit Facility borrowings and to
eliminate share-based compensation expense foinalied positions. Additionally, certain transactexpenses that are a direct result of the
acquisitions have been excluded from the yearstebgeember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.
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Pro Forma Results of Operations for the Yea
Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Total Revenues $1,027,42. $1,017,68. $722,21(
Net Income 78,00: 64,44 46,22
Income per share
Basic $ 1.9¢ $ 1.67 $ 1.1¢
Diluted $ 1.9¢ $ 1.61 $ 1.1¢

3. Software and Other Intangible Assets

At December 31, 2013, software net book value ¢dt&191.5 million, net of $95.3 million of accumiald amortization. Included in this
amount is software marketed for external sale df@®nillion. The remaining software net book vatii&97.5 million is comprised of various
software that has been acquired or developed ferrial use.

At December 31, 2012, software net book value ¢0it§1129.3 million, net of $69.4 million of accumigld amortization. Included in this
amount is software marketed for external sale @0%4 million. The remaining software net book vadié&28.9 million is comprised of vario
software that has been acquired or developed fernal use.

Amortization of acquired software marketed for exét sale is computed using the greater of the Gftcurrent revenues to total current and
anticipated revenues expected to be derived frensdifitware or the straight-line method over ameestied useful life of generally three to ten
years. Software for resale amortization expenserded during the years ended December 31, 2012, &3d 2011 totaled $13.6 million, $1:
million, and $6.3 million, respectively. These sgdte amortization expense amounts are reflectedshof license in the consolidated
statements of income.

Amortization of software for internal use is comguaiusing the straight-line method over an estimasedul life of three to ten years. Software
for internal use amortization expense recordedhdutie years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 andtatéad $19.1 million, $11.6 million,
and $8.1 million, respectively. These software diration expense amounts are reflected in depieniand amortization in the consolidated
statements of income.

The carrying amount and accumulated amortizatiadh@fCompany’s other intangible assets that webgstito amortization at each balance
sheet date are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

Carrying Net Carrying Net

Amount Amortization Balance Amount Amortization Balance
Customer relationships $277,35¢ $ (49,41() $227,94¢ $157,36:0 $ (33,727 $123,63°
Purchased contrac 10,86¢ (10,865 — 10,82: (10,549 274
Trademarks and tradenan 13,99t (4,387) 9,612 5,83( (2,09¢) 3,73¢
Covenant not to compe 43¢ (303) 13t 44z (187) 25E

$302,65« $ (64,967 $237,69: $174.45° $ (46,559 $127,90(
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Other intangible assets amortization expense redoddring the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@l1 totaled $18.5 million, $12.1
million, and $6.4 million, respectively. Based apitalized intangible assets at December 31, 281@assuming no impairment of these
intangible assets, estimated amortization expemseiats in future fiscal years are as follows (ioubands):

Other

Intangible

Software Assets
Fiscal Year Ending December 3: Amortization Amortization
2014 $ 3541 $ 22,43
2015 29,06: 19,10:¢
2016 25,47 18,05(
2017 21,28¢ 15,76¢
2018 20,74, 15,25¢
Thereafte! 59,48 147,08
Total $ 191,46¢ $ 237,69:

4. Debt

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $455 dbmind $300 million outstanding under our Terned@t Facility and Senior Notes,
respectively, with up to $250 million of unused fmwings under the Revolving Credit Facility portiohthe Credit Agreement, as amended.
The amount of unused borrowings actually availablges in accordance with the terms of the agreémen

Credit Agreement

The Company entered into the Credit Agreement“@hedit Agreement”), as amended, with a syndicdténancial institutions, as lenders,
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wéllrgo”), as Administrative Agent, providing for mving loans, swingline loans, letters of
credit and a term loan on November 10, 2011. Treali€Agreement consists of a five-year $250 millgamior secured revolving credit facility
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”), which includessablimit for the issuance of standby letters @fdirand a sublimit for swingline loans, and a
five-year $500 million senior secured term loarilfigc(the “Term Credit Facility” and, together withe Revolving Credit Facility, the “Credit
Facility”). The Credit Agreement also allows then@many to request optional incremental term loambkiacreases in the revolving
commitment.

In connection with obtaining the credit agreemertd &is amendments, the Company incurred debt isssits of $24.1 million, $11.8 million of
which were paid at December 31, 2011, $1.0 milliA012 and $11.3 million in 2013.

On August 20, 2013, upon the consummation of tferiofy of the 6.375% Senior Notes due in 2020 {Senior Notes”), the Fourth
Amendment to the Credit Agreement originally entiéréo on November 10, 2011, became effective. Atwrth Amendment, among other
things, extended the maturity date of the loansutitk credit facility to August 20, 2018, and gased the amount the Company may reques
for optional incremental term loans and/or incredeethe revolving commitment from $200 million$800 million. The Fourth Amendment
does not impact the interest rate schedule prelieuplied to the Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interaisa rate per annum equal to, at the Company’sopgither (a) a base rate determined by
reference to the highest of (1) the rate of intgpes annum publicly announced by the Administetgent as its Prime Rate, (2) the federal
funds effective rate plus 1/2 of 1% and (3) a LIBBé&ed rate determined by reference to the costsds for U.S. dollar deposits for a one-
month interest period adjusted for certain addalawosts plus 1% or (b) a LIBOR based rate detegthlyy reference to the costs of funds for
U.S. dollar deposits for the interest period retgwa such borrowing adjusted for certain additlarmsts, in each case plus an applicable
margin. The applicable margin for borrowings unither Revolving Credit Facility is, based on the aldtion of the applicable consolidated
total leverage ratio, between 0.50% to 1.50% wegpect to base rate borrowings and between 1.5@%.80% with respect to LIBOR based
borrowings. Interest is due and payable monthlye ifiterest rate in effect at December 31, 2013HerCredit Facility was 2.42%.

In addition to paying interest on the outstandinggpal under the Credit Facility, the Companyeaguired to pay a commitment fee in respeci
of the unutilized commitments under the Revolvingdit Facility, payable quarterly in arrears. Then@any is also required to pay letter of
credit fees on the maximum amount available torbevd under all outstanding letters of credit ineamount equal to the applicable margin on
LIBOR based borrowings under the Revolving Creditifity on a per annum basis, payable quarterlyriears, as well as customary fronting
fees for the issuance of letters of credit feesagehcy fees.
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The Company is permitted to voluntarily reduce uhetilized portion of the commitment amount andageputstanding loans under the Credit
Facility at any time without premium or penaltyhet than customary “breakage” costs with respettB®R based loans.

Senior Notes

On August 20, 2013, the Company completed a $30mbffering of Senior Notes at an issue pricel60% of the principal amount in a
private placement for resale to qualified institn@l buyers. The Senior Notes bear an interesbfde8375% per annum, payable seaminually
in arrears on August 15 and February 15 of each geaamencing on February 15, 2014. Interest veidirae from August 20, 2013. The Ser
Notes will mature on August 15, 2020. In connectigth the issuance of the Senior Notes the Compracyrred debt issue costs of $i
million, of which $5.9 million was paid as of Decker 31, 2013.

Maturities on long-term debt outstanding at Decen®ie 2013 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Fiscal year ending December 3

2014 $ 47,31
2015 65,05¢
2016 70,96¢
2017 70,96¢
2018 201,07
Thereaftel 300,00(
Total $755,38:

The Credit Agreement and Senior Notes also comtitain customary mandatory prepayment provisificertain events, as specified in the
Credit Agreement or Senior Notes agreement, slealip the Company may be required to repay alloréion of the amounts outstanding
under the Credit Facility or Senior Notes.

The Credit Facility will mature on August 20, 2048d the Senior Notes will mature on August 20, 202@ Revolving Credit Facility and
Senior Notes will not amortize and the Term Cré&gitility will amortize, with principal payable ironsecutive quarterly installments.

The Company’s obligations and the obligations efdliarantors under the Guaranty and cash managamangements entered into with
lenders under the Credit Facility (or affiliategtbof) are secured by first-priority security im#ts in substantially all assets of the Company
and any guarantor, including 100% of the capitatlstof ACI Corporation and each domestic subsidarthe Company, each domestic
subsidiary of any guarantor and 65% of the votiagital stock of each foreign subsidiary of the Camypthat is directly owned by the
Company or a guarantor, and in each case, is subjeertain exclusions set forth in the creditwlmentation governing the Credit Facility.

The Credit Agreement and Senior Notes contain iceciastomary affirmative covenants and negativeecawts that limit or restrict, subject to
certain exceptions, the incurrence of liens, inddbéss of subsidiaries, mergers, advances, investraequisitions, transactions with affilia
change in nature of business and the sale of 8&tsasThe Company is also required to maintaimaalaated leverage ratio at or below a
specified amount and a consolidated fixed chargerage ratio at or above a specified amount. vant of default, as specified in the Credit
Agreement and Senior Notes agreement, shall oecmiba continuing, the Company may be requiredpayell amounts outstanding under
the Credit Facility and Senior Notes. As of Decenfe 2013, and at all times during the period,Gloenpany was in compliance with its
financial debt covenants.
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The fair value of our Credit Agreement approximdtescarrying value due to the floating interest d.evel 2 of the fair value hierarchy). T
fair value of our Senior Notes approximates theyiag value at December 31, 2013.

December 31

2013 2012

Term credit facility $455,38: $186,25(

Revolving credit facility — 188,00(
6.375% Senior Notes, due August 2( 300,00( —

Total debt 755,38! 374,25

Less current portion of term credit facil 47,318 17,50(

Total lon¢-term debr $708,07( $356,75(

Other

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynfimenced the five-year license agreement foradelinternally-used software for $14.8
million with annual payments due in April throug@1®. Of this amount, $9.3 million is remaining &Hecember 31, 2013, with $3.0 million
recorded in other current liabilities and $6.3 millin other noncurrent liabilities in the accompiaug consolidated balance sheet.

5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that wdnddeceived to sell an asset or paid to transfiebdity in an orderly transaction between
market participants. ASC 820 establishes a fauevlierarchy for valuation inputs that gives thghleist priority to quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities and lthwest priority to unobservable inputs. The faatue hierarchy is as follows:

» Level 1 Inputs—Unadjusted quoted prices itiveamarkets for identical assets or liabilitieattthe reporting entity has the
ability to access at the measurement date.

» Level 2 Inputs—Inputs other than quoted pricetuded in Level 1 that are observable for theeasr liability, either directly or
indirectly. These might include quoted prices fionikar assets or liabilities in active markets, tpeprices for identical or similar assets
or liabilities in markets that are not active, itgpather than quoted prices that are observablénéasset or liability (such as interest
rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credittiskc.) or inputs that are derived principallynfror corroborated by market data by
correlation or other means.

» Level 3 Inputs—Unobservable inputs for deterimg the fair values of assets or liabilities theftect an entity’s own
assumptions about the assumptions that marketipenits would use in pricing the assets or liabsit

Available-for-Sale Securities=quity securities are reported at fair value utiiglevel 1 inputs. The Company’s equity securit€$10.6

million at December 31, 2011 were comprised entiodlS1 Corporation common stock. The Companyagdiquoted prices from an active
exchange market to fair value its equity securifléee Company acquired S1 during the first quast&@012, subsequently the S1 common
stock has been delisted and all S1 assets antitiezbhave been consolidated into the Companyfsobidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company recogaigeih of approximately $1.6 million during the yeaded December 31, 2012 related
to price appreciation of the S1 shares held pddahé acquisition date. See Note 2 for furtheruson.

The Company assesses its classifications withiffidinealue hierarchy at each reporting period.r€hgere no transfers between any levels of
the fair value hierarchy during the periods preséim the table below.

The fair values of cash equivalents approximatectireying values.
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6. Corporate Restructuring and Other Organizational Changes
Employee Action

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpeluced its headcount by 147 employees as apistintegration of its recent
acquisitions. In connection with these actions rapipately $8.9 million of termination costs weexognized in general and administrative
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateroéiitsome during the year ended December 31, Z0A8.charges, by segment, were as
follows for the year December 31, 2013: $6.3 millino the Americas segment, $2.2 million in the EM&#gment, and $0.4 million in the
Asia/Pacific segment. Approximately $7.4 milliontbEse termination costs were paid during the gaded December 31, 2013. The
remaining liability is expected to be paid over tiext 12 months.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynpeluced its headcount by 272 employees as apistintegration of its recent
acquisitions. In connection with these actions rapimately $9.2 million of termination costs werxognized in general and administrative
expense in the accompanying consolidated staternéimsome during the year ended December 31, Z0i€.charges, by segment, were as
follows for the year December 31, 2012: $3.7 millino the Americas segment, $4.6 million in the EM&#gment, and $0.9 million in the
Asia/Pacific segment. Approximately $8.4 milliontbEse termination costs were paid during the gaded December 31, 2012,

Lease Termination

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpeased use of all or a portion of its leasedifas in Chantilly, VA, North Brunswick
NJ, Columbus, OH, Duluth, GA, and Bangalore, Indikich resulted in additional expense of $1.7 willthat was recorded in general :
administrative expenses in the accompanying catesteddl statements of income for the year ended DiseeBl, 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynjgaminated the lease for its facility in New YoNew York. Under the terms of the
termination agreement, the Company paid a ternundée of approximately $1.1 million that was retst in general and administrative
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statsro&irtcome for the year ended December 31, 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynigaminated the lease for its facility in Dublireland. Under the terms of the
termination agreement, the Company agreed to pesn@nation fee of approximately $2.8 million, ohigh $2.3 million was recorded in
general and administrative expenses in the accoyimmpoonsolidated statements of income for the yealed December 31, 2012. The
remaining balance of $0.5 million had been accalifde as an unfavorable lease liability in the Sitchase price allocation. The termination
fee was paid during the year ended December 32.201

During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Compaased use of all or a portion of its leasedifaslin Toronto, Canada and Chertsey,
England, which resulted in additional expense o8$iillion that was recorded in general and adriaisve expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income for the yearebdzember 31, 2012.

The components of corporate restructuring and athanganization activities from the recent acqigai are included in the following table (in
thousands):

Facility
Severanc Closures Total
Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 61¢ $1,29¢ $1,91¢
Restructuring charges incurr 8,88¢ — 8,88t
Unfavorable lease liabilit — 1,70¢ 1,70¢
Amounts paid during the peric (7,996 (1,099 (9,087
Foreign currency translation adjustme (39 (42 (79)
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1,47( $1,871 $ 3,341

The $1.5 million for unpaid severance is include@mployee compensation and the $1.9 million fqraieh facilities closures is included in
other current liabilities in the accompanying cditiied balance sheet at December 31, 2013.
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7. Common Stock and Treasury Stock

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s Board oé®ors had approved a stock repurchase prograroraitiy the Company, from time to
time as market and business conditions warrarggguoiire up to $210 million of its common stock February 2012, the Company’s Board of
Directors approved an increase of $52.1 milliothtir current stock repurchase authorization, binigghe total authorization to $262.1 millic

On September 13, 2012, the Company’s Board of Rire@pproved the repurchase of up to 2,500,00@ sl the Compang’common stocl
or up to $113.0 million in place of the remainimpurchase amounts previously authorized. On Segte#ih 2012, the Company entered into
an agreement to repurchase 2,492,600 common stacknts from International Business Machines (“IBNBSr $29.6 million, which was
funded under the stock repurchase plan.

In July 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors appd an additional $100 million for the stock reghase program.

The Company repurchased 1,656,808 shares for $@0i8n under the program during the year endedeDgloer 31, 2013. Under the program
to date, the Company has purchased 11,176,680sstuar@pproximately $325.8 million. The maximum eéning authorized for purchase
under the stock repurchase program was approxiyndi€l9.7 million as of December 31, 2013. On Felyr@4, 2014, the Company’s Board
of Directors approved an additional $100 milliom fiee stock repurchase program.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Coynipegan to issue shares of treasury stock upawcisgeof stock options, payment of
earned performance shares, issuance of restriciekl swards and for issuances of common stock patdo the Company’s employee stock
purchase plan. Treasury shares issued during Hreeyeled December 31, 2011 included 361,093 arid) 8/3ares issued pursuant to stock
option exercises and restricted share award gnaagpectively. Treasury shares issued during the geded December 31, 2012 included
847,301 and 226,594 shares issued pursuant to apdick exercises and restricted share award grasgectively. Treasury shares issued
during the year ended December 31, 2013 includé&¢28, 8,663 and 327,576 shares issued pursuatddk option exercises, Restricted sl
award (“RSA") grants, and long-term incentive pamgrperformance share awards (“LTIP PerformanceeShavesting, respectively.

8. Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share is computed in accordance wi@i 260, Earnings per ShareBasic earnings per share is computed on the bésis
weighted average outstanding common shares. Dikaetings per share is computed on the basis af Wasghted average outstanding
common shares adjusted for the dilutive effectotls options and other outstanding dilutive se@sit

The following table reconciles the average shareunnts used to compute both basic and diluted egsrper share (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Weighted average share outstand
Basic weighted average shares outstan 39,29¢ 38,69¢ 33,45%
Add: Dilutive effect of stock options, restrictelek awards and other dilutive
securities 723 1,20¢ 73€
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 40,01¢ 39,90¢ 34,19¢

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, atitd 28spectively, 1.5 million, 1.7 million and 318llion options to purchase shares,
contingently issuable shares, and common stockantemvere excluded from the diluted net incomespare computation as their effect wo
be anti-dilutive.

Common stock outstanding as of December 31, 20d26ath2 was 38,854,989 and 39,447,773, respectively.
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9. Other, net

Other, net is comprised of the following items tfiwusands):

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Foreign currency transaction losses $(2,697) $ (750) $(759)
Realized gain on availat-for-sale securitie — 1,55 —
Other (630) (40€) (49)
Total $(3,327) $ 39¢ $(802)

10. Segment Information

The Company’s chief operating decision maker, togietvith other senior management personnel, cuyréatus their review of consolidated
financial information and the allocation of res@sdased on reporting of operating results, inolydévenues and operating income for the
geographic regions of the Americas, EMEA and Asaific and the Corporate segment. The Company’dynts are sold and supported
through distribution networks covering these thgeegraphic regions, with each distribution netwaking its own sales force. The Company
supplements its distribution networks with indepamicteseller and/or distributor arrangements. Athaistrative costs that are not directly
attributable or reasonably allocable to a geog@pbgment are tracked in the Corporate segmerguéts, the Company has concluded that its
three geographic regions are its reportable segment

The Company allocates segment support expensesasigihbal product development, business operatansproduct management based
upon percentage of revenue per segment. Depretiaticd amortization and other facility related c@stsallocated as a percentage of the
headcount by segment. The Corporate line item st;ef the corporate overhead costs that are looiadéd to operating segments. Corporate
overhead costs relate to human resources, findegad, accounting, merger and acquisition actigityl amortization of acquisition-related
intangibles and software as well as other costsatteanot considered when management evaluatessegerformance.
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Revenues
Americas
EMEA
Asia/Pacific

Depreciation and amortization expen
Americas
EMEA
Asia/Pacific
Corporate

Stoclk-based compensation exper
Americas
EMEA
Asia/Pacific
Corporate

Income (loss) before taxe
Americas
EMEA
Asia/Pacific
Corporate

Long lived assets
America—United State:
America—Other
EMEA
Asia/Pacific

Total assets
America—United State!
America—Other
EMEA
Asia/Pacific
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The following is selected segment financial dataffie periods indicated (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
$ 541,89( $ 352,19 $245,70:
228,67 218,01! 164,87
94,35¢ 96,36 54,51¢
$ 864,92¢ $ 666,57 $465,09!
$ 17,03( $ 10,917 $ 11,13¢
6,31( 5,17¢ 4,47:
2,57¢ 3,07t 3,41(
44 05: 31,61« 9,35t
$ 69,967 $ 50,78 $ 28,371
$ 2,39C $ 25€ $ 1,49¢
75¢ 43¢ 4023
292 314 41¢€
10,12¢ 14,17 8,937
$ 13,57: $ 15,18¢ $ 11,25¢
$ 145,49¢ $ 103,16! $ 84,39:
87,52: 78,84¢ 45,75¢
33,92 32,67: 6,96:
(173,78) (149,419 (72,796
$ 93,15¢ $ 65,26¢ $ 64,31
December 31
2013 2012
$ 832,16¢ $ 453,10:
18,70¢ 11,712
262,90¢ 256,55t
82,85¢ 110,02(
$1,196,63 $ 831,39(
December 31
2013 2012
$1,129,06. $ 635,55¢
39,99¢ 26,58(
380,32( 404,01¢
132,47: 184,73
$1,681,85: $1,250,88!
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Additionally, the Company offers seven primary prodcategories that are sold in each of the getirapgions listed above. Following are
revenues, by product line (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Retail payments processing $410,20( $372,94. $289,50:
Online Banking and Community Financial Servi 223,90: 169,65. 47,28:
Wholesale banking paymer 35,39¢ 39,71% 34,35:
Payment fraud manageme 37,13¢ 25,16( 32,93¢
Card and merchant managem 18,07: 21,96: 23,13(
Tools and infrastructur 38,24 37,14¢ 37,88t
Billers 101,98: — —

Total $864,92( $666,57¢ $465,09!

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@and, approximately 28%, 32%, and 43%, respectjwdlyhe Company’s total revenues
were derived from licensing the BASE24 product liwkich does not include the BASE24-eps produd, @oviding related services and
maintenance.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, revenues in the United States were approglgn&t50.3 million, $277.8 million,
and $188.0 million, respectively.

No country outside of the United States accountedrfore than 10% of the Comp¢s consolidated revenues during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. No single custansaunted for more than 10% of the Company’s alifsted revenues during the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

11. Stock-Based Compensation Plans
Employee Stock Purchase PI

Under the Company’s 1999 Employee Stock Purchase (fie “ESPP”), a total of 1,500,000 shares ofGbmpany’s common stock have
been reserved for issuance to eligible employeasicipating employees are permitted to designptouhe lesser of $25,000, or 10% of their
annual base compensation, for the purchase of constack under the ESPP. Purchases under the E8PPade one calendar month after the
end of each fiscal quarter. The price for sharesoaimon stock purchased under the ESPP is 85% afttitk’s fair market value on the last
business day of the three-month participation per8hares issued under the ESPP during the yedesl @ecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
totaled 42,856, 40,798 and 40,669, respectively.

Additionally, the discount offered pursuant to @empany’s ESPP discussed above is 15%, which ex¢bhed% norcompensatory guidelir
in ASC 718 and exceeds the Company’s estimatedofoatsing capital. Consequently, the entire 15%calnt to employees is deemed to be
compensatory for purposes of calculating expensgwsfair value method. Compensation cost reladetie ESPP for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was $0.3 million. Compensatiatsc@lated to the ESPP for each of the two yaatsdDecember 31, 2012 and 2011
approximately $0.2 million.

On July 24, 2007, the Company’s stockholders apm@ proposal to amend the ESPP to extend thedtfettme ESPP by ten years to April 30,
2018. The term of the amended ESPP commenced M2308,and continues until April 30, 2018 subjectaolier termination by the
Company'’s board of directors.

Stock Incentive Plans — Active Plans

The Company has a 2005 Equity and Performance fivedflan, as amended (the “2005 Incentive Plaurifler which shares of the
Company’s common stock have been reserved fornssu® eligible employees or non-employee direadbthe Company. The 2005
Incentive Plan provides for the grant of incensteck options, nonqualified stock options, stocgrapiation rights, restricted stock awards,
performance awards and other awards. The maximumibauof shares of the Company’s common stock tlagt Ipe issued or transferred in
connection with awards granted under the 2005 tigeRlan is the sum of (i) 3,000,000 shares ain@uliy shares represented by outstanding
options that had been granted under designatednizted stock option plans that are subsequentfgifed, expire or are canceled without
delivery of the Company’s common stock.
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On July 24, 2007, the stockholders of the Compagpyaved the First Amendment to the 2005 Incentiham Wvhich increased the number of
shares authorized for issuance under the plan &6@0,000 to 5,000,000 and contained certain @hemdments, including an amendment to
provide that the exercise price for any optionsiggd under the 2005 Incentive Plan, as amended nwidye less than the market value per
share of common stock on the date of grant. On 34n2012, the stockholders of the Company appréve®&econd Amendment to the 2005
Incentive Plan which increased the number of shanésorized for issuance under the plan from 5@@{o 7,750,000.

Stock options granted pursuant to the 2005 IncerRian are granted at an exercise price not lessttie market value per share of the
Company’s common stock on the date of the gramdr Ry the adoption of the First Amendment to tB@2 Incentive Plan, stock options
granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan were gramtddan exercise price not less than the marketevper share of common stock on the date
immediately preceding the date of grant. Under2®@5 Incentive Plan, the term of the outstandintipog may not exceed ten years. Vesting
of options is determined by the Compensation Cotemidf the Board of Directors, the administratothef 2005 Incentive Plan, and can vary
based upon the individual award agreements.

Performance awards granted pursuant to the 20@nfive Plan become payable upon the achievemeateafified management objectives.
Each performance award specifies: (i) the numbg@ediormance shares or units granted, (ii) thegpeoif time established to achieve the
management objectives, which may not be less tharyear from the grant date, (iii) the manageméjaatives and a minimum acceptable
level of achievement as well as a formula for dateing the number of performance shares or unitsezhif performance is at or above the
minimum level but short of full achievement of tlinagement objectives, and (iv) any other termmddeappropriate.

Restricted stock awards granted pursuant to thé B@ientive Plan have requisite service periodfiafe and four years and vest in increment
of 33% and 25%, respectively, on the anniversatyefgrant date. Under each arrangement, stoskued without direct cost to the employee

In relation to the acquisition of S1 Corporatiosalissed in Note 2, the Company amended the S1 @tipo2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as
previously amended and restated (the “S1 2003 tiveeRlan”). RSAs were granted to S1 employees b 8rporation prior to the acquisition
by the Company in accordance with the terms ofTtlamsaction Agreement (“Transaction RSAs”) under®1 2003 Incentive Plan. These are
the only equity awards currently outstanding unitierS1 2003 Incentive Plan and no further granisbeimade.

Under the terms of the Transaction Agreement withupon the acquisition, the S1 Transaction RSA®wenverted to RSAs of the
Company’s stock. These awards have requisite sepgdods of four years and vest in incrementss@éb 2n the anniversary of the original
grant date of November 9, 2011. If an employeernisiinated without cause within 12 months from tbguésition date, the RSAs 100% vest.
Stock is issued without direct cost to the employidee RSA grants provide for the payment of dividienn the Company’s common stock, if
any, to the participant during the requisite senperiod (vesting period) and the participant haténg rights for each share of common stock.
The conversion of the Transaction RSAs was treasesl modification and as such, they were valuedddiately prior to and after
modification. The Company recognizes compensatpeese for RSAs on a straight-line basis over ¢ogiisite service period. The
incremental fair value as measure upon modificatidhbe recognized on a straight-line basis frorodification date through the end of the
requisite service period.

Stock Incentive Plans — Terminated Plans with Oti@utstanding

Upon adoption of the 2005 Incentive Plan in Mar6B%, the Board terminated the following stock optans of the Company: (i) the 2002
Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as amend&dh@ MDL Amended and Restated Employee Shareo@itlan, as amended (iii) t
2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, asmaed (iv) the 1997 Management Stock Option Plsianaended (v) the 1996 Stock
Option Plan, as amended; and (vi) the 1994 Stodio@Plan, as amended. Termination of these stptibm plans did not affect any options
outstanding under these plans immediately prigetmination thereof.

The Company had a 2002 Non-Employee Director S@u#on Plan that was terminated in March 2005 wine 250,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock had been reserved for issuareligible non-employee directors of the Conypdie term of the outstanding
options is ten years. All outstanding options urtties plan are fully vested.

The Company had a 1999 Stock Option Plan, as ardetits expired in February 2009 whereby 4,0008@tes of the Company’s common
stock had been reserved for issuance to eligibl@@mes of the Company and its subsidiaries. Tire td the outstanding options is 10 years.
The options generally vest annually over a perioithiee or four years. All outstanding options untiés plan are fully vested.
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A summary of stock options issued under the vartogk Incentive Plans previously described andhgha is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Contractual Intrinsic Value of
Average
Number of Exercise Term In-the-Money
Shares Price ($) (Years) Options ($)
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 3,510,53i $ 21.5¢
Granted 367,20: 28.9¢
Exercisec (361,099 12.4(
Forfeited (26,597 20.5:
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,490,05! 23.2¢
Granted 435,36’ 42.4:
Exercisec (847,30) 19.7¢
Forfeited (105,54() 22.1¢
Expired (4,000 10.1¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 2,968,58: 27.1¢
Granted 402,67: 57.9(
Exercisec (826,06 23.4:
Forfeited (75,159 38.3i
Expired (429 28.9¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 2,469,60 $ 33.0i 5.74 $ 78,851,28
Exercisable, December 31, 20 1,780,13i $ 26.4¢ 4.3¢€ $ 68,575,31

At December 31, 2013, we expect that 93.9% of agtgranted will vest over the vesting period.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stgatlons granted during the years ended Decemhe2®@B, 2012, and 2011 was $26.16,
$20.56, and $14.00, respectively. The total inicinglue of stock options exercised during the yearded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 201
was $25.5 million, $17.3 million, and $6.7 milliargspectively.

The fair value of options granted in the respediiseal years was estimated on the date of grangubke Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
a pricing model acceptable under ASC 718, withftflewing weighted-average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Expected life (years) 6.2 6.2 5.9
Risk-free interest rat 1.6% 0.8% 1.4%
Expected volatility 46.(% 51.4% 50.€%

Expected dividend yiel — — _

Expected volatilities are based on the Companygtohical common stock volatility derived from hist@l stock price data for historic periods
commensurate with the options’ expected life. Tkeeted life of options granted represents theopesf time that options granted are
expected to be outstanding, based primarily oroticstl employee option exercise behavior. The fisk-interest rate is based on the implied
yield currently available on United States Treaszeso coupon issues with a term equal to the eggdife at the date of grant of the optio
The expected dividend yield is zero as the Compesyhistorically paid no dividends and does natgrate dividends to be paid in the future.

Stock Incentive Plar ORCC Corporation Stock Incentive Plan, as amendebtrastated

In relation to the acquisition of ORCC discussetliote 2, the Company amended the ORCC Stock IneeRian, as previously amended and
restated (the “ORCC Incentive PlanStock options were granted to ORCC employees by ORi@r to acquisition by the Company under
ORCC Incentive Plan. Outstanding ORCC options wereverted into ACI options in accordance with therts of the Transaction Agreement.
These are the only equity awards currently outstgndnder the ORCC Incentive Plan and no furthantg will be made.
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A summary of transaction stock options issued mnsto the Company’s stock incentive plans is dewis:

Weighted- Weighted- Aggregate
Average Intrinsic Value of
Number of Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual In-the-Money
Shares Price Term (Years) Options
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012 — $ —
Transaction stock options converted upon acquit
of ORCC 37,46¢ 91.92
Exercisec (5,167 41.7¢
Cancellec (11,480 90.62
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 20,81¢ $ 105.0¢ 2.05 $ 67,55¢
Exercisable as of December 31, 2( 20,81¢ $ 105.0¢ 2.0¢F $ 67,55¢

Long-term Incentive Program Performance Share Awards

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122@bd, pursuant to the Company’s 2005 Incentiva,Rlee Company granted LTIP
Performance Shares. These LTIP Performance Sharesmed, if at all, based upon the achievemest, @ specified period that must not be
less than one year and is typically a three-yedbpaance period, of performance goals related)tthé compound annual growth over the
performance period in the sales for the Compargesarmined by the Company, and (ii) the cumuladiperating income over the performance
period as determined by the Company. In no evelhtwy of the LTIP Performance Shares become eafribd Company’s sales growth or
cumulative operating income is below a predeterchiméimum threshold level at the conclusion of pleeformance period. Assuming
achievement of the predetermined sales growth anditative operating income threshold levels, upd6% of the LTIP Performance Shares
may be earned upon achievement of performance ggahd to or exceeding the maximum target levelstfe performance goals over the
performance period. Management must evaluate,quagterly basis, the probability that the threshmddformance goals will be achieved, if at
all, and the anticipated level of attainment inesrth determine the amount of compensation costscird in the consolidated financial
statements.

During the fourth quarter of the year ended Decar8the2011, the Company revised the expected attzin for the awards granted in fiscal
2010 from 100% to 175% due to changes in forecasibes and operating income. During the fourth iguaf the year ended December 31,
2013, the Company further revised the expectechattnt for the awards granted in fiscal 2010 fror6% to 130% due to changes in actual
sales and operating income. The expected attainratzs for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 grants are 100%.

At December 1, 2013, the LTIPs granted in 2010 vear@ed by the employees and the shares are edpedie issued in the first quarter of
2014. If a grantee voluntarily leaves the Compagipke issuance, they will be required to forfeditl. TIP awards. As such, the LTIP awards
granted in fiscal 2010 are not vested until theyissued to the individuals in 2014.
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A summary of the nonvested LTIP Performance Sharas follows:

Weighted-

Number of Average
Shares at Grant Date

Expected

Nonvested LTIP Performance Share Attainment Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 499,03! $ 20.5i
Granted 237,75: 28.9¢
Forfeited or expirel (36,687) 18.92
Change in expected attainment for 2009 and 201ftg 231,46¢ 22.71
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 931,57 23.3¢
Granted 273,59! 42.65
Forfeited or expirel (103,685 23.1Z
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,101,48. 28.1¢
Granted 266,10: 60.91
Vested (327,579 16.8:
Forfeited or expirel (62,837 36.9¢
Change in expected attainment for 2010 gr (70,989 26.6:
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 906,19: $ 41.3¢

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynipath 327,576 LTIP shares vest. The Company withb&P,754 of those shares to pay
the employees’ portion of the minimum payroll witidiing taxes.

Restricted Share Awart

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122@bd, pursuant to the Company’s 2005 Incentiva,Rlee Company granted restricted
share awards (“RSAs”). The awards have requisitéceeperiods of three years and vest in incremeh83% on the anniversary of the grant
dates. Under each arrangement, stock is issuedutittirect cost to the employee. The Company estisnhe fair value of the RSAs based
upon the market price of the Company’s stock atdte of grant. The RSA grants provide for the payhof dividends on the Company’s
common stock, if any, to the participant during teeguisite service period (vesting period) andghsicipant has voting rights for each shar
common stock. The Company recognizes compensatjgense for RSAs on a straight-line basis over ¢lggiisite service period.

A summary of nonvested RSAs are as follows:

Grant Date
Restricted

Nonvested Restricted Share Awarc Share Awards Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2(C 192,29¢ $ 18.4:
Granted 6,30( 28.9¢
Vested (86,325 18.31
Forfeited or expirer (12,250 17.52
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 100,02: 19.2¢
Granted 56,38¢ 44 .81
Vested (79,299 18.7:
Forfeited or expirel (7,879 16.7¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 69,23¢ 41.0z
Granted 8,667 48.2¢
Vested (29,549 37.0¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 48,35¢ $ 44.7¢

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, the Company had 29,546, 79,299, and 86,326dR&res vested, respectively. The
Company withheld 10,582, 23,813, and 25,495, of¢hespective shares to pay the employees’ parfitte minimum payroll withholding
taxes.
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Under the terms of the Transaction Agreement withuUpon the acquisition, the S1 Transaction RSA®wenverted to RSAs of the
Company'’s stock. These awards have requisite sepgdods of four years and vest in incrementss@b 2n the anniversary of the original
grant date of November 9, 2011. If an employeernsiinated without cause within 12 months from tbguésition date, the RSAs 100% vest.
Stock is issued without direct cost to the employide RSA grants provide for the payment of diviieon the Company’s common stock, if
any, to the participant during the requisite senperiod (vesting period) and the participant hasg rights for each share of common stock.
The conversion of the Transaction RSAs was treasesl modification and as such, they were valuedddiately prior to and after
modification. The Company recognizes compensatpeiese for RSAs on a straight-line basis over ¢ogiisite service period. The
incremental fair value as measure upon modificatidhbe recognized on a straight-line basis fromdification date through the end of the
requisite service period.

A summary of nonvested Transaction RSAs issuednthéeS1 2003 Stock Incentive Plan as of DecembeP@13 and changes during the
period are as follows:

Number of Weighted-Average Grant
Restricted
Nonvested Transaction Restricted Share Awarc Share Awards Date Fair Value
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( — $ —
Transaction RSAs converted upon acquisitio
S1 170,20! 35.41
Vested (100,689 35.41
Forfeited (19,276 35.41
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 50,24+ 35.41
Vested (11,86¢) 35.41
Forfeited (19,199 35.41
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 19,18¢ $ 35.41

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201266 and 100,685 shares of the Transaction R8sted, respectively. The Company
withheld 3,769 and 38,167 of those respective shiarpay the employees’ portion of the minimum p#ywithholding taxes.

As of December 31, 2013, there were unrecognizetpeasation costs of $13.5 million related to note@stock options, $2.3 million related
to the nonvested RSAs, and $22.0 million relatetth¢oL TIP performance shares, which the Compangetspto recognize over weighted-
average periods of 2.4 years, 1.8 years and 215 yasspectively.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation sepeacognized under ASC 718 during the years eldedmber 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011 related to stock options, LTIP Performance&haRSAs, and the ESPP of $13.6 million, $15.%0onil and $11.3 million, respectively,
with corresponding tax benefits of $5.2 million,$5nillion, and $4.1 million, respectively. Tax ledits in excess of the optiongrant date fa
value are classified as financing cash flows. Estéd forfeiture rates, stratified by employee dfacsgion, have been included as part of the
Company’s calculations of compensation costs. Tow@@any recognizes compensation costs for stockmjptivards which vest with the
passage of time with only service conditions otraight-line basis over the requisite service p&rio

Cash received from option exercises for the yededbecember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $19li6mi$16.7 million, $4.5 million,
respectively. The actual tax benefit realized Far tax deductions from option exercises totaled@ $éllion, $6.3 million, and $2.5 million, for
the year ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2€4ectively.

12. Employee Benefit Plans
ACI 401(k) Plar

The ACI 401(k) Plan is a defined contribution ptaovering all domestic employees of the Companytidtiaants may contribute up to 100%
their annual eligible compensation up to a maxinodirfi17,500 (for employees who are under the ag@afn December 31, 2013) or a
maximum of $23,000 (for employees aged 50 or obseDecember 31, 2013). After one year of service,Gompany matches participant
contributions 100% on every dollar deferred to aimam of 4% of eligible compensation contributedtie plan, not to exceed $4,000 per
employee annually. Company contributions chargezkfiense during the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2011 was $5.4 million,
$3.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively.
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ACI Worldwide EMEA Group Personal Pension Sch

The ACI Worldwide EMEA Group Personal Pension Schésra defined contribution plan covering substdiytiall ACl Worldwide (EMEA)
Limited (“ACI-EMEA”") employees. For those ACI-EME&mployees who elect to participate in the planGbepany contributes a minimum
of 8.5% of eligible compensation to the plan fopdoyees employed at December 1, 2000 (up to a mariwf 15.5% for employees aged ¢
55 years on December 1, 2000) or 6.0% of eligiblamensation for employees employed subsequentderbleer 1, 2000. ACI-EMEA

contributions charged to expense during each oyé¢laes ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 Wwagrilion.

13. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, income (losspbeincome taxes includes the following componéntthousands):

United States
Foreign
Total

The expense (benefit) for income taxes consisteefollowing (in thousands):

Federa
Current
Deferred
Total

State
Current
Deferred
Total

Foreign
Current
Deferred
Total

Total

Differences between the income tax expense com@itde statutory federal income tax rate and lpeicbnsolidated statements of income ar

summarized as follows (in thousands):

Tax expense at federal rate of 35%
State income taxes, net of federal ber
Change in valuation allowan:
Foreign tax rate differenti
Unrecognized tax benefit increase (decre
Effect of intellectual property transf
Tax effect of foreign operatior
Acquisition Cost:
Tax benefit of research & developm
Other

Income tax provisiol
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Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
$47.64(  $(4,197  $47,09¢

45,51¢ 69,46( 17,21
$93,15¢  $65,26¢  $64,31

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
$7,50¢  $1,23 $ 4,15
9,491 56 6,45¢
17,00 1,29z 10,60¢
2,49; 1,15 1,64¢
(1,687 (142) 621
80E 1,00¢ 2,27
9,71 9,25¢ 5,14¢
1,76¢ 4,86/ 43¢
11,48¢ 14,12; 5,58t
$29,29:  $16,42.  $18,46

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
$32,60¢  $22,84¢  $22,51(
67t 65¢E 1,47¢
(1,615) (2,680) 251
(4,650) (8,940) (1,572)
48¢ (1,66%) (1,887)
— — (2,100)
5,90¢ 5,311 372

89€ 2,65¢ —

(4,00) (1,749 —
(1,014 (13) (594)
$29,29°  $1642.  $18,46:




Table of Contents

The countries having the greatest impact on theagxadjustment line shown in the above tableFaseign tax rate differential” for the year
ended December 31, 2013, are Canada, Singaporth Sfrica, and United Kingdom. The countries havthg greatest impact on the tax rate
adjustment line shown in the above table as “For&g rate differential” for the years ended Decenfii, 2012 and 2011 are Canada, Irelanc
and United Kingdom.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities result fadifferences in the timing of the recognition ofteén income and expense items for tax and
financial accounting purposes. The sources of tH#sences at each balance sheet date are awfo(in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Deferred income tax asse
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 148,49¢ $ 99,02!
Foreign tax credit 27,24( 19,35¢
Compensatiol 24,90: 20,66¢
Deferred revenu 10,56+ 13,281
Tax basis in investmen 15,53¢ 17,72
Other 15,14 8,44¢
Gross deferred income tax ass 241,88! 178,49¢
Less: valuation allowanc (39,749 (37,94)
Net deferred income tax ass $ 202,13¢ $140,55!
Deferred income tax liabilitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic $(117,44) $(57,95)
Total deferred income tax liabilitie (117,444 (57,957
Net deferred income tax $ 84,69: $ 82,59¢
Deferred income taxes / liabilities included in tredance sheet ar
Deferred income tax as—current $ 47,59 $ 34,34
Deferred income tax as—noncurren 48,85: 63,37(
Deferred income tax liabili—current (759 (174
Deferred income tax liabili—noncurren (12,000 (14,940
Net deferred income tax $ 84,69: $ 82,59¢

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ss$be Company considers whether it is more likein not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The altenrealization of deferred tax assets is depengwori the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary diffees become deductible. The Company considersgeedjéuture taxable income, carryback
opportunities and tax planning strategies in makirig assessment. Based upon the level of histdeigable income and projections for future
taxable income over the periods which the defetagdassets are deductible, the Company believesribre likely than not that it will realize
the benefits of these deductible differences, htfi@valuation allowances recorded. During theryraled December 31, 2013, the Company
increased its valuation allowance by $1.8 millionieh relates primarily to tax attributes from acjtions.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had domestiog¢awperating losses (“NOLs") of $353.8 million whiwill begin to expire in 2017. The
Company had foreign tax NOLs of $76.8 million, dfieh $63.8 million may be utilized over an indefiniife, with the remainder expiring
over the next 10 years. The Company has providggl&million valuation allowance against the taréfi associated with the foreign NOLs.

The Company had U.S. foreign tax credit carryfodgaat December 31, 2013 of $24.2 million, for whéc$8.1 million valuation allowance
has been provided. The U.S. foreign tax creditblveigjin to expire in 2014. The Company also had ekiio general business credit
carryforwards at December 31, 2013 of $7.7 millielating to the pre-acquisition periods of acquicechpanies, which will begin to expire in
2020.

The unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 20@3ecember 31, 2012 was $15.0 million and $13lliomj respectively, all of which is
included in other noncurrent liabilities in the sofidated balance sheet. Of these amounts, $13i@mand $12.2 million, respectively,
represent the net unrecognized tax benefits thaacognized, would favorably impact the effectimeome tax rate in respective years.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaoaininrecognized tax benefits for the years endedember 31 is as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Balance of unrecognized tax benefits at beginningear $13,07¢ $ 4,012 $ 8,41«

Increases for tax positions of prior ye 1,56( 10,72¢ —
Decreases for tax positions of prior ye (327 4 (310
Increases for tax positions established for theetiiperioc 1,73¢ 49 75C
Decreases for settlements with taxing author (62) (27) (36)
Reductions resulting from lapse of applicable seati limitation (907) (1,699 (4,679
Adjustment resulting from foreign currency translai (93 17 (12¢)
Balance of unrecognized tax benefits at end of $14,99¢ $13,07¢ $ 4,012

The increases for tax positions of prior years2@t3 and 2012 in the above table include amouats &cquisitions completed during 2013
2012, respectively.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, various state and local jurgdins, and many foreign jurisdictions. The
U.S., Canada, India, Ireland, South Africa, andtéthKingdom are the main taxing jurisdictions inieththe Company operates. The years
open for audit vary depending on the tax jurisdictiln the U.S., the Company’s tax returns for gdalowing 2009 are open for audit. In the
foreign jurisdictions, the tax returns open for iagénerally vary by jurisdiction between 2006 &@d.3.

The Internal Revenue Service has begun an autlied€ompany’s calendar year 2010 and 2011 taxngtdithe Company does not expect any
adjustments from this audit that would have a nigteffect on the Company’s financial statementse Tompany’s Indian income tax returns
covering fiscal years 2002 through 2006 and 20fduih 2011 are under audit by the Indian tax aitthaddther foreign subsidiaries could fe
challenges from various foreign tax authoritiess hot certain that the local authorities will aptthe Company’s tax positions. The Company
believes its tax positions comply with applicatd® taw and intends to vigorously defend its poasioHowever, differing positions on certain
issues could be upheld by tax authorities, whiaidtadversely affect the Company’s financial coioditand results of operations.

The Company believes it is reasonably possibleti@total amount of unrecognized tax benefits déitrease within the next 12 months by
approximately $0.6 million due to the settlemenvafious audits and the expiration of statutesmoitations. The Company accrues interest
related to uncertain tax positions in interest @ggeor interest income and recognizes penaltiageeto uncertain tax positions in other ince
or other expense. As of December 31, 2013 and Deeef1, 2012, $2.3 million and $1.8 million, respesly is accrued for the payment of
interest and penalties related to income tax liddxsl The aggregate amount of interest and pesaléicorded in the statement of income for thi
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 20114:#iion, $(0.2) million, and $(0.5) million, rpsctively.

The undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreigbsidiaries of approximately $173.3 million aomsidered to be permanently reinvested.
Accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and statcome taxes or foreign withholding taxes hasi@evided for such undistributed
earnings. The determination of the additional BeBeral and state income taxes or foreign withimgdaxes that have not been provided is nc
practicable.

On January 2, 2013 the American Taxpayer Reliefoh@012 was enacted, which included retroactiwestatement of several tax laws to
January 1, 2012. The effects on the Company ogthetsoactive changes in the tax law related &afi2012 is $1.4 million, which was
recognized as a benefit to income tax expenseeifiigt quarter of fiscal 2013, the quarter in whibe law was enacted.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

In accordance with ASC 46Quarantees the Company recognizes the fair value for gu@@aand indemnification arrangements it issues or
modifies, if these arrangements are within the safithe interpretation. In addition, the Companystrcontinue to monitor the conditions that
are subject to the guarantees and indemnificaismequired under the previously existing genewatlyepted accounting principles, in order tc
identify if a loss has occurred. If the Companyedetines it is probable that a loss has occurredh #my such estimable loss would be
recognized under those guarantees and indemnificatUnder its customer agreements, the Companyagr@e to indemnify, defend and h
harmless its customers from and against certagefyglamages and costs arising from claims alldébatghe use of its software infringes the
intellectual property of a third-party. Historicglthe Company has not been required to pay méaseriaunts in connection with claims
asserted under these provisions and accordinglyCtmpany has not recorded a liability relatinguoh provisions.
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Under its customer agreements, the Company alsarepagsent and warrant to customers that its softwél operate substantially in
conformance with its documentation and that theises the Company performs will be performed inakmanlike manner, by personnel
reasonably qualified by experience and expertigeetiorm their assigned tasks. Historically, onlyimal costs have been incurred relating to
the satisfaction of warranty claims. In additiom time to time, the Company may guarantee thifopeance of a contract on behalf of one
more of its subsidiaries, or a subsidiary may gui@ethe performance of a contract on behalf oftersubsidiary.

Other guarantees include promises to indemnifyerttind hold harmless the Company’s executiveesfijairectors and certain other key
officers. The Company'’s certificate of incorporatiprovides that it will indemnify, and advance exges to, its directors and officers to the
maximum extent permitted by Delaware law. The indiication covers any expenses and liabilities osably incurred by a person, by rea:
of the fact that such person is or was or has dgiebe a director or officer, in connection witle tinvestigation, defense and settlement of an
threatened, pending or completed action, suit,geding or claim. The Company’s certificate of irmmation authorizes the use of
indemnification agreements and the Company eméossuch agreements with its directors and ced#ioers from time to time. These
indemnification agreements typically provide fdor@ader scope of the Company’s obligation to indénthe directors and officers than set
forth in the certificate of incorporation. The Coamy’s contractual indemnification obligations unttegse agreements are in addition to the
respective directors’ and officers’ rights under trertificate of incorporation or under Delawans.la

Operating Leases

The Company leases office space and equipment wpeeating leases that run through October 2028.|1&&ses that the Company has ent
into do not impose restrictions as to the Compaapitity to pay dividends or borrow funds, or otlese restrict the Company’s ability to
conduct business. On a limited basis, certain @lehse arrangements include escalation clause$ \whovide for rent adjustments due to
inflation changes with the expense recognized sinaaght-line basis over the term of the leaseskqayments subject to inflation adjustment:
do not represent a significant portion of the Conymfuture minimum lease payments. A number ofl#fases provide renewal options, but in
all cases such renewal options are at the eleofitthe Company. Certain of the lease agreementsdedhe Company with the option to
purchase the leased equipment at its fair markae\at the conclusion of the lease term.

Total operating lease expense for the years enéedrbber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $30.9 miia6,5 million, and $20.0 million,
respectively.

Aggregate minimum operating lease payments un@sethgreements in future fiscal years are as fel{@wthousands):

Operating

Fiscal Year Ending December 3: Leases
2014 $ 18,36(
2015 14,70(
2016 12,80¢
2017 9,257
2018 7,85¢
Thereaftel 33,74¢
Total minimum lease paymer $96,72¢

Capital Leases

The Company is nhot committed to material leasgwaperty under capital lease agreements at DeceBih@013.
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Legal Proceeding

From time to time, the Company is involved in vasditigation matters arising in the ordinary cauds its business. The Company is not
currently a party to any legal proceedings, theeask outcome of which, individually or in the aggate, the Company believes would be lik
to have a material effect on the Company’s findrat@ements.

Indemnities

Under certain customer contracts acquired in tiggiaition of S1, the Company indemnifies custonfersertain matters including third party
claims of intellectual property infringement refagito the use of our products. Our maximum potéakposure under indemnification
arrangements can range from a specified dollar atrtouan unlimited amount, depending on the nadfitbe transactions and the agreements
The Company has recorded an accrual for estimatseg$ for demands for indemnification that haven lbeedered by certain customers. The
Company does not have any reason to believe thatilvlee required to make any material paymentsasridese indemnity provisions in
excess of the balance accrued at December 31, 2013.
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share amount
Revenues:
License
Maintenance
Services
Hosting
Total revenues

Operating expenses
Cost of license (1
Cost of maintenance, services and hosting
Research and developmt
Selling and marketin
General and administrati
Depreciation and amortizatic

Total operating expense:
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense)
Interest expens
Interest incom
Other, ne

Total other income (expense
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (bene!

Net income (loss

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic (2)
Diluted (2)

Quarter Ended Year Ended
March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 December 31
2013 2013 2013 2013 2013
$ 41,35¢ $ 53,71« $ 56,23¢ $ 82,62¢ $ 233,93
58,63¢ 57,83( 60,457 69,03: 245,95.
23,92¢ 26,96¢ 30,24( 40,95: 122,08!
38,07¢ 67,32: 67,00¢ 90,55- 262,95¢
161,99 205,83( 213,93¢ 283,16. 864,92¢
5,91¢ 6,16¢ 5,88¢ 7,34¢ 25,32«
61,87: 82,57 80,94¢ 93,12 318,51!
37,14¢ 38,39 33,64 33,37t 142,55
25,07« 27,53¢ 24,09¢ 23,11¢ 99,82¢
25,031 26,147 24 55¢ 23,551 99,30(
10,95] 13,49( 15,24¢ 16,66( 56,35¢
166,00¢ 194,30¢ 184,38« 197,18. 741,88
(4,009 11,52 29,55¢ 85,98( 123,04
(3,897) (6,059 (7,459 (9,819 (27,227
131 211 15¢ 15¢ 65¢
3,16t (1,519 (3,157) (1,82)) (3,32))
(601) (7,36)) (10,446 (11,487 (29,889
(4,610 4,161 19,10¢ 74,49¢ 93,15¢
(2,449 2,28( 5,34 24,10¢ 29,29:
$ (2,166)0 $ 1,881 $ 13,76 $ 50,39 $ 63,86¢
$ (009 $ 005 $ 03  $ 13C  $ 1.67
$ (0.0 $ 005 $ 0.3 3 126 $ 1.6(

(1) The cost of software license fees excludesggsafor depreciation but includes amortizationuwichased and developed software for
resale. The cost of maintenance, services andnigoistes excludes charges for depreciat
(2) The sum of the earnings per share by quartes dot agree to the earnings per share for theeygkad December 31, 2013 due to

rounding.
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(in thousands, except per share amou
Revenues:
License
Maintenance
Services
Hosting
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Cost of license (1
Cost of maintenance, services and hostin¢
Research and developmt
Selling and marketin
General and administrati
Depreciation and amortizatic
Total operating expense:
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense)
Interest expens
Interest incomt
Other, ne
Total other income (expense
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (bene!

Net income (loss

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic (2)
Diluted (2)

Quarter Ended Year Ended
March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 December 31
2012 2012 2012 2012 2012
$ 50,91( $ 36,64 $ 39,56( $ 94,73 $ 221,84t
43,73¢ 49,35¢ 47,92( 58,86: 199,87t
22,85: 33,88¢ 35,81 38,98t 131,53t
20,12¢ 29,90¢ 31,77 31,51, 113,32:
137,62! 149,79° 155,06: 224,09! 666,57
4,93: 5,81¢ 5,87¢ 6,96¢ 23,59:
40,89: 55,71t 51,944 53,50: 202,05:
30,93: 35,02% 34,218 33,58¢ 133,75¢
20,69¢ 23,17¢ 20,44¢ 22,73( 87,05«
34,36: 28,23¢ 24,53 21,61¢ 108,74
7,422 9,681 9,74: 10,15¢ 37,00:
139,23t 157,65! 146,75 148,56( 592,20°
(1,619 (7,85¢) 8,30¢ 75,53t 74,37
(1,89)) (2,875) (2,620) (3,03)) (10,41))
24¢ 234 222 20¢ 914
87¢ (347) (1,430 1,29¢ 39¢
(764) (2,98¢) (3,826) (1,529 (9,109
(2,377) (10,846 4,48( 74,01 65,26¢
(55E) (6,195 (1,175 24,34’ 16,42:
$ (1,820 $ (465) $ 5655 $ 4966: $  48,84¢
$ (009 $ (012 $ 014 $ 126 $  1.2¢
$ (005 $ (01 ¢ 0.14 $ 1.24 $ 1.22

(1) The cost of software license fees excludesggsafor depreciation but includes amortizationwichased and developed software for
resale. The cost of maintenance, services andnigoigtes excludes charges for depreciat
(2) The sum of the earnings per share by quartes dot agree to the earnings per share for theeyslad December 31, 2012 due to

rounding.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

ACI WORLDWIDE, INC.
(Registrant

Date: February 28, 2014 By: /s/ PHILIP G. HEASLEY

Philip G. Heasle!
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datéisated.

Name Title Date
/ s/ PHILIP G. HEASLEY President, Chief Executive Officer February 28, 2014
Philip G. Heasle! and Director
(principal executive officel
/ s/ SCOTT W. BEHRENS Senior Executive Vice President, February 28, 2014
Scott W. Behrens Chief Financial Officer and Chief

Accounting Officer
(principal financial officer)

/ s/ HARLAN F. SEYMOUR Chairman of the Board February 28, 2014
Harlan F. Seymot and Director
/ s/ JAN H. SUWINSKI Director February 28, 2014
Jan H. Suwinsk
/ s/ JOHN D. CURTIS Director February 28, 2014
John D. Curtis
/ s/ JOHN M. SHAY JR Director February 28, 2014

John M. Shay Ji

/ s/ JAMES C. MCGRODDY Director February 28, 2014
James C. McGrodd

/ s/ JOHN E. STOKELY Director February 28, 2014
John E. Stokel
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Description
2.01 (1) Transaction Agreement by and among ACI Worldwide, | Antelope Acquisition Co., LLC and S1 Corparat
2.02 (2) Transaction Agreement, dated January 30, 2013ntyamong ACI Worldwide, Inc., Ocelot Acquisition poand
Online Resources Corporatic
2.03 (3) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September®3,2y and among ACI Worldwide, Inc., Olympic Adsjtion
Corp. and Official Payments Holdings, It
3.01 (4) 2013 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpmmaif the Compan
3.02 (5) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Comg
4.01 (6) Form of Common Stock Certifica
4.02 (7) Indenture, dated as of August 20, 2013, among tbeVorldwide, Inc., the guarantors listed thergind Wilmingtor
Trust, National Association, as trus
4.03 Form of 6.375% Senior Notes due 2020 (includedxdstit A to Exhibit 4.02)
10.01 (8)* Stock and Warrant Holders Agreement, dated as oééer 30, 199
10.02 (9)* ACI Holding, Inc. 1994 Stock Option Plan, as ameh
10.03 (10) Transaction Systems Architects, Inc. 1996 Stockdd@®lan, as amendt
10.04 (11) ACI Worldwide, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan, as acheat
10.05 (12) ACI Worldwide, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock PurchasenPhs amende
10.06 (13) Transaction Systems Architects, Inc. 2002 -Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as amer
10.07 (14) ACI Worldwide, Inc. 2005 Equity and Performancedntive Plan, as amend
10.08 (15) Form of Severance Compensation Agreement (Chan@aintrol) between the Company and certain officers,
including executive officer
10.09 (16) Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Conypand certain officers, including executive offie
10.10 (17) Form of Stock Option Agreement for the Comg’'s 1994 Stock Option Ple
10.11 (18) Form of Stock Option Agreement for the Comg’s 1996 Stock Option Ple
10.12 (19) Form of Stock Option Agreement for the Comg’s 1999 Stock Option Ple
10.13 (20) Form of Stock Option Agreement for the Comg’s 2002 No-Employee Director Pla
10.14 (21) Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement — Nomyifoyee Director for the Company’s 2005 Equity and
Performance Incentive Plan, as amen
10.15 (22) Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement — Enygle for the Company’s 2005 Equity and Performance
Incentive Plan, as amend
10.16 (23) Form of LTIP Performance Shares Agreement for thmgany’s 2005 Equity and Performance Incentive Rian
amendec
10.17 (24) 9&%nded and Restated Employment Agreement by ameeba the Company and Philip G. Heasley, datedaisriy
10.18 (25) Stock Option Agreement by and between the CompadyPhilip G. Heasley, dated March 9, 2(
10.19 (26) Executive Management Incentive Compensation
10.20 (27) ACI Worldwide, Inc. 2013 Executive Management InéenCompensation Ple
10.21 (28) Form of Change-in-Control Employment Agreement leswthe Company and certain officers, includingcatiee
officers
10.22 (29) Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for thenBany’s 2005 Equity and Performance Incentive Pdan,
amende
10.23 (30) Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation
10.24 (31) Credit Agreement, dated November 10, 2011, by amohg ACl Worldwide, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.chthe

lenders that are party there



10.25 (32)

10.26 (33)

10.27 (34)

21.01

First Amendment and Consent and Waiver No. 3 taiCAgreement, dated September 11, 2012, by andhgrA€lI
Worldwide, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors ther@ells Fargo Bank, National Association and thesotenders par
thereto

Incremental Term Loan Agreement, dated March 7328% and among ACI Worldwide, Inc., Wells FargonBa
National Association, as Administrative Agent, dhd lenders that are party ther

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Aug0s2013, by and among ACI Worldwide, Inc., thesidiary
guarantors thereto, Wells Fargo Bank, National Aisgimn, as administrative agent, and the lendetdre party
thereto

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herew
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23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing (filed herewith—Deloitte & Touche LLF
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$.E.C. Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to $e8id of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewitt

31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $.E.C. Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to $€&fid of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewitt

32.01** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiio8e906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewit

32.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioB8e906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewit

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbz
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)

(18)

(19)
(20)

(21)

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.theregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed October 3, 2011

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.thregistrar' s current report on Forn-K filed January 30, 201«

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.thregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed September 23, 201

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.thregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed June 13, 201

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.0th®registrar' s current report on Forn-K filed December 18, 200!

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.0th®registrar s Registration Statement No.-88292 on Form -1.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.thregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed August 20, 2013

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.¢hregistrar s Registration Statement No.-88292 on Form -1.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.th®registrar s quarterly report on Form -Q for the period ended March 31, 20
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thregistrar s quarterly report on Form -Q for the period ended March 31, 20
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.theregistrar s quarterly report on Form -Q for the period ended March 31, 20
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhilit . the registrant’'s Post-Effective Amendment Rito Registration Statement No. 333-
113550 on Form -8 filed June 11, 200¢

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.th®registrar' s quarterly report on Form -Q for the period ended March 31, 20
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.fthregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed June 19, 201z

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.¢hregistrar s annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d.€he registrars annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl8do the registrant’s annual report on Form 1fkthe fiscal year ended September 30,
2004.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl®o the registrant’s annual report on Form 1fkthe fiscal year ended September 30,
2004.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thregistrar's quarterly report on Form -Q for the period ended June 30, 20
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi2Bo the registrant’s annual report on Form 1fikthe fiscal year ended September 30,
2004.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d.#e registrars annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C
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(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)

(27)

(28)
(29)
(30)

(31)
(32)
(33)
(34)

**

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d.&e registrar's annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.fth®registrar' s current report on Forn-K filed December 16, 200!

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.th®registrar s current report on Forn-K filed on January 7, 200

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed on March 10, 200t

Incorporated herein by reference to Annex ghregistrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Aadrieeting (File No. 000-25346) filed
on April 21, 2008

Incorporated herein by reference to Annex ghregistrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2013 Aadrieeting (File No. 000-25346) filed
on April 29, 2013

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 106 rigistrar's current report on Forn-K filed January 7, 200¢

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@2¢&he registrar's annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhil8tté.the registrant's Registration Statement N&-889293 on Form S-8 filed September 9,
2010

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.fthregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed November 14, 201:

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.fthregistrar's current report on Forn-K filed September 17, 201

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.th®registrar's current report on Forn-K filed March 11, 2013

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.th®registrar' s current report on Forn-K filed August 20, 2013

Denotes exhibit that constitutes a managementacnior compensatory plan or arrangem

This certification is not deemed “filed” for purpes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange At984, or otherwise subject to the
liability of that section. Such certification willot be deemed to be incorporated by referenceaimydiling under the Securities Act of
1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, extefite extent that the Company specifically incogpes it by referenc:
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Exhibit 21.01
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of subsidiaries of ACl Wduide, Inc., omitting subsidiaries which, considkene the aggregate as a single subsidiary,
would not constitute a significant subsidiary a®etember 31, 2013

ACI Australia Pty. Ltd Australia

ACI Worldwide (Pacific) Pty. Ltd Australia

Distra Pty. Ltd Australia

ACI Worldwide (Canada), Inc Canade

ACI Worldwide Colombia S.A.<S Colombia
Online Resources Corporati Delaware
Official Payments Holdings, In Delaware
Official Payments Corporatic Delaware

ACI Worldwide (eps) AC Germany

ACI Worldwide Solutions Private Limite India

Applied Communications GPC Limite Ireland

Applied Communications (Ireland) Limite Ireland

ACI Worldwide (Italia) S.R.L Italy

ACI Worldwide Corp. Nebraske

ACI Worldwide B.V. Netherlands
ACI Worldwide (Asia) Pte. Ltd Singapore

ACI Worldwide (South Africa) (Pty.) Ltc South Africa
ACI Worldwide Cornastone (Proprietary) Li South Africa
PM Systems Corporatic South Carolin:
ACI Global Limited United Kingdom
Applied Communications Inc. U.K. Holding Limite United Kingdom
ACI Worldwide (EMEA) Limited United Kingdom

S1 International IP Holding Limite United Kingdom



Exhibit 23.01
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegjion Statement Nos. 333-123263, 333-113558;8824, 333-88020, 333-59630, 333-
59632, 333-33728, 333-73027, 333-93900, 333-2583,1316794, 333-169293, and 333-182584 on Form Be8roreports dated February 28,
2014, relating to the consolidated financial staeta of ACI Worldwide, Inc. and subsidiaries (“A®orldwide, Inc.”) as of December 31,
2013 and 2012 and for each of the three yearsipd¢hiod ended December 31, 2013, and the effeetsseof ACI Worldwide Inc.’s internal

control over financial reporting as of December3113, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 16fIiACI Worldwide, Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLF

Omaha, Nebraska
February 28, 2014



Exhibit 31.01
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Philip G. Heasley, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKACIl Worldwide, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadrig that has materially affected, or is reasopndikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal twhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014 /s/ PHILIP G. HEASLEY
Philip G. Heasle)
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director




Exhibit 31.02
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Scott W. Behrens, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKACIl Worldwide, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadrig that has materially affected, or is reasopndikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal twhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014 /s/ SCOTT W. BEHREN!
Scott W. Behren
Senior Executive Vice President, Chief Financidic@f and Chief
Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of ACI Worldiej Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fisgaar ended December 31, 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioithe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Philip G. Hegs Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01.2% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002, that to my

knowledge:
1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftctions 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchakgieof 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 28, 2014 /s/ PHILIP G. HEASLEY
Philip G. Heasle)
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director




Exhibit 32.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of ACI Worldiej Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fisgaar ended December 31, 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Scott W. Betw€hief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01.2% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002, that to my

knowledge:
1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftctions 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchakgieof 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 28, 2014 /s/ SCOTT W. BEHREN!
Scott W. Behren
Senior Executive Vice President, Chief Financidic@f and Chief
Accounting Office




